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PREFACE. \

IT has been often said (and from my present experience I believe
with the greatest truth) that a Preface is the most difficult part
of a book to write; that it must either consist of an imprudent
defiance of public criticism, or a laboured apology for defects
which more care in the author might have avoided. In addi-
tion to which, in the present case, I feel that I have little or
nothing to say; and had it not been for the intimation of the
publishers that I was expected to find a couple of pages of
Preface, I should not have attempted anything of the kind, find-
ing myself in the position of a person who has to make bricks
without not only straw but clay.

As to criticism, so far from deprecating it, I hope it may be
as severe as possible; for the only aim and use of an Archzo-
logical treatise is to arrive at exact historical truth; and there-
fore an author of such a work is always indebted to every one
who will point out to him any errors into which he has fallen.

As to errors in the execution, I am quite aware that they must
be numerous, in a work attempting to embody so many facts
and details. As to them, I must also permit myself to drop into
the beaten course of Preface, and plead in extenuation that the
task of writing the ancient history of the Upper Ward of Lanark-
shire devolved upon me most unexpectedly, and so suddenly, that
in writing the accounts of the parishes which appear among the
first, I had not been able to fix upon a definite plan of treating
them. The history of these parishes is therefore much less
complete than that of those which have been dealt with sub-
sequently. A strong example of this occurs in the Parish of
Crawford, where the history of the Earls of Crawford and Lind-
say is hardly touched upon; but this is less to be regretted, as
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the exhaustive account of that family by their descendant, Lord
Lindsay, is in the hands of every one.

The first point which I had to determine when I really knew
the scope of the work before me, was the line of demarcation
between the ancient and modern history of the Upper Ward;
and this I at once saw could only be the union of the two king-
doms. To this I have, in consequence, adhered, except in the
few cases where families distinguished before that date have been
continued by persons of eminence. The same line also fixed
the families to be mentioned as those, notices of which occur in
the records of the Parliament of Scotland.

Having often felt the uncertainty which has resulted from
historical writers giving their views without a clear reference
to the authorities on which they are founded, I have made it
a rule to append to every statement the source from which it
is derived, so that however any one may differ from the deduc-
tions I draw from these facts, there can be no doubt about the
ground on which I found my conclusions; and to use the words
of Macaulay—

* . . . Itstands unto this day
To witness if I lie.”

To thank my friends in the Upper Ward who have given me
all the information in their power, would be endless. I may,
however, particularly mention Messrs J. B. Greenshields, yr. of
Kerse, and Adam Sim of Culter. To Messrs Seyer Cuming,
Planché, and Roberts, the Secretaries of the British Archseo-
logical Association, my thanks are more particularly due, for
the assistance they have given me in determining points in
the departments of antiquities to which their attention has been
particularly directed, and in which their authority is so great.

I have also to thank the Rev. C. H. Hartshorne for the kind
manner in which he has communicated to me information from
the unpublished portion of his itinerary of Edward I.

GEORGE VERE IRVING.

LoNDoN, 11th April, 1864.



PREFACE.

Hap the late Duke of Hamilton lived one year longer, this
Work would have been dedicated to him, as a liberal patron
of literature, a large landholder in the Upper Ward, Lord-
Lieutenant of the County, and Lieut.-Col commanding the
Regiment of Lanarkshire Yeomanry; G. V. Irving, Captain of
the Carnwath troop, having made the proper arrangements.

The task of attempting to “describe and delineate the Upper
Ward of Lanarkshire” was begun by advice of Adam Sim of
Coulter-Maynes, Esq.; and, but for the faith he has persistently
expressed that the book would prove acceptable to the reading
public, it might not have been completed.

George Vere Irving of Newton, Esq., was early enlisted as a
colaborateur, stipulating that whatever he wrote should be
printed, and that without comment or curtailment.

The topographic and statistic sections were undertaken by
the subscriber; and, such shortcomings as may be found in them,
he has alone to answer for, as neither page, nor plan of the
Work has been seen by any second party.

Having spent some of the earlier years of his life in the
Upper Ward, the subscriber found many friends there when he
went to gather in information on the district; and acknowledg-
ment of such attention will be found in text of the Work.

A single volume was contemplated, but the valuable contri-
butions of Mr Irving were so large that the subscriber was
constrained to proportionately add to the size of the Work.
The impression is a small one; the illustrations are profuse,
original, and make the book high-priced.

To render the Maps more pictorial, heraldic shields were
introduced ; but—simply as literary information, and obtained at
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considerable cost. An Index, distinct and full, is given for each
section of the Work in the closing volurae; into which are
thrown the statistical tables, references to which pervade the
topographic pages of the book.

An endeavour has been made, and with diffidence, to gather
in the figures that strengthen the facts affirmed as to the past
and present condition of the Upper Ward of Lanarkshire; and
they are grouped and tabulated in such form as may prove
alike instructive and suggestive.

The Coulter-Maynes Plates were drawn in London, at expense
of Mr Sim, by J. R. Jobbins, lithographer to the British Archao-
logical Society, and under supervision of G. V. Irving. ‘

The Views were taken for this Work by J. J. Mwrray, late of
Glespin, Crawfordjohn ; and have been lithographed, in his best
style, by W. H. Macfarlane, Edinburgh. The Maps were reduced,
by photographic process, from Forrest; have been corrected from
Survey sheets, verified by valuation roll entries, and engraved on
copper by J. Bower—each item being heedfully looked to by
the subscriber.

My hands have been otherwise full of occupation, and I have
had so little of literary experience, that it may have been unwise
to have undertaken labour so heavy; but the time has been
expended, and those most competent to judge may be the most
generous to admit that this work has been faithfully done by the
subscriber,

ALEX. MURRAY.

Grasaow, SOth April, 1864.
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Quoting the figures given by the Valuation Roll of 1858-9, the distri-
bution of property, as owned or oocupied in the Upper Ward, will be
found noted in a series of tabular pages in Volume Third, each entry
having a number, which is engraved on the Maps. For example, on
Crawford, at Newton, Geo. Vere Irving is found as 256 on the Map 256;
and on Crawfordjohn, at Birkcleugh, 256 may be seen noting that farm
as on the Newton estate; while by reference to the Index, the name of
tenant, and rating of farm, can be ascertained.
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UPPER WARD OF LANARKSHIRE.

PRE-PAROCHIAL HISTORY.

WHEN the dawn of authentic record first sheds a faint light on
the history of that northern portion of Great Britain which,
under the political divisions of more modern times became the
kingdom of Scotland, we find the Upper Ward of Lanarkshire
occupied by the powerful Celtic tribe of the Damnii, the terri-
tories of which included not only the rest of the county, but
those of Renfrew and Stirling, with a large portion of Ayrshire.
To prevent any misconception, we may point out that we here
use the word “county” in a general sense, and with no inten-
tion of asserting that the limits of the ancient Damnii were
identical with the existing boundaries of our shires. On the
contrary, it appears from the position of the Devil’s Dyke in
Nithsdale, and other indications, that on the side of the Upper
Ward the Damnii possessed the whole hill district which gives
rise to the Clyde, Tweed, and Annan, down to the verge of the
plain, and probably even occupied a portion of the flat country
in the valley of the last-named river. We are, however, left very
much in the dark as to the extent of Damnian civilisation at
this period. Our only gnides are the classical authors and the
vestiges of this epoch, which may be still traced among our hills
and valleys. The notices of the classical authors do not directly
refer to this district, and it is only by the light they throw on
the remains referred to that they can in any way assist us. Of
. A
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the military entrenchments of this era, the Upper Ward contains
some very beautiful examples. Curiously enough, they present
instances of all the types of ancient British fortification recorded
by the classical writers, viz.;:—1st, The spot of firm ground
surrounded by a morass with a narrow entrance defended by
abbattis, as described by Cmsar; 2d, The slight earthwork
surmounted by a hedge, which Tacitus assigns to the Celtic tribes
of the east of England; and, 8d, the stone forts which the
same author mentions as forming formidable obstacles to the
progress of the Roman arms in the western counties. We also
find in the Upper Ward several specimens of those megalithic
monuments which, combined in circles and avenues, or standing
alone, are invariably met with in those districts which have
been occupied by a Celtic population. It seems, however, to be
almost impossible to ascertain, even in the way of approximation,
the date and purpose of these erections. Traces of the habits of
the ancient inhabitants are also furnished by the discovery of
stone axes, bronze celts, hand-mills, or querns and rude urns,
the latter, however, being exclusively of a sepulchral character.
In AD. 80, the distinguished Roman general, Agricola, having
succeeded in reducing the southern part of the island under the
imperial rule, invaded Scotland at the head of a force consisting
of three legions, which he appears to have divided into two if
not three separate columns. One of these starting from Carlisle
ascended the Annan, crossed from the head waters of that
stream to those of the Clyde, and then followed the course of
that river. Another leaving Northumberland by the valleys of
the Reed and the Coquet, descended the Kale till its junction
with the Tweed, ascended the latter and its tributary the Lyne,
from which it crossed into Clydesdale, and effected a junction
with the first column either at Carstairs or at Cleghorn. The
third division probably proceeded by the line of the east coast,
but its route has never been precisely traced. Having succeeded
in overrunning the Scottish Lowlands, Agricola employed the
succeeding year in securing his conquest, by the construction of
a wall between the Firth of Forth and the Clyde. This divided
the territories of the Damnii, the principal portion becoming
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subject to the Romans, while the more northern parts retained
their independence. It would, however, appear that the imperial
forces did not long retain these northern conquests. In A.D.
121 Hadrian commenced the southern wall between Carlisle
and Newcastle. * Antoninus, about 140, again advanced the
frontier of the empire to the northern wall. In 210 Severus a
second time withdrew it to the south; while there is evidence
that Theodosius, a general of Valentinian I, again recovered the
country between the walls, AD. 867. In 409 the Romans
withdrew their legions from Britain, and abandoned that pro-
vince to the government of its inhabitants. It has been generally
supposed that this flux and reflux of the northern boundary of
the Roman possessions in Britain was occasioned by the varying
strength of their forces in the island dependent on the greater
or less demand for these troops in the central parts of the
empire. Recent investigations, however, suggest that this cir-
cumstance alone cannot furnish a satisfactory solution. There
can be no doubt that from its natural features and admirable
stratagetic facilities the northern wall could be defended by a
smaller force than the southern one. The diminution of the
legions could not therefore have been a sufficient ground for the
Romans abandoning the former line of defence, and along with
it above eighty miles of territory; but a ready explanation
of the expediency of this step is furnished by the fact, that the
Celtic tribes between the walls were mnever completely sub-
dued, but were always ready to assist their more northern
brethren by insurrections, which menaced the Roman com-
munications; and these rebellions would naturally coincide
with any decrease occurring in the strength of the force belong-
ing to the dominant nation. That these tribes maintained this
state of turbulent semi-independence seems also to be proved
by the character of the Roman locations throughout the district.
Scientific archaologists now divide the Roman occupation of
Britain into four distinct periods: 1st, That in which they
appear as an invading army in a hostile county, fortifying, as
was their custom, their successive encampments; 2d, That in
which, having overrun a district, they proceeded to secure their
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conquest by the formation of roads and the erection of praesidia
or castella. These, although of smaller size, are generally more
elaborately fortified than the expeditionary camps, but are like
them of an exclusively military character; 3d, When the country
became more settled, towns sprang up, occupied in some cases
by a mixed civil and military population, and in others, by the
former class alone, but still protected by fortifications; and
4th, That state of established tranquillity which permitted the
erection of undefended hamlets and detached villas. The
Roman remains found in the Upper Ward of Lanarkshire,
and, indeed, generally through the south of Scotland, belong
exclusively to the two former of these periods, and indicate that
the Celtic tribes had never been so thoroughly reduced as to
allow the conquerors to attempt constructions of the latter
classes. In addition to the fortifications here referred to, other
indications of the presence of the Romans in the Upper Ward
are furnished by their roads, and by the discovery of many
articles of their manufacture, such as coins, bronze vessels, ete.
Among these, it is singular that not one single example of a
votive altar has been found, although these interesting objects
have been met with in considerable nimbers both in Dumfries-
shire, and in the vicinity of the northern wall. This may perhaps
arise from the geological structure of the greater part of the
district, which would not afford a stone suitable for the purpose,
and this conjecture is rendered more probable by the fact, that
reliques of this class have never been discovered in the flint
district of Norfolk, while in the oolite region of Bath they are
remarkably abundant.

On the withdrawal of the Roman legions the northern tribes
broke through the Northumberland wall, and harassed by pre-
datory forays the more civilised tribes of the south. Formerly,
the credit of these attacks was exclusively assigned to the Scots
and Picts, but more accurate modern researches have estab-
lished that the Damnii and the other intramural tribes formed
no inconsiderable portion of the forces of the confederation by
which they were conducted The southern Britons having
petitioned the Imperial Court, & legion was despatched to their
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assistance, which succeeded in repelling the invaders, and in
426 rebuilt the wall, but was immediately afterwards withdrawn.
The respite thus obtained was, however, short, for the northern
tribes successfully renewed their excursions on the disappearance
of the Roman army. So vexatious were their assaunlts that the
southern septs called in the assistance of the Saxons. Although
these warlike barbarians curbed the northern invaders, they
soon realised the old fable of the man, the horse, and the stag,
by endeavouring to possess themselves of the country they came
to defend.  This attempt was first made in the south of England,
where they established themselves after a severe contest. Their
success instigated their kindred tribes in Germany to similar
undertakings. Among the adventurers who headed expeditions
of this nature was Ida, a chief of the Angles, and a descendant
of Woden, who in 547 founded the Saxon kingdom of North-
umberland. At this period, with one or two important excep-
tions, we find the Celtic tribes of the Scottish Lowlands to be
almost identical with those described by Ptolemy. Among
these exceptions, however, not the least important is the amal-
gamation of the Damnii with the Gadeni who occupied Dum-
bartonshire, the combined’ tribes being designated as the men
of Strathclyde, and of Levenax or Lennox. The latter name
indeed appears to have been applied to their united terri-
tories down to a comparatively recent period, for there is extant
an inquisition held in 1259 at Dumbarton, which, under the
title of Alclyd, seems to have been the capital of the com-
bined septs, where among the “honest men of Levenax,” who
formed the jury, are enumerated the proprietors of the following
lands in the Upper Ward of Lanarkshire: Lesmahagow, Roberton,
Wiston, Thankerton, and Carmichael. In the time of Ida, this
confederation appears to have been under the rule of Morkern,
a savage and tyrannical prince, who ignominiously expelled
from his dominions St Kentigern, better known as St Mungo.
He was, however, soon succeeded by Roderick, surnamed Hoel,
or the Bountiful, who recalled the saint and founded the See
of Glasgow. In consequence of the increasing power of the
Saxons of Northumberland, a formidable league was formed,
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circa 575-80, to resist their encroachments. It combined the
intramural tribes and the Scots under their most powerful
king, Aidan MacGauran. In all the battles which occurred in
the succeeding quarter of a century, during which this contest
lasted, Roderick, with his son Constantine, and their followers,
appear to have eminently distinguished themselves. At last
the strength of the confederation was broken in the year
603, by the great victory gained over their forces by the
army of Ethelfrid of Northumberland, at Easington, near Bam-
borough. The result of this defeat was the dissolution of
the league, a measure probably accelerated by the sapposition
entertained by the Celtic tribes, that Aidan had contrived that
one of their favourite chiefs, Urien of Reghed, should be
assassinated during the battle. Roderick died in 608, and was
succeeded by his son Constantine, who (as Joceline in his
Life of St Kentigern informs us) acquired a supremacy over
all the neighbouring tribes. A truce, however, appears to
have existed between the kingdom of Strathclyde and the
Saxons until the accession of Oswi to the throne of Nor-
thumberland in 641. This prince, during the troubles which
convulsed the family on the death of his father Ethelfrid, sought
refuge with the Scots and Picts. Among the former he was
instructed, along with his elder brother St Oswald, in the
doctrines of Christianity, and espoused the daughter of the
sovereign of the last-named tribe. When Oswi succeeded, he
found the Strathclyde Britons under Owen, the son or grandson
of Constantine, carrying on a harassing warfare against the
Scots, and he lost no time in coming to the assistance of his
friends. Then commenced the last and decisive struggle of
Kaltraez, which has been so powerfully described by Aneurin,
the great contemporary Celtic poet of Lanarkshire, who himself
took a prominent part in the contest. This endured for no less
than seven years. At first the Strathclyde Britons and their
‘allies appear to have been eminently successful in their resistance
to the combined forces of the Saxons, Picts, and Scots. In one
of the engagements, Domnal, the Spotted, king of the latter sept,
was killed. In another fell Bebba, a British princess, probably
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the mother of Oswi, and certainly the second wife and widow of
his father, who amazon-like had braved the perils of the actual
battle In the last year of this war there, however, appeared a
most formidable ally on the Saxon side, viz, their compatriot
Penda, the powerful but savage king of Mercia, whose troops are
well described by the poet as the “Pagan followers of a miscreant
greedy of plunder.” Against such accumulated odds it was im-
possible for the men of Strathclyde any longer to make head.
Their capital was stormed, and its plunder given up to gratify the
propensities of Penda; and no small booty it must have proved,
as we may infer from the statements of Aneurin, that one of the
nobles of his tribe had given much gold to the altar, and that
in one battle there fell three hundred chiefs, each adorned with a
torque of the same precious metal. The whole kingdom became
at the same time tributary to the Saxons of Northumberland,
which it remained until 685, when Egfrid, the son of Oswi,
having quarrelled with his uncle, Brudei, King of the Picts, the
latter invaded his dominions, and appropriated that portion of
them which is included in modern Seotland. From this period
Strathclyde ceased to have a separate existence, and followed
the fortunes of the Pictish nation until their amalgamation with
the Scots, when it became an important portion of the kingdom
of Scotland. The effect of the disastrous campaign of Kaltraez
was not, however, confined to an alteration in the sovereignty
of the district, but extended to an almost total change in the
race of its inhabitants. Those of Celtic origin seem to have, in
8 great measure, emigrated and sought refuge among the kin-
dred tribes of Wales, taking with them their historic records,
which fortunately were preserved in their new home, and have,
after a lapse of centuries, been again recovered by the diligence
of modern archaeologists within the last decade. 'We learn from
the well-known inquisition into the possessions of the See of
Qlasgow, appointed in 1118 by King David, then Prince of
Cumberland, that the place of these emigrants was supplied by
the influx of “ divers tribes of divers nations from divers parts.”
As, however, Providence in its inscrutable wisdom invariably
produces ultimate good from a present apparent evil, we may
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perhaps safely ascribe to this mixture of races the tall and
stalwart forms for which the inhabitants of the Upper Ward
are so remarkable in our own day.

In proceeding to enumerate in detail the remains of these
several epochs which have been found in the Upper Ward of
Lanarkshire, the most convenient plan will be to follow the
course of the great Roman roads which traverse the district,
and describe the various objects as they succeed one another on
these lines, without reference to the particular era to which they
may be assigned—a point often one of extreme difficulty.

The most important of these roads is that which constitutes
the IX. Iter of Richard of Cirencester. Starting from Luguba-
lium or Carlisle, it passes Birrenswerk Hill (Trimontium.) At
Dryfe Church it throws off a branch to the left, after which it
proceeds to Tatius Holm (Gadenica), on the right bank of the
Annan, a little below Moffat. Emerging from this, it crosses
the tributary stream of the Evan, and bending sharply to the
left, proceeds along the heights on its left bank. Passing
through an extensive cemetery apparently Roman, it crosses the
modern boundary of the County of Lanark, and soon after
passes from the upper part of the Evan to that of Clydesburn,
a feeder of the Clyde. At this point we encounter the first of the
Upper Ward camps (No. 1*)* which was only discovered in the
autumn of 1858. It surrounds the farm-house of Little Clyde,
and is of a rectangular form, except in one corner, where its
rampart appears to have followed the course of the stream. Its
dimensions are nearly 500 yards by 300. From these, and the
character of its rampart, there can be little doubt that it is one
of the temporary camps of the legion which formed the western
column of Agricola’s army. An iron sword was found near the
farm-house, but having been stolen, it is impossible to determine
its date. A stone cairn was some years ago removed on Willie-
mont Hill in this vicinity, when a remarkable cist was dis-
covered, from which a drain had been formed to remove any
water that might enter. In this were found two urns—one
about fifteen inches high, containing human bones, and another

* The numerals refer to the position of the fortifications, as shown on Plate I.
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apparently a drinking cup, of the height of four inches. Having
been coated with a lead glaze, they must be ascribed to a late
period. 'With them was found an iron horse-shoe about 7
inches long, and 6 wide, pierced with six nail holes. Unfor-
tunately, all these articles have been lost. From Little Clyde
the Iter follows the course of Clydesburn, till it reaches Bods-
berry Hill, which it ascends. This hill forms the last of the
range which here abut on the valley of the Clyde, and is cut off
from the others by a precipitous ravine. Its top formsa plateau
of about 200 feet in diameter, which is occupied by a Roman
castellum (No. 1. PL IL Fig. 1) of the second period. On
three of the sides the access is very difficult, and a single ram-
part has been thought sufficient. On the north-west the ap-
proach is easier, and there the works have been strengthened by
a second entrenchment. It possesses two main gates, and a
postern; but its most curious feature is a hollow, 27 feet in
diameter, and 5 deep, situated at the lowest point in the
platean. This was some years ago excavated by the writer of
these pages. At the depth of 2} feet water was met with, and
finally a circular basin, 9 feet in diameter, and 5 deep, was dis-
covered, (PL ITL Fig. 1.) It had been chiselled out of the rock,
the marks of the tool being still quite distinct. The schistose
nature of the rock would have permitted the escape of the
water; but to obviate this, the basin had received a lining, 4
inches thick, of a finely wrought blue clay, which must have
been brought from a distance of 30 or 40 miles. The water
was of excellent quality, and the supply apparently abun-
dant, for the basin having been emptied in the course of the
operations, it filled again during the ensuing night, although the
excavation was made during a very dry season. On the whole,
this must be regarded as one of the most remarkable instances
of Roman skill and ingenuity. The farm of Crooked Stone, on
the opposite side of Clydesburn, derives its name from a soli-
tary megalithic pillar, of considerable size, being the largest
met with in the district. Descending from Bodsberry Hill, the
road, most distinctly marked, continues along the right bank of
the Clyde In the Shilling Cleuch burn, a small tributary
B
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which it crosses, a bronze caldron of the common tripod
type was found. About two miles farther, after crossing the
Midloch and Camp waters, the Iter reaches the base of a hill,
which, projecting from the main range, and overlooking the
Castle of Crawford, causes a considerable deflection in the
course of the river. Here it is rejoined by the branch which
separated from it at Dryffe Church. This, after crossing from
the valley of the Annan to that of the Nith, ascends the latter
river and its tributary the Carron, entering Lanarkshire by
the Wellpath. At the mouth of the pass in Dumfriesshire, but
within the territories of the Damnii, there is a small -Roman
post, defended by a single rectangular rampart of 100 by
80 feet. The position of this is indicated in the plan. From
the summit of the pass, the road follows the left bank of the
Potrail and the Clyde, till it arrives at the village of Crawford,
where it is known as Watling Street, and crossing the river,
joins the other branch as mentioned above. It is highly pro-
bable that the Iter was also joined at this point by another
branch from Peeblesshire, traces of which are found in several
places, although its entire course cannot be ascertained. Itseems
to have followed the valley of the Camp till that stream separ-
ates into two, when it ascended to the high ground between
them. Here there is a strong and elaborately fortified camp
(No. 2. Pl I1. Fig. 2), consisting of an interior oval entrench-
ment, 250 feet by 170, strengthened by outer ramparts, which
at one point are single, in others double, and even triple. From
the character of these exterior defences, this fort seems refer-
able to the Post Roman period. About two miles further up
the left branch of the stream, a coin of Vespasian was found.
Overlooking the point where the roads unite, is another camp
(No. 3), situated on a low spur of the hill It is an irregular
oval of 349 feet by 120, fortified by a single rampart, which,
on the side next the river, is now very indistinct. =Within
sight of this, on the south side of the hill, we meet with a
similar fortification (No. 4. PL II. Fig. 3), measuring 300 feet
by 150. It is remarkable from the addition of a slight
detached oval work at one of the ends, and from the fact
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that on the north the ground in the interior rises abruptly much
higher than the rampart.  Still farther round the hill, in a
small cleft or corry, about half way up the ascent, there is
another irregular oval enclosure (No. 5. PL IL Fig. 4), 150 feet
by 75. Being commanded by higher ground in the immediate
vicinity, it is ill adapted for a military post, and seems rather
to belong to the enclosures of the sepulchral class; this idea
is further confirmed by the existence of a cairn of stones in
its interior, beneath which two stone cists were found In
one of these was a capitally preserved urn, with a bracelet,
and two spear-heads of bronze, (S. PL VIIL Figs. 1 & 2; PL
VIL Fig. 3)*

From the point of junction opposite Crawford, the Iter
bends a little to the right, till it reaches the Raggen or
Ragged @ill, a pass of considerable elevation, which cuts off
the projecting portion of the hill Traversing this, it again
descends to the banks of the Clyde, near the boundary of the
parishes of Crawford and Lamington. Opposite the mouth of
the pass, Arbory Hill rises, in an isolated and conical form, to an
elevation of about 500 feet above the river. On its top is a for-
midable ancient British stone fort (No. 6), defended by three
concentric ramparts, with an interval of 10 yards between them,
the diameter of the interior being 264 feet. On the slope below
the fortification are several standing stones of the megalithic
class. Near the farm-house of Coldchapel there are two camps
on the opposite sides of the Hawkwood burn. The first (No. 7),
situated on a small piece of level ground, with its ramparts in
excellent preservation, is rectangular, measuring diagonally 165
by 150 feet. The other (No. 8) is very irregular in form, measures
254 by 220 feet in its longest dimensions, is less distinctly marked,
and lies on the first gentle rise of the hill. Near these were dis-
interred a number of urns, containing bones, (S. PL VIIL Figs.
3 & 4.) Near the same place a small thin and rudely-formed
Jjavelin head of bronze, 2} inches long by § broad, was disinterred.
From Coldchapel the Roman road continues to descend the right

® The letter (S.) denotes that the articles referred to are preserved in the
collection of Adam Sim, Esq. of Culter Maynes.
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bank of the Clyde. On a shoulder of Devonshaw Hill there is a
camp (No. 9) of an irregular form, measuring 330 by 251 feet.
At Hardington, on the opposite side of the Clyde, there was
found, at no great distance from the river bank, a bronze cal-
dron of the tripod type (S.) From this point the road skirts
the base of the hills, which are now separated from the river by
a considerable extent of comparatively flat land. At Loanhead,
in the vicinity of the Iter, a brass jug or goblet (S. PL XI.
Fig. 6) was dug up. At the northern extremity of Lamington
parish, the White Hill rises out of the alluvial land on the side
of the river, and commands an extensive view. On its southern
face are the remains of a camp (No. 10), defended by a rampart
of an oval form, measuring 425 by 250 feet. ‘

At this point the Roman road leaves the bank of the Clyde
and proceeds through the parish of Culter in a valley, which is
separated from that river by a range of elevated ground. Shortly
after entering this parish it passes a place on the farm of Low
Hangingshaw, called the Cat Craig, where the following reliques
were found:—1st, a bronze dagger (S. PL VIL Fig 1); 2d,
fragments of a number of rude urns; and 3d, several querns or
hand-mills, the material of which, being granite, must have
been brought from a distance. At Culter Park, a little further
on, a bronze celt (S. P. VIL Fig. 5) was discovered. Here it is
necessary to diverge from the line of the Roman road to embrace
a series of camps in the valley of Culter Water. The first of
these (No. 11), situated on the top of the hill which overlooks
Culter Park, is an oval of 248 by 102 feet, slightly fortified by
a single rampart, generally faintly marked and now in places
very much destroyed; a road, communicating with this camp, is
perceptible on the side of Culter Water. The second (No. 12.
PL IL Fig. 5), which occupies the summit of an adjoining hill,
is also oval, but defended by two entrenchments. The interior
ares, measuring 250 by 165 feet, is entered by two gates, which
pierce both fortifications in the line of the minor axis of the elipse;
what, however, is curious, is that the portion of this which lies to
the east of these gates is cut off from the rest of the camp by a
strong convex rampart of earth, by scrambling across which access
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to it could alone be obtairied. This feature is however met with
in other places, and seems to be peculiar to fortresses constructed
subsequent to the time of the Romans. Descending from this
towards Culter Water, we meet a third camp on the slope of the
hill (No. 13), defended by a single rampart of an irregular form,
measuring 153 and 128 feet at its two widest points. On the
ridge which separates Culter Water and Nisbet Burn, an emi-
nence divided by a gentle hollow from the steep ascent of
Culter Fell, is crowned by a camp (No. 14. PL IL Fig. 6)
strongly fortified with no less than three ramparts. At the
north corner of the outer one there is a curious mount, but
whether it is artificial or a natural feature of the ground is a
matter of doubt. At about half a mile to the north-east of the
farm-house of Nisbet there is an isolated knoll, on which is
situated the Cow Castle (No. 15. PL IL Fig. 7), by far the most
complicated fortification which occurs in the Upper Ward. It
consists of two separate forts. Of these, the principal is at the
west end of the hill, where the elevation is highest and the
ascent abrupt. It consists, in the first place, of an interior
area, 175 feet by 100, defended, with the exception of a very
small portion on the north side, by two ramparts, at the distance
of 50 feet from each other. The gate in the inner rampart is
at right angles, and closely adjoins that in the outer, which is at
the north-east corner. A return of the rampart has also been
constructed on the south side of the inner gate, so that this en-
trance was probably defended by two barriers, in the interval
between which an enemy, who had forced the first, would be
most severely exposed. On the north side of these fortifications
an outer rampart, at an interval of 70 feet, encloses a crescent-
shaped area, which is entered by a gate at right angles with
that in the outer wall of the main entrenchment. On the south,
another outer rampart, in the form of a horse-shoe, surrounds a
piece of ground to which access can only be obtained by crossing
the entrenchments. This is further strengthened throughout
two-thirds of its extent by a second rampart, which the defenders
could only reach by a similar process. The second fort, con-
taining an arca of 90 feet square, is situated at the east end of
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the hill, where the ground slopes gently, and was evidently in-
tended to guard against a surprise from this quarter, to which
the principal camp would otherwise have been exposed. There
can be no doubt that these fortifications are of a late date, pos-
sibly of the fifth or sixth century. The valley to the north-west
of the Cow Castle was formerly an impassable morass, in which
a curious place of security had been constructed All trace
of it has now disappeared under the operations of modern
husbandry, but the following account of it is given in the
Statistical Account of the parish:—*“A mound, of an oval shape,
called the Green Knowes, measuring about 30 yards by 40,
rises about 2 or 3 feet above the surface of the surrounding
bog. It is found to consist of stones tumbled promiscuously
together, through which are driven a number of oak piles, which
are still very fresh and show the marks of the hatchet. A cause-
way of large stones connects this mound with the firm ground.”

From Culter the Roman road proceeds in the direction of Big-
gar. At the distance of a mile there is a camp (No. 18) on the
top of the hill which intervenes between it and the Clyde.
Being situated in a plantation, its outline is not easily traced.
It appears, however, to have been a rhomboid of 190 by 164
feet, defended by a single entrenchment. On the bank of the
river at Wolfe Clyde there is a moat or tumulus, about 20
feet high and 30 in diameter. There is also a camp (No. 19)
in the holm on the opposite side of the river, but so much
of it has been destroyed by the plough that it is impos-
gible to fix either its form or its dimensions. Near the
boundary of the parishes of Culter and Biggar, we find the
house of Causeway End, on the line of the Iter—a most
appropriate name, as the road would here enter what was, till
the eighteenth century, an almost impassable morass. Through
this the road was probably constructed on wooden piles, as
it would have been impossible to continue the usual solid
causeway of the Roman roads. About a quarter of a mile to
the right of this there is a camp (No. 20), the rampart of
which is very much obliterated. It appears to have been a
semi-circle of something less than 150 feet radius. On reach-
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ing the village of Biggar, the road passes an artificial mound
(No. 21), about 30 feet high, with a flat top, of a rectangular
form, measuring 91 feet by 50. Roman coins, including a gold
Vespasian, have been found in the vicinity. It then bends to its
left up the course of Biggar Burn. Here it is commanded by a
camp (No. 22), situated on the top of Bizzy Berry Hill, which
overhangs the valley on the right. This is a sifdgle entrench-
ment of an oval form, 185 by 135 feet in diameter, with some
faint and ill-defined traces of outworks or additional defences.
On a small knoll in Biggar Shiels there are four large stones,
apparently part of a megalithic circle, or what is more com-
monly, though on no sufficient grounds, called a Druidical
temple. Near these, arrow-heads of flint (8. PL IV. Fig 6) have
been found. In the moss at Carwood, two bronze caldrons
were discovered; one of these (S.) is of the usual tripod form,
but with an outline unusually elegant. The other, in the pos-
session of Mr Brown of Edmonstown, is also of this type, but is
gingular from having only one handle. From Carwood the Iter
proceeds through Liberton Muir. On a small hill to the left of
the road at Whitcastle, there is a camp (No. 23), which appears
to have been an oval, 181 by 128 feet; although having been in-
cluded in a plantation, the line of its rampart cannot easily be
traced. On approaching the village of Liberton, was formerly en-
countered a most interesting fortress (No. 24) lying a little to the
left of theroad. It was perfectly circular, and was defended by two
entrenchments of remarkable height, the diameter of the interior
area being 248 feet. It had only one gate, which faced the east.
The unusual strength and solidity of its defences may be attri-
buted to its importance as a military post, its position enabling it
to command several of the fords across the Clyde. Since these
pages were written, every vestige of this fortification has been
swept away by agricultural improvements. A bronze caldron,
of the usual tripod type (S. PL XIL), was picked up in this
vicinity. From the village of Liberton the road keeps along
the high ground, which skirts the holms on the right bank of
the river, till it meets with the stream of the Medwin, which
it crosses at the ford below the farm-house of the Bank. Here
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two articles of Roman manufacture were dug up: 1, A small
bronze figure, representing a male animal, apparently a bull;
and 2, A very elegant harped-shaped broach or Fibula, also of
bronze, (S. PL IX. Figs. 2 & 3.) The Iter next bends round
the remarkable turn here taken by the river, and enters the
important Roman station of Castledykes or Carstairs (Curia).
The progress of modern improvement has in a great measure
destroyed its ramparts; a small portion is, however, preserved
on the side of the avenue at the back of the modern mansion-
house. Fortunately it was surveyed by General Roy in 1753,
and a plan of it preserved in plate 27 of his great work
From this we learn that it consisted of an area of about 180
yards square, defended by a deep ditch and formidable ram-
part. The remains of a Roman bath were here discovered, and
many articles of their manufacture have been dug up, such as
pots, dishes, instruments of war or sacrifice, a nether mill-
stone (S.), and coins, chiefly those of Aurelius, Antoninus and
Trajan. In the parish of Carstairs, but at some distance from
Castledykes, a button of highly-polished jet, 2} inches in
diameter, was found. (Catal. Arch. Mus. Edin,, p. 22.) From this
station the Iter bends to the right, and leaves the Clyde. Before
reaching the Mouse, it passes through a corner of Lanark Muir,
where there was formerly a small Roman camp—all trace of
which appears now to be lost. From the vicinity of this it
appears that a branch diverged to the right in the direction of
Lanark. Frequent traces of it have been met with near
Stanmore house, where a stone cist, containing the fragments
of an urn, was also found On Lanark Muir, near Smyllum
Park, there was found, within a similar cist, an urn of precisely
the same pattern as that noticed, page 11. It has been supposed
that there was a Roman camp on the Castlehill at Lanark. This,
however, is erroneous, the fortification there having been formed
in more modern times. A silver Faustina was, indeed, found
there, but too much stress must not be laid on any deduction as
to the occupation of a locality, derived from the discovery of
single coins, for these must have circulated for a long period
after their issue, especially in remote ages; indeed, coins of the
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Roman emperors are met with even in the present day among the
currency of districts in the south of France. The fortification,
which consists of an elevated mound, partly natural and partly
artificial, and a surrounding ditch, in many of its features re-
sembles the important castle of Bramber in Sussex, although on
a smaller scale. The mound was in all probability used origi-
nally as a place of sepulture, and adapted to the purpose of a
military fort in the ninth or tenth century. By the time of
William the Lyon it had become the site of a feudal castle,
which was occupied by that monarch and several of his succes-
sors, and it continued a royal castle till after the year 1359.
[Chamberlain’s Rolls, I, 335.] We shall afterwards have
occasion to advert more particularly to the type of fortifica-
tion to which it belongs. Leaving Lanark, the Roman road
appears to have passed throngh Nemphlar Muir. Crossing
the Clyde, it ascended Stonebyres Hill, after which it forded
the Nethan and proceeded to Blackwood, in Lesmahagow
parish Returning to Stanmore, we find the main Iter pro-
ceeding in a north-western direction, till it crusses the Mouse at
Cleghorn mill. In the angle between the road and the stream
are the remains of an old entrenchment apparently of a rec-
tangular form. On the opposite side of the Mouse, a few hundred
yards to the right of the line of the Iter, is a very large and im-
portant Roman camp, which is supposed to have been occupied
by Agricola. It measures 600 yards in length by 420 in breadth,
and is rectangular. It has six gates, several of which are de-
fended by traverses, in & way not uncommon with the Romans.
Its ramparts are in good preservation, and a very accurate plan
of it is contained in Roy, Plate 9. On the bank of the Mouse,
about 300 yards to the south of this station, three stone coffins,
surrounded by charred wood, were diseovered. The largest was
63 feet long, the others 3} feet square. In one of the latter an
urn was found, which was about 6 inches in height, and had
been formed on a lathe. From Cleghorn the road continues in
a north-west direction through the parish of Carluke by Kil-
cadzow, Coldstream, Yieldshields, and Dyke, to Belston, where

it separates into two branches, which pass by Castlehill and
c
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Hyndshaw into the Middle Ward. These may be considered as
the commencement of the great network of roads connected with
the northern wall. At Dyke, the road which is there known as
Watling Street is very perfect, and protected by a mound on its
north-east side. On or near the line of the Iter in this district
many antiquities have been discovered. Roman gold coins have
been picked up at Burnhead and Castlehill, and a copper Como-
dus with a silver Faustina at Belston. A flint hatchet was
turned up by the plough at Crawford Wells, and another smaller
and less perfect at Stonegreen. At Carney Mount, and also at
Law, stone cists have been met with containing rude urns and
ashes. It is probable that a vicinal road ran from Belston to
Milton Lockhart. Exactly at the spot where an elegant stone
bridge was erected by the late Mr William Lockhart, M.P., there
appears to have been in ancient times a wooden construction of
the same kind. In the rock which forms the bed of the river, a
series of square holes have been cut about a foot deep and 9
inches in length by 6 in breadth. Being arranged in pairs, it is
evident that they have been intended to receive the beams on
which the bridge was supported. The site chosen for this, and
the manner in which it is carried obliquely across the river so as
to present the least obstacle to the current, afford evidence of no
small engineering skill After crossing the river, the road
appears to have ascended to the high ground on the opposite
bank, where, on the farm of Dalpatrick, an ordinary Roman
earthenware lamp was found under a small cairn, and from
thence to have proceeded to Blackwood, near which a stone
axe, now in the possession of Mr Hope Vere, was discovered.
Here an undoubted Roman road is met with, stretching
through the Middle Ward parishes of Stonehouse and Strath-
aven into Ayrshire. On the top of Dillar Hill, in Lesma-
hagow parish, there is a detached camp of no great size (No.
16), and another at Blackhill (No. 16*), with its ditch much
obliterated by the thriving plantation in which it is situated.
In the vicinity of the latter there formerly stood two megalithic
pillars, but one of them was removed some years ago. A third
fortification (No. 16") occurs on the farm of Draffan. It is cir-
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cular, with a diameter of 70 or 80 yards. A short distance
outside the rampart there was a well neatly built round with
stones, a feature which, when coupled with the fact that it
is at no great distance from the Iter, seems to indicate that
it was constructed by the Romans, as wells similarly situated
are frequently found in connection with the entrenchments
of that nation, of which there is an example at the great sta-
tion of Caistor, near Norwich. Not far from this camp two
bronze hatchets were discovered. Another was dug up on the
farm of Connalholm. In Sadlerhead or Fauldhouse burn an
elegant bronze flagon was picked up by a cowherd, and came
into the possession of the Rev. Mr Dow, minister of Cathcart,
by whom it was presented to the Hunterian Museum in Glas-
gow. It is engraved in Stewart’s “Caledonia Romana,” Plate
VL Figs. 4+ & 5, and the following description of it is given
at p. 220 of the same work:—*“It is 12 inches in height, and
perfectly plain, with the exception of the handle, which is
ornamented with several embossed figures. In the lower
part a female figure, in simple drapery, stands near a Grecian
pedestal with a bird in her hand, which bears some resem-
blance to an owl Above her is a helmet similar to that
of Minerva, and over it a nude figure as in the act of
running, with a cloak or toga flowing loosely behind. Sur-
mounting all is a circular shield with drapery suspended
round it. The design is elegant and well executed, and has a
decided classical appearance.” It appears to have been richly
gilt, and is undoubtedly a relique of the period of Roman occu-
pation. In the statistical account it is stated that Roman coing
have been found in the parish. These, however, have been lost
sight of, and unfortunately no record has been preserved of the
places where they were discovered. Sepulchral tumuli, chiefly
stone cairns, are common throughout Lesmahagow. One of
these at Cairn house, on the farm of Skellyhill, was of unusually
large dimensions, being upwards of 50 feet high, while its base
occupied half an acre of ground; many of the stones of which
it was composed weighing about a ton. In its centre a stone
cist, 4 feet in length by 2 in breadth, was discovered. It con-
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tained ashes and an urn of rude pottery, which crumbled to
dust on being ‘exposed to the air. A number of these cairns
were removed about forty years ago at Borland Mill. In the
stone cist which occupied the centre of one of them two circular
ornaments, about 3 inches in diameter, of highly polished jet,
were found. In another a stone celt was preserved. Two
similar celts were turned up on the farm of Draffan and another
at Rogerhill At Underbank, near Crossford, a stone implement,
of cream-coloured agate, 2} inches long by 13 broad, was
picked up; it appears to have been used as a chisel or knife, and
is now in the possession of J. G. MKirdy, Esq. of Birkwood.
A small thin gold coin, about the size of a silver penny, was
found in a cairn at Muirsland. It is lost, and no notice was
taken of the type to which it belonged, consequently it is im-
possible to ascertain whether it had any original connection
with those who erected the tumulus, or came there accidentally
at a much more recent period, as undoubtedly was the case with
an Edward penny discovered in another cairn at Lupus. The
latter also contained a broach, which seems to have been coeval
with the interment. Another fibula was found at Auchlochan,
in connection with the point of a bronze spear and a large
number of urns. On the estate of Stockbriggs several fibulae,
urns, and what is described as Roman pottery, have been met
with. The late Lord Corehouse excavated some tumuli about
a mile to the south of his residence. The centre of one of
these was occupied by a stone cist containing an urn, round
which no less than eighteen others, with some rude ornaments
seratched on their surface and filled with bones, were arranged
in & circle. At Leeland a small cairn was removed some years
ago, and the field in which it stood sown with barley, but so
strong a crop of oats, with dark stems and ears, sprung up on
the site of the cairn that the barley was choked. The seed from
which these oats was produced must have lain dormant during
the centuries which had elapsed since the erection of the tumu-
lus. It may have been deposited intentionally along with
the interment, for we know that it was the custom of the
Egyptians and many ancient nations to place wheat and other
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cereals in their tombs for the use of the deceased ; or its presence
may be accounted for, with even greater probability, by the
conjecture that, when the cairn was erected, the place either was,
or had been recently, occupied by a well-ripened crop of that
grain. .

The great south and north Iter is intersected by another at
right angles, which is known as the Drove Loan. In tracing the
latter, it will be found convenient to divide it into two portions,
and consider, in the first place, that which lies to the east of the
Clyde. The point at which it crosses this river is the Black-pot
Ford, about two miles above the station at Carstairs. This, how-
ever, owing to the depth of the water opposite that encampment,
is the nearest place where a passage by fording was possible.
Proceeding eastward, it intersects the road already described
on the farm of Lampits, and leaving Carnwath on the left
goes on to Greenattan. At the west end of the village of Carn-
wath is a remarkable cairn or moat. It is somewhat elliptical
in form, of considerable height, and surrounded by a deep ditch.
There is a hollow on the top, and tradition asserts that access
to the interior was obtained by a rude staircase. Many con-
jectures have been hazarded as to the origin and purpose of
this class of mounds; several of them highly improbable, like
that in the History of the Somervilles, that they were con-
structed by the adherents of the Bruce, to distingunish them-
selves from the Baliol faction. Some have considered them
fortresses, others the places of popular assemblies; but by far
the most plausible idea is that which assigns them a sepul-
chral character, as being erected over the graves of distinguished
chieftains in a very remote age. From Greenattan, the left
branch of the Drove Loan proceeds straight forward through
Carnwath Muir to the small Roman station at Harburn, in
the county of Edinburgh. The other branch turns sharp to the
right through Kerswell, where a bronze palstab (S. PL VL. Fig. 5)
was discovered. On reaching Newbigging Muir the road again
splits into two. One of these making a considerable bend to
the left, passes either through or close by the south side of
the camp (No. 25), which is an irregular oval of 267 by 215
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feet, singly entrenched, but with an outwork on the east of a
slighter character, extending to the distance of 150 feet. It is
situated on the top of a gentle eminence. From this the road
continues along the slope of the hills on the right bank of the
South Medwyn, till it reaches the head of Dunsyre Valley, from
which it passes through the flat muirs at the head of the West
Water into Peebleshire. In the muirs at the head of both the
South and North Medwyn, cairns and megalithic monuments
frequently occur. It is mentioned in the Statistical Account of
Scotland that a number of urns have been found along the line
of this road, and one is more particularly described as being
“about 6 inches in diameter, composed of burnt clay and rudely
carved over. Its under part is narrow, of the shape of the
human heart, and projects from the depth of 7 inches about 23
towards the mouth.” This form is one of the known types of
Roman pottery, and it is unfortunate that neither the place of
its discovery nor the name of its possessor have been given.
The other branch of the Iter, which we left in Newbigging
Muir, after making a slight sweep to the right, and crossing the
South Medwyn, pursues a direction almost due east until it
reaches the boundary of Peeblesshire at Corsincon. It then
bends sharply to the left, and for some distance forms the march
of the counties, after which it finally takes leave of Lanarkshire,
proceeding by Newland Bridge End in the direction of the
Roman camp at Lyne. This branch of the Drove Loan appears
to have formed the early portion of the fifth Iter of Richard of
Cirencester, the important stations of Carstairs and Lyne being
Curia and Ad. Fines, the two first places recorded on the
line of that route. Stone cists have been found in its vicinity.
A little better than a mile north-west of the point where it
leaves the county, there is a camp of small dimensions (No. 17)
on the top of Keir Hill, which overlooks the village of Dolphin-
ton. An arrow-head, neatly formed of flint (S.), was recently
found at Newmill in this parish. Between the Drove Loan
and the north and south Iter we find a small isolated hill
called the Cocklaw, on the top of which is a camp (No. 26)
defended by a single circular rampart 200 feet in diameter.
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At the foot of this lies the farm of Boreland, on which
there was found a tripod flagon, (8. PL XI. Fig. 5) On
Hyndshielend, the next farm, a stone cist was lately dis-
covered. It contained an urn which crumbled away on being
exposed to the air. Several stone celts (S.) have been found
in Walston parish, but no record has been kept of the exact
localities.

Having completed the survey of the eastern portion of the
Drove Loan, we now proceed to trace that part of it which lies
on the west bank of the Clyde. Leaving the Black-pot Ford,
this passes throngh the lower part of the parish of Pettinain
and ascends the hill above Westraw House. At the point where
it crosses the crest of the ridge there is a small circle, about 6
yards in diameter, and with a regular gate. This may have
been a sheepstell, for which, however, the situation is not well
adapted; or it may have been the station of an outlying picket,
connected with a large camp, to be immediately described. A
short distance to the right of this, on the highest point of the
ridge, is the remarkable ancient British fort, known as Cairn Grife
(No. 27. PL IIL Fig. 2.) It has two concentric ramparts, which,
at an interval of from 5 to 7 yards, enclose an area of about 100
feet square, and are composed of an enarmous collection of loose
stones, of which, at least, a thousand cart-loads have been collected.
A portion of the space between the ramparts, about 15 feet in
length, is cut off from the remainder by two transverse walls,
which permit no entrance but by escalade. It is impossible to
conjecture the intention of this arrangement, but is not uncom-
mon in ancient British fortifications of this type. Descending
from the hill, the road leads directly to a large camp (No. 28),
situated by the side of a moss, in the valley near the farm of
Knowhead. This extensive fortification is of an irregular form,
with a single entrenchment of a comparatively slight charac-
ter, which measures 300 yards in length by 230 in breadth.
‘Within the moss, a short distance to the east, there is a small
round enclosure, containing about a rood of ground, which
appears to have been connected with the main fortification by a
causeway. Near the rampart some urns were found, in an in-
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verted position, within stone cists, the latter being filled to a
considerable depth with a fine white sand. From the dimensions,
position, and general character of this fortification, there seems
no room for doubt that it is the intermediate camp which, from
the well-known length of the daily march of a Roman legion,
the western column of Agricola’s army must have formed
between that at Little Clyde, and their junction with the
other division at Carstairs, or more probably Cleghorn. On
the crest of Swaites Hill, which overlooks this camp on the east,
is a small fort (No. 29) with a slight circular rampart, 170 feet
diameter. A short distance to the north of this there was once a
large tumulus called the Hero’s Cairn. When this was taken down
a large urn, surrounded by five smaller ones, was discovered, the
whole being included in a stone cist. Below this, on the side of
the Clyde, lie two camps. The first (No. 30. PL IIL Fig. 3) is
situated on the top of a gentle bank which rises from the river.
It is defended by two ramparts in the shape of the letter C,
the opening being formed by a wide gateway, where the ends of
the ramparts are closed by transverse banks; the entrench-
ments are very slight, and most probably were strengthened
by hedges, after a well-known British type. The other (No.
~ 31) is half way down the slope, and has been so often ploughed

over that its form can scarcely be traced; it appears, how-
ever, to have been a lop-sided oval of 143 and 120 feet
diameter. Proceeding from the Hero’s Cairn, southward, along
Swaites Hill, we enter the farm of Warrenhill, where six urns,
rudely manufactured and apparently moulded by hand, were
disinterred. On the elevation which terminates this range,
we find the fortification called in Forést’s Map the Chesters
outpost (No. 32) overlooking the flat basin which stretches up
the Clyde as far as Culter, a distance of some miles. It is
defended by a single, well-defined rampart pierced by two gates,
and is of irregular shape—its longest transverse dimensions
being 300 and 277 feet. Before returning to the Drove Loan,
a set of camps, on the opposite side of the basin above re-
ferred to, which cannot be connected with any road, fall to be
described. (No. 33) is on the north-east face of Tinto, a little
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way above the base of that hill, and is constructed of two un-
usually high circular ramparts, traversed by two gates, the
diameter of the inner one being 180 feet. This camp possesses
an unique feature in an interior ring, only 2 feet high, but per-
fectly continuous, without gate or opening. It is difficult to
eonjecture what could have been the object of this construc-
tion. Not far from this were found, in a small tumulus, some
human bones. As the skull was absent and the grave sherter
than usual, it may be presumed that this body had been decapi-
tated. About a quarter of a mile to the north another tumulus
contained two urns, one of which is in the possession of Mr
Thomson Carmichael of Eastend. A little further round the hill,
in the direction of the Clyde, the top of a small protuberance is
occupied by a Druidical or megalithic circle (No. 34), consisting
of two irregular rows of stones. These are the ordinary rock of
the country, rough as they came from the quarry, and of no great
gize. On the spur of the hill which overlooks St John’s Kirk,
there is a camp (No. 35) which has been so much destroyed that
its original form cannot be determined with any accuracy. In
Symington parish are two fortifications, one (No. 36) is on the
top of the Castlehill. Being situated in a plantation, its rampart,
which was single, can scarcely be traced in places; it seems,
however, to have been an irregular circle. The other (No. 37),
on the bank of a small stream in the farm of Westside, has been
defended by an earthen rampart. This, however, has been so
frequently ploughed that its general outlines can only be dis-
tinguished, which appear to have been also circular. Leaving
the large camp at Knowhead, the Drove Loan crosses Carmichael
Hill to the church of that parish, from which it passes behind
Tinto, and keeps along the high ground between Douglas Water
and the Clyde till within a short distance of the village of Craw-
fordjohn. In Carmichael parish, near a bridge over Douglas
Water, a considerable distance to the right of the road, a sand-
stone cist was found. At Stonehill, on the same side of the Iter,
but nearer to it, two rings or clasps of very pure gold, weighing
together twenty-nine sovereigns, were dug up. They exhibited

workmanship of a low class, and are in possession of Lord
D
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Home. On Ironside Hill, near the head of Ponfeigh burn, there
was a small stone fort, about 40 feet in diameter, but its walls
were many years ago removed to furnish materials for a march
fence. Occupying the plateau on the top of a hill in Garf
Water, about a mile and a half to the left of the Drove Loan,
we find a camp (No. 38. PL IIL Fig. 4), defended by two
entrenchments in the form of an irregular circle, 220 feet in
diameter. On the Clyde, a little above the village of Rober-
ton, is a considerable tumulus or moat. From Crawfordjohn
there is considerable difficulty in tracing the course of the
Drove Loan, as there are there two lines, either of which it
may have followed, while they run so close together that we
can hardly believe them to have been contemporaneous. One
of them turns sharply to the right and, passing into the
parish of Douglas, skirts Aukensaugh HillL It then crosses the
Glespen burn into the farm of Glentaggart, and ascends the
stream of the same name, near the top of which, on a shoulder
of Hartwood Hill, there is a rectangular fortification of 150 by
87 feet, whereof the west corner has been cut off by a marsh.
Its single rampart is slight and faintly marked. Near this is a
curious stone font of very rude construction, the date of which
is uncertain. From this point the road inclines to the left, and,
passing between the farmhouse of Shawhead and the hill called
Cairn Kinney, enters Dumfries-shire. It does not, however,
continue long in that county, but, after traversing a small corner
of it, pursues its course into Ayrshire. The other branch con-
tinues in the same direction as the Drove Loan had previously
followed. Passing the village of Crawfordjohn, it ascends the
left bank of the Duneaton till it reaches the farm of Sheriff-
cleuch, where it crosses that river and soon arrives at a camp,
the entrenchments of which have been so confused by modern
turf walls that its form cannot now be ascertained. Here a
bronze spur rowel (S.) and some pieces of iron, apparently frag-
ments of armour, were found. The road then skirts the opposite
side of Cairn Kinney from that taken by the other branch, with
which it unites at the boundary of the county. Several bronze
spear-heads (S.) have been found near Cairntable in Douglas
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parish, but the exact locality has not been recorded; and there is
a very large moat or tuamulus in the grounds of Douglas Castle.

Following the course of the Duneaton downwards from the
village of Crawfordjohn, we find, on the Black Hill, a fort (No.
89) measuring 203 by 195 feet, defended by two ramparts at an
interval of 30 to 40 feet, which has evidently been constructed
to command the passage of the stream. A little above the point
where this falls into the Clyde, there is situated, on the farm of
Nether Abington, the last, but certainly not the least, curious
of the ancient fortifications in the Upper Ward of Lanarkshire,
(No. 40. PL IIL Fig. 5.) It conmsists of a considerable mount,
partially natural, partially artificial, rising abruptly from the
bank of the Clyde, and surrounded by a ditch on the land
side. From this projects a rampart and ditch in the form of
a horse-shoe, which is evidently of later construction, and is
entered by two gates on its opposite sides. This type of fortress
is rare in Scotland, but in England it is met with very fre-
quently, and often of gigantic dimensions. There the fortresses
of this class seem to have been commonly used by the Saxons,
and became, after the conquest, the sites of the feudal strong-
holds of the Norman barons, the walls of which crown the
mounds and earthworks. To this type belong the great castles
of Windsor, Norwich, Canterbury, with old Sarum and Marl-
borough in Wilts, Headlingham in Essex, Launceston in Corn-
wall, Lewes in Sussex, and many others. Although the fact
of their occupation by the Saxons and Normans is universally
admitted, a very keen controversy has of late years existed
among antiquaries as to the date of the original construction
of the fortifications of this class, and the people to whom
their first erection was to be attributed. On the one side it
is contended that they were formed by the ancient Britons at
a very early period, and had been subsequently taken possession
of by the other races. On the other, it is maintained that, al-
though the mounds might be ancient, they were originally raised
as sepulchral monuments, and that they were converted into
military fortresses at a much more recent period, when those
who had been interred beneath them were entirely forgotten.
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then those of bronze, and lastly those of iron; as the limited
area of discovery prevented us adopting the more scientific plan
of an arrangement, founded on the localities where they were
found, and the tribes and nations to which they belong. We
are the more anxious to mention this, as the idea broached by
the archeeologists of Denmark, that the prevalence of stone,
bronze, and iron implements mark three consecutive historical
periods, is now rejected by all sound antiquarians as being
empirical and inconsistent with the recorded facts.

PLATE IV.

Figs. 1, 2, 3 represent various forms of the rude aboriginal
stone celt axe or hatchet. The first was found at Culter, and
consists of clay-stone porphyry. It measures 5% inches in
length by 2} across the cutting edge. Its two sides are more
nearly parallel than in most examples of this class of weapon,
and its shape approaches more closely that of the adze than
the axe. The second, of Greywacké, also found at Culter, is
remarkable for its large size—7 inches long by 3 in breadth.
The third, discovered in the parish of Covington, measures 5%
by 2% inches, and is formed of very soft limestone. No reliques
of antiquity are found more widely scattered than these stone
celts. They have been discovered in every part of Great Bri-
tain and Ireland, also in France and Denmark ; something very
similar existed in Mexico, and they are still used by the Poly-
nesian islanders and other savage tribes. There can be little
doubt that they were attached to the handle by thongs passing
round their middle. Examples, however, have been found
near Abbeville, in France, where the celt had been placed in
a hollow portion of a stag’s horn, having a perforation in it to
receive the handle. They appear to have been used indiscrimi-
nately as tools and as weapons of war. Of the latter use a
remarkable instance was met with in Kirkcudbrightshire, where
a skeleton was found in a stone cist, one of the arms of which
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had been almost separated from the shoulder by the stroke of
a stone axe, a fragment of which still remained in the bone.
(Wison’s Pre-Hist. Annals, 131.) There is reason to conjecture
that these celts were not in all cases used as axes or hatchets,
as in some instances, Fig. 3 for example, they appear by no
means adapted to that purpose. We can conceive our ancestors
succeeding, by the aid of fire, in hewing down and shaping
trees with stone celts, when these were formed of flint or a rock
as hard as Greenstone or Greywacké, but hesitate to admit of
the possibility when the weapon consists of limestone, so soft
that it can be scratched with the nail It has in consequence
been asserted, and with considerable reason, that celts made of
soft stones were used in the flaying of the larger spoils of the
chase.

Figs. 4 and 5 represent two specimens of what are known as
Slail stones, which formed the effective portions of a very early
military weapon, being suspended by a cord or thong of leather
from a short staff, and used in the same manner as the “morn-
ing star” of the middle ages. The first of these is of much
earlier date than the latter. It is very rudely shaped, about 3%
inches in length; one edge is sharper than the other, and there
is a coarsely-formed perforation towards the upper part to receive
the string. A stone something similar, and evidently used for
the same purpose, but of larger dimensions, was, in 1858, dredged
up from the Thames, off Battersea. It is engraved in the Journal
of the British Archaeological Association for that year, (PL 23,
Fig. 3). A still larger example was found in one of the three
trenches that surround the summit of a remarkable hill, called
“Cuming’s Camp,” at Barra, Aberdeenshire. It is figured in the
Catalogue, Archaological Museum, Edinburgh, 1856-7, where
it is erroneously described as a maul or hammer. Stones of the
same class have been found elsewhere in Scotland, and also in
Ireland. Weapons of an allied character are employed by the
Circassians and the Indian tribes of the valley of the Mississipi.
The second example is annular, 3 inches by 2§ in diameter;
the central perforation is strongly bevilled on both sides to pro-
tect the knots which held it in its place on the thong by which
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it was suspended. A stone of the same class was found at
Dalpatrick, in Lanarkshire (Wilson’s Pre-Hust. Annals, 132),
and they have been frequently met with in other Scottish
localities. One is said to have been found in Surrey. (Journal
Brit. Arch. Association, 1858, p. 328, note) Both the speci-
mens engraved were found at Culter.

Fig. 6 presents four differently shaped flint arrow-heads, known
in Scotland as elf bolt, elf shot, and elfin arrow; in Norway as
alfskot; in Denmark as elves kud—that is, elf shot; and in
France as cats’ tongues—langues de chat. This class of weapon
is very frequently met with in Scotland, and, indeed, generally
throughout the north of Europe. The discovery of numerous
examples in the drift near Amiens and Abbeville is at present
exciting great speculation among geologists. Forged specimens
are continually met with; indeed, two extensive manufactories of
them were, about two years ago, detected in Lancashire and
Norfolk.

Fig. 7, a flint knife, 2§ inches long by § in its greatest breadth.
It is flat on one side, convex on the other. A still more elabo-
rate specimen of these knives, found at Culter, is also in Mr
Sim’s collection, but unfortunately in fragments. They are fre-
quently found in Scotland and elsewhere.

PLATE V.

Fig. 1 is a remarkable and perhaps unique illustration of the
manufacturing processes in use among our early ancestors. It
is a slick stone, for tawing or softening hides by friction, formed
of quartz, 6} inches broad by 2% in height. There is a deep
depression on either side to admit the finger and thumb. These
were probably natural at first but have been artificially increased.
The outside is rounded, and both it and the flat surface applied
to the hide are polished by use. It was found in the parish of
Culter, 8 feet below the surface. It is conjectured that the
name taw, applied to a schoolboy’s marbles, is derived from
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these tawing-stones, having been probably at one time formed
like them of quartz.

Fig. 2 represents a very fine example of the stone hammer,
axe, or maul. It was picked up at Aikbrae, near the boundary
of the parish of Culter, and is of a size not usually met with,
measuring 8} inches in length and 23 along the cutting edge.
In form it resembles the first type of these weapons engraved
by Dr Wilson (Pre-Hust. Ann., p. 135). They have been found
all over Scotland, and in Lancashire and other parts of England ;
but by no means in the numbers that are met with in Denmark,
Sweden, and Norway.

Fig. 3 is a most singular spherical stone ball, with circles in
relief, arranged in regular order, with intervening spaces, and
is fashioned with remarkable symmetry. It was found in
Biggar parish, presents six of these circles, and is, in this re-
spect, similar to one found in Dumfriesshire, near the same
Roman Iter, that traverses Lanarkshire from south to north,
engraved by Wilson (Pre-Hust. Ann., p. 138), and repeated in
the Arch. Mus, Edin., 1856, p. 14. The former author notes
two instances of similar articles being discovered at Glenquiken
moor, Kirkcudbright, and Cochno, Dumbartonshire; while the
latter work records that one of these balls, but with three faces
only, was found on the Tullo of Garvoch, Kincardineshire, and
another, with four, in a cairn at East Brackie, Fifeshire. Another,
from Ireland, which resembles the Biggar example in the grey
sandstone of which it is composed and the number of the circles,
is preserved in the British Museum. Similar incised stones
have been found in Denmark; but no instance is known of their
being found in England. The most probable conjecture as to
their use is that they were employed for the purpose of divina-
tion, or in a game of chance. The projecting circles being
marked with numbers or letters, like a modern tee-totum, and
then thrown or rolled either on the ground, or in a bowl or vessel.

Fig. 4 is a small bronze ball, 1} inches in diameter, found at
Walston. It is sharply and beautifully incised with volutes,
producing six disc-shaped figures, and, in this respect, bears
some analogy to the stone balls above described. No similar

E
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example is known to exist; but there is in the British Musenm
a shallow bowl of bronze, with singular scroll-formed orna-
ments of a similar character; and some antiquaries have con-
jectured that balls of this class were nsed with these basins in a
game something resembling the modern roulette; others have
believed that they were rolled along a floor or table, something
in the manner of what are now called carpet bowls, and that
the ornamentation distinguished those belonging to the different
players. This idea is rendered more probable by the recent
discovery of earthenware balls of varied pattern, and very simi-
lar to our China bowls, in connection with Roman remains in
the south of England; and also by the curious fact that, in the
example before us, the ball has been cast in two halves, each
composed of a different metal, which, varying in density, would
give it a bias similar to that possessed by the bowls on our
modern greens. A third set of authorities incline to consider
them emblems of authority, appertaining to various offices, and
that they were carried in the hand in the same way as our
sovereigns do the globe. The truth is, that we have as yet such
scant information as to these reliques, that any conjecture as to
the use made of them can amount only to vague speculation.
Its superior workmanship, however, enables us to state with
certainty that the ball we have engraved was not fabricated
prior to the occupation of this country by the Romans.

PLATE VL

Figs. 1 and 2 are axe-heads of bronze. The first, found near
Biggar, is a very fine specimen, measuring 6} inches in
length and nearly 3 across the cutting edge. The second, dis-
covered at Culter, is rather smaller, its dimensions being 5} and
3% inches respectively. Both belong to what Dr Wilson arranges
as Class I (Pre-Hist. Ann., p. 252), that is, those types and
varieties which belong to the earliest period after the art of
working in bronze was discovered; while they are distinguished
from the more perfect productions of a later period by their
more simple form, less skilful workmanship, and the absence of
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omamentation. These axes have been found in numerous
localities in Great Britain and Ireland, and, indeed, generally
in the north of Europe.

Fig. 3 is a bronze instrument of a very rare and unusual form.
It is a tongue-shaped ‘blade, 7§ inches in length, but broken at
the small end, and measuring 2 inches across its greatest width.
It is thick in the centre and thins off to the edge all round. A
bronze weapon of a similar shape was found in 1853, in & bar-
row on Ashley Down, Isle of Wight (Journal Brit. Arch. Assoc.,
1854, Plate 19. Fig. 2). In that case, however, it was evident
that the blade had been used as a dagger, there being three
holes or rivets at the broad end for attaching it to the handle,
one of the rivetted pins, by which it was fastened, still remain-
ing. In the present example there is nothing of this kind,
and most probably it is the blade of an axe, the smaller
pointed end of which was driven through the haft, thus forming
a weapon very similar to some battle-axes still used by the na-
tives of southern Africa. It was found at Culter, on the farm
of Nether Hangingshaw.

Figs. 4 and 5 are specimens of Dr Wilson’s Class IV. of
early bronze weapons (Pre-Hist. Ann., p. 254), to which archse-
ologists now usually apply the Scandinavian term “Paalstab.”
These are in the form of a wedge, more or less axe-shaped, hav-
ing a groove on each side, generally terminating in a stop-ridge,
by means of which they were united to a cleft handle, and, in
the generality of cases, with projecting lateral ridges, designed
still farther to secure the hold on the shaft. Specimens are
frequently met with in the north of Europe. A very ani-
mated discussion has been carried on among antiquaries as to
whether they were hafted by means of a bent stick or by a
straight wooden handle. (See Archawologia, XI1X., 104, PL
VIII, Figs. 13, c; and Arch. Journal, March, 1847, p. 4.)
The general opinion is now, however, in favour of the latter
mode of hafting. Mr James Yates has called attention to two
of the Nimroud marbles, in which Assyrian soldiers are repre-
sented breaking through a wall of brick or small stones by

means of chisels, not dissimilar to our Paalstabs, and fitted to a
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straight wooden handle. In fact, they appear to have been used as
crowbars in the attack of fortifications and military works, and
also, we have no doubt, in the more peaceful operations to which
such tools were adapted (Arch. Journal, VI, 363; Journal Brit.
Arch. Asso., IV, 69). Of the two examples before us, Fig. 4
was found at Newlands, in Peeblesshire, but not far from the
boundary of Lanarkshire. It is 5§ inches long, with a slight
transverse ridge on both faces, but with no lateral projection.
From its form it might easily, unless attentively examined, be
mistaken for a battle-axe of the type already described. There
is a singular depression on one side, which, although not unique
in this class of weapon, is at least a feature of very great rarity.
Fig. 5 is 6 inches long, and was found at Kerswell, in the parish
of Carnwath. It is very slightly, if at all, ridged transversely, but
has the edges developed to an unusual extent, and recurved in-
wards the better to secure the shaft. It is in very fine condition.

Fig. 6 is an example of Dr Wilson’s Class V., an improved
variety of the Paalstab, having a loop or ear attached to them
(Pre-H7st. Ann., p. 256). It was found at Aikbrae, and is 6}
inches long, with a deep ridge on either side. This type of the
Paalstab is of frequent occurrence in our collections (Edin.
Arch. Mus., 1856. p. 48).

PLATE VIL

Fig. 1 presents to us a javelin head, picked up on the farm
of Hangingshaw, in Culter parish. It is of the earliest and
most rude type of these weapons (Pre-Hist. Ann., 260). It is
furnished with a tang, which was inserted in a cleft shaft and
rivetted. Its present length is 53} inches, but the lower end is
broken. A smaller specimen of the same character, but slightly
varied in shape, was found at Coldchapel, in the parish of Lam-
ington, and other examples have been met with in various parts
of Great Britain, from Morayshire to the Severn.

The next three figures represent bronze spear-heads, arranged
in accordance with the date of their manufacture. Fig. 2 was
found in the parish of Lanark. It is well formed, and about 5
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inches long. Fig. 3 was discovered, along with the urn and
ring, PL VIIL Figs. 1 and 2, under a cairn in the parish of Craw-
ford. It is of good workmanship, 8} inches in length, and has
a loop on each side at the base of the blade. Fig. 4, from Doug-
las, is 5§ inches long, and is looped towards the bottom of the
socket, while the latter is decorated with three annular bands, a
very rare feature in this class of weapons. These spear-heads
are of common occurrence, both in this country, including the
Channel Islands, and in Denmark, and the other Scandinavian
kingdoms. Many of these have been engraved from time to
time, and illustrate the variations in shape which are constantly
met with. (See Gordon, Septentrionale, Pl. L1.; Archeologia,
XVII, 329; IX., Pl 111; X, Pl 40. Fig. 5, etc.; Pre-Hist.
Ann, 262; Arch. Mus., Edm 1856, 18, 23, 47; and Journal
Brit. Arch. Asso., 1852, Pl. 37, 1859, Pl. 24.)

Fig. 5 is an example of another bronze implement, of frequent
occurrence, known by the name of the socket or pot-celt. It
was discovered, like many other articles in Mr Sim’s Collection,
at Hangingshaw, in Culter parish, and is 4} inches long. It is
ornamented on the side with the tridental marks, which are
very common in this type of weapon, and is precisely similar to
many specimens found in the north of England In several
instances, the moulds from which these celts were cast have been
found in barrows and cairns in connection with sepulchral re-
maing. There has been much discussion as to the manner in
which they were used, but the most prevalent opinion among
archaologists is that they were employed as ferrules on the
butt of the shafts, to the points of which the spear-heads,
above described, were fixed 'This idea chiefly rests on the
fact that, in most of the great discoveries where a number
of weapons were found in one locality, these spear-heads and
celts were always met with in conjunction, as at Alderney,
(Journal Brit. Arch. Association, II1., 9); Cuerdale, Lanca-
shire (Do., VIII, 332); Marden in Kent (Do, XIV., 259);
Winmarley, Lancashire (Do, XV, 235 and IX., 185);
Holderness in Yorkshire (Archaologia, XVII, 329); and
Rayne in Essex (Gent’s Mag., March, 1844, 299); but,
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above all, on the discovery in Anglesea of a long hone-stone,
on the sides of which were cut moulds for both. It is further
supported by the fact that iron ferrules of an analogous form
are frequently seen on spear shafts, both from eastern and west-
ern Africa. The purpose subserved by the loops, so often met
with in both these types of weapon, is a more difficult question.
They may have been used to secure, with the aid of thongs, the
blade and ferrule more securely to the shaft, or they may have
been the attachment of a sling or of a cord for propelling the
lance, as the Greeks and Romans did their javelins, by means of
the amentum, and in the manner the natives of New Caledonia
still do, by a ring attached to the top of their spears, but the
small size of the loops militates against the latter of these ideas;
or, finally, they may have been employed as points of suspension
for balls filled with pieces of metal, or other instruments, for
producing a rattling noise, and distracting the attention of the
enemy, on the same principle as the ancient Greeks carried
bells in the hollow of their shields (Meyrick’s Costume of the
Original Inhabitants of the British Islands, p. 17). This last
view derives some confirmation from the discovery, at Tadcaster
in Yorkshire, of a celt, now in the British Museum, which had a
large ring passed through the loop, upon which was a bead
(Archeeologia, X VI, Pl 54).

Figs. 6 are examples of what the late Sir Samuel Meyrick
designated dentated rings, and supposed to have been the ferrules
attached to the whirling arm of a military flail. They may,
however, have been placed in the same way on the end of a
staff, club, or mace. Although they have been found in several
localities, both in Scotland, England, and Ireland, they are of
comparative rarity. Specimens have also been discovered in
Italy, and are frequently met with in continental collections.
Their form appears to have been suggested by the shell of the
murex; and we cannot assign them an earlier date than the
time of the Roman occupation, as characteristic of which period
they are enumerated by Dr Wilson (Pre-Htst. Ann., 393), where
an engraving of one is given; another, more adapted to a mace,
forms one of the illustrations, p. 44, of the Arch. Mus., Ed., 1856.
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PLATE VIIL

Fig 1 is a well-preserved specimen of a sepulchral urn,
measuring 6 inches in height, by 5 in diameter at the mouth, and
3} at the bottom. It was found under a cairn in the camp or
enclosure No. 5 (see preceding paper, p. 11, and PL IL, Fig. 4),
along with the bronze armulet, Fig 2, and the spear-head, Pl.
VIL Fig. 3. 1t is kiln-baked and lathe-turned, but rude in cha-
racter. The paste of which it is composed is coarse, the clay
being mixed with grit or small angular stones. It is orna-
mented with a herring-bone pattern, and when found was full
of calcined bones. A number of urns, very similar in form and
ornamentation, but of a finer material, were found in Lanark
muir about two or three years ago. Similar examples have been
discovered in Ireland and the north of England, while among
the numerous instances of sepulchral urns found in Scotland,
there are many which, both in shape and character, approach
more or less to the present example (Pre-Hist. Ann., 283, 287,
and Cat. Arch. Mus, Edin., p. 11).

The armulet found with this urn is perhaps the finest speci-
men of this type of personal ornament which can be met with
in any collection or museum. Its external diameter is 3 inches,
its internal 2%, while its thickness is nearly half an inch. The
patina with which the operation of time has encrusted it is so
deep, so hard, and perfect, and at the same time so highly
polished, that many would, at first sight, doubt that it was really
composed. of bronze. Two bronze penannular rings, found near
8tobo Castle, Peeblesshire, were exhibited at the Archeeological
Museum, Edinburgh, in 1856 (Cat. Arch. Mus., p. 23), but they
fall far short of the present example in beauty. Armulets of this
simple form are not very commonly met with in bronze.

Figs. 3 and 4 present two views of another sepulchral urn,
found below a tumulus at Cauldchapel, in the parish of Laming-
ton, not far from the camp in which the early javelin-head,
already noticed, was dug up. It is of a singularly small size,
being only 23 inches in height by 2} in diameter, but when dis-
covered was full of calcined human bones. The paste of which
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it is formed is much finer than that used in Fig. 1, the clay
being mixed with fine washed sand instead of grit, approaching
in this respect some specimens of Roman pottery. It has been
turned on a lathe and kiln-dried, and has two singular perfora-
tions on one of its sides, as if it, and others of the same make,
had been hung upon a string, either to dry or to keep them
ready for use when required. It is said that several other urns
were found at the same place. and time as that now engraved,
but the type is a rare one; we only know of two analogous ex-
amples found in Scotland, and in these we have not all the same
particular characteristics, viz.:—an urn, from Greenlaw, estate of
Kinnaird, Forfarshire, measuring 2} inches in length by 2§ in
diameter, engraved in the Arch. Mus., Edin., 1856, p. 11; and
another, found with larger urns at Banchory, and figured in the
Pre-Hist. Ann., p. 283, without any note of its exact size. The
example before us is also still more remarkable, from the cross-
shaped ornament on its bottom. This, however, has not neces-
sarily any connection with Christianity. It is almost needless
to remind our readers that these sepulchral urns are, in this
island, found of all dates, from the earliest period till long after
it was abandoned by the Romans. From the distinctive features
of the two examples here engraved, we have, however, no hesi-
tation in assigning them to that period of British history which
immediately preceded the invasion of the legions.

Fig. 5 is an annular bead of amber, and Fig. 6 a cylindrical
one of jet, discovered on Bizzyberry hill, parish of Biggar.
Personal ornaments of both these substances, and also of glass,
but varying in shape, are continually found, both in Great
Britain and Ireland, deposited with the remains of their owners
in cairns and barrows, erected not only during the early British
period but also in those of the Romans and the Saxons. A jet
button of this class was found in 1850 at Crawford moor, near
Carstairs, and is engraved (Pre-Hist. Ann., 295; Arch. Mus.,
Edin., 1856, 22).

Figs. 7 and 8 are specimens of the whorles, or thworles, of
ancient spindles, made of stone. Numerous examples of these
have been met with, not only in Scotland, but also in Eungland
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and Ireland, in connection with other reliques of all the succes-
sive nations by which the country was occupied. In some cases
it is, however, possible that the smaller specimens may have been
portions of a rude necklace, although the fact that in no instance
has a complete ornament of this character been found, militates
against this idea. The examples here figured were picked up in
the parishes of Biggar and Culter. On the subject of these
whorles, the reader may consult the Pre-Hust. Ann., p. 137, and
Journal Brit. Arch. Asso., 1859, 306.

PLATE IX

Fig. 1 is a bronze armulet of a shape frequently used by the
Romans. It was discovered in the parish of Covington, but,
unfortuately, has been injured by being violently compressed, so
that it is now considerably smaller in diameter than it was in
its original form.

Fig. 2, a harp-shaped fibula, found on the farm of the Bank,
is also of Roman manufacture. Fibul® of this form are
not unfrequently met with. Gordon, (Septentrionale, Pl L.
Figs. 9 and 10,) gives representations of two from the Pennicuik
collection. One preserved in the Andersonian Museum is figured
in Stewart’s Caledonia Romana, while another from the great
walled station of Silchester, or Segontium, in Hampshire, is
noticed in the Journal Brit. Assoc., 1860, p. 94.

Along with this brooch was found the most curious and interest-
ing bronze figure, Fig 3. Similar small representations of bulls
are met with in collections of Egyptian antiquities, and others
have been found in the old Etruscan tombs, as, for instance, in
one opened a few years ago at Canino. To the latter nation, or
possibly to a very early period of Roman art, the present ex-
ample may be referred. It was undoubtedly lost by one of the
legionary soldiers; but even in the time of Agricola it must have
been a prized relique of hoar antiquity, which its owner valued
80 highly as to bring it with him from the sunny Italy to the

stormy Caledonia.
F
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Figs. 4, 5, and 6 are annular bronze fibule, of a much later date,
found near Culter. The peculiar serpent or dragon-form which
their ornamentation assumes, is strongly similar to that in the
illuminations and initial letters of many Saxon and Scottish MSS.
of the twelfth century, as, for instance, in the great charter granted
by Malcolm the Maiden to Kelso, and engraved as a frontispiece
to the first volume of the Bannatyne edition of “Liber S. Marie
de Calchou” As we continually find a marked and striking re-
semblance to exist between the personal ornaments and the MS.
or sculptured embellishments of any given historical period, we
will, in all probability, not err greatly if we assign the twelfth,
or perhaps the latter part of the eleventh, century as the date
when these brooches were manufactured On the most perfect
of them certain marks or letters have been incised, which ap-
peared to bear every resemblance to what are known as Runic
characters; but on their being submitted by the British Archee-
ological Association to the Rev. Daniel Haigh, the greatest
living authority on these alphabets, he replied—‘These inscrip-
tions are not in Runes, but in a character which I have observed
on some other objects, and in particular, I think, upon a ring
in the museum at Newcastle. As such they are beyond my
powers.”

PLATE X.

Figs. 1 and 2 are two views of a most rare and curious relique
of the superstition of the Middle Ages. At first sight it might
be mistaken for the mouth-piece of a flute, call or whistle, but
in reality is a small shrine or feretrum, in which the reliques
of some ancient saint were deposited. The metal of which it is
composed is latten. When perfect it represented the sleeve of a
sacerdotal vest. The cuff, which slopes off, is provided with
broad socket bands, which were once filled with coloured
enamels. The sides and back are constructed of seven perpen-
dicular strips, the ends of which are folded over and rivetted.
The top was no doubt covered with a little hand, which seems
to have moved on a hinge which crossed the aperture in the
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cii The front, which is now greatly broken, was probably
set with glass, through which the reliques could be viewed.
It stands about 4§ inches high by about 2 in diameter at the
base, and was found at a place called the Graves, in the parish
of Culter, where tradition avers that a great battle was fought.
Only two other examples are known of brachiform feretra or
arm-shaped reliquaries. One is the famous shrine of St Olaf,
preserved in the Copenhagen Museum, which contains the arm-
bone of the Royal Martyr. It is, however, of much larger di-
mensions, measuring 17} inches in length by 9 in diameter. It
is made of gilt metal, decorated with enamel, and set with a
crystal hemisphere. A silver hand originally covered the end of
the bone, but it is now lost, nothing remaining but the sleeve
portion of the shrine, the ornaments of which indicate that it is
a work of the close of the thirteenth century (Jacobous Muse-
um Regium, Pl. X1V. Fig.7; Worse. Afbildninger, Pl. I11.)
The other is that which contained the holy hand of St Patrick,
the Apostle of Ireland. It was deposited in Down Abbey dur-
ing the year 1186, and, after many vicissitudes, ultimately came
into the possession of Dr Denvir, R. C. Bishop of Down and
Connor. It is engraved in the Gent.’s Mag., Dec., 1856, p. 585.
From the small size of the Culter shrine it probably was
the receptacle of a portion only of the arm, or it might be
a finger; but even a single joint of the latter would be suffi-
cient to justify the adoption of the brachiform shape as in-
dicating the nature of the enclosed relique. The circumstance
of it being found in an open field, especially if that was
the site of a battle, is explained by its having been the
custom in medizeval times for armies to carry saintly reliques
with them, in the belief that success might be insured by such
holy aid. Thus, in 1315, King Edward Bruce carried off the
above-mentioned shrine of St Patrick and employed it as his
standard; and Leslie tells us (L. VII.) that his brother, King
Robert, was possessed of the miraculous and luminous arm of
St Fillan, which he had enclosed in a silver shrine and carried at
the head of his army. In the confusion of a battle, and still
more of a defeat, we can easily conceive that a shrine of so
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small a size as that of the Culter specimen might be lost, and
pressed into the ground by the feet of the combatants, and thus
have lain for ages undiscovered.

Fig. 3 is a rudely-shaped iron hammer, found within the walls
of Fatlips Castle, in the parish of Symington. It is 5 inches
long, and pierced with two perforations to receive a double-
headed shaft. It is most probably a military weapon of the
same class as the French martel. From its appearance it is
evidently of a very early date.

Figs. 4 and 5 represent the obverse and reverse of the silver
pommel of a dagger exhumed in the parish of Culter. It is
circular, 1§ inches in dismeter and nearly § in thickness. The
edge is reeded. Its obverse is decorated by a shield, with a
lion rampant; the reverse, with a sun or star, of twelve major
and twelve minor rays; both devices being surrounded by a
border composed of twelve loops, enclosing trefoils or fleurs-de-lis.
These borders, coupled with the form of the shield, fix the date
of this pommel to the fourteenth century, during which, and the
following one, heraldric bearings are seen on the pommels of
both swords and daggers. The arms and cognizance are assur-
edly not fanciful, but those actually carried by some knight of
the period. There is no tressure on the shield, and the tuft at
the end of the lion’s tail is turned inward towards the body,
instead of outwards as in the Royal Arms of Scotland. Lions
rampant, with this peculiarity, are, however, of frequent occur-
rence in Scotch heraldry, so that it is impossible to assign them
with certainty to any particular family, although they have been
thought to refer chiefly to those of Bruce and Dundas. The device
on the reverse resembles a badge of Edward IV. of England,
but has nothing to do with that monarch. It may be the sun
or star, supported by an arm, which forms the crest of certain
branches of Dundas, or that in the blazon of the ancient family
of De la Haye.

Figs. 6 and 7 show two sides of a small bell, of the class
which formerly were suspended from the bridles and collars of
horses. The letters upon it are most probably the initials of
the maker, employed as a trade mark.
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PLATE XI.

Is a group of various articles, belonging to different histori-
cal periods. Figs. 1, 2, 3, and 4 are variously shaped bronze
caldrons, found respectively at Pyet Knoll, in the parish of Cul-
ter; on the line of the Roman road, in the same parish; near
Liberton Church; and in Biggar moss. This class of vessels has
generally been described as camp-kettles, and assigned to the
Romans. There are, however, considerable reasons for doubting
the latter part of this:—I1st. Although met with frequently in
the vicinity of the Roman Iters, they have never been discovered
in any of the large hoards of Roman weapons which have been
disinterred. 2d. No examples of this type of vessel occur
among the representations of implements, etc., engraved upon
Roman altars and monuments. 3d. In some cases, caldrons of
this shape bear inscriptions in mediseval characters (Pre-Hast.
Ann, 277). The metal of which they are composed is much
superior to modern bronze, but scarcely equal to that employed
by the Romans.

Fig. 5 is an ewer of a tripod form, discovered near Walston
Church. Similar vessels have been frequently found in Scotland,
in Northumberland, and other localities; and have been often,
on no sufficient grounds, ascribed to the Romans. Their metal
is inferior to that of the camp-kettles, and some of them like-
wise have engraved on them mottoes in the Flemish and French
of the Middle Ages (Arch. Mus., Edin., 1856, pp. 65, 66).

Fig. 6 is a flagon, in latten, discovered at Loanhead, in the
parish of Lamington. An example, precisely similar, is en-
graved in the Dublin Penny Journal, 184, but no description
is given, and no mention is made of the place where it was found.
The specimen here engraved may be of the thirteenth, but more
probably belongs to the fourteenth or fifteenth century. Mr
Cosmo Innes, in his “Scotland in the Middle Ages,” enumerates
among the importations from Germany and Holland, by an
Aberdeen merchant, during the years from 1493 to 1503,
several instances of a number of brass and latten vessels.

Fig. 7 is a copper stirrup of simple form and small size, found
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in the parish of Culter. Similar stirrups, plated with gold, as
was probably also the case in the present example, have been
discovered in Denmark and other parts of the north of Europe, .
mingled with iron implements.

Fig. 8 is an iron spur, with a six-point rowel, dug up in Dum-
friesshire, but close to the boundary of the county of Lanark,
at the head of Douglas Water. Similar spurs were worn in
England about the close of the reign of Henry V. and the com-
mencement of that of his successor, 1410-1440. The fashion
was most probably not adopted in Scotland till a few years
later.

Fig. 9 is part of a bridle-bit found at the same place.

Figs. 10 and 11 are two examples of the cleddyo, or leaf-
shaped sword. They are of bronze, and are respectively 23§
and 20} inches long. The latter has been broken in four places
and repaired. Two similar swords, found at Carinn, on the
Roman Wall, and near Irving, are engraved by Gordon (Septen-
trionale, Pl. LI. Figs. 2 and 3). Two other specimens were
found on Arthur Seat (Pre-Hist. Ann., 228), and others have
been discovered elsewhere in Scotland. In Ireland they are of
frequent occurrence. In England they have been found in the
Thames, in Suffolk, Dorset, Lincoln, and Yorkshire, also in the
island of Alderney (Journal Brit. Arch. Asso., ITI. 9; X1I.263;
1858, 328; 1859, 228). Weapons of similar form are found
represented in the vases discovered in Etruscan tombs at Vulci
and elsewhere (Archaologia, XXXII., Plates 1X., X., X1.)

PLATE XIL

We have here engraved two magnificent specimens of the ele-
gant gold ornaments worn by our ancestors. Fig. 1 is a cres-
cent-formed ornament, cut from a thin plate of that metal At
its greatest breadth it measures 13 inches. It is ornamented
with faint lines and small depressions, and its ends are termi-
nated by two circular discs. Similar ornaments have been
frequently discovered in Ireland; one of these has been engraved
in the Archeologia, I1. 86, Pl. 11, and another of much larger
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dimensions in vol. vii, p. 106, measuring no less than 4 inches
in breadth, while the terminal discs are 3 inches in diameter.
It weighed exactly twenty-two guineas. Some have conjectured
them to be the diadem of queens; and Meyrick, in his Costume
of the Original Inhabitints of the British Islands, Pl. VII,
places one a3 a tiara on the head of a Druid An attentive
examination of their form must, however, convince every one
that this idea is erroneous, that they could never have been
employed as a head-dress, and that those were right who, like
Lord Chancellor Newport, Pococke Bishop of Meath, and Colo-
nel Vallancy, consider them to be collars or breast-plates. The
latter, in describing the large specimen above referred to, desig-
nates it a Jodhan Morain, and adds, “Keating says it was a
chain, or collar, or breast-plate, worn on the neck of the judge
on the bench, and would close and choke him if he gave a wrong
judgment, and was so called from Moran, a great judge in
Ireland. My surprise was great when I found in Buxtorf that
Jodhan Morain was the Chaldee name of the Urim and Thumim.”
On this we may remark that the attempt to trace Irish words
to Hebrew and Chaldean roots has been long abardoned by all
sound archeeologists, and that there is abundant evidence that
the use of these torques was not confined to those who officiated
as judges, but extended to every chief of note. Indeed, we
shall immediately see that they were worn by no less than three
hundred persons in a portion of a single army. They seem
to have borne a great resemblance to the gorget, which, until
a few years ago, distinguished the officer in the British
army, although the form of the latter was derived from
the armour of the Middle Ages. Colonel Vallancy also ob-
serves “that it was hung by a gold chain, and worn on
the breast.” This, however, seems hardly consistent with the
fact that no specimen has ever been discovered with any por-
tion of such a chain attached to it. It may, however, have
been suspended by a ligature of a more perishable material, but
it appears more probable that it was fixed on the upper part of
the breast-plate or cuirass, which wouid also account for the
extreme thinness of these collars generally.
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Fig. 2 is a twisted circlet, the ends of which are joined by
two hooks. Similar ornaments have been found in various
localities in Scotland, from Caithness to Galloway» One ex-
ample, from Largo in Fife, is engraved in the Pre-Hist. Ann.,
321, and another from the Moor of Rannoch, in Perthshire,
in Arch. Mus, Edin., 1856, p. 85. The size of these circ-
lets—that before us measuring only 4 inches in diameter when
clasped—has led to their being generally described as armille
or bracelets. The truth of this may, however, be doubted.
Neither their peculiar shape, with its sharp edges, nor the
hooked clasp, appear at all adapted to a comparatively close-
fitting ornament like a bracelet. On the whole, we are in-
clined to think that this, like the preceding, was worn as a
collar or ornament for the neck. At first their size would ap-
pear to militate against this idea; but, if they are too small for
the neck, they are, on the other hand, too large to be used as an
armlet; and the objection at once disappears when we recollect
that there is no reason to suppose that they were worn clasped.
In fact, most of them appear to have been open when dis-
covered. If we unhook them and allow them to expand, we
will find that they can be easily fitted to the neck, the interval
or vacancy between the hooks being filled up with a thong
of leather or a ligature of some fibrous substance, which has
perished through time, as indeed must have been the case with
those of the flat shape already described, if suspended. The
age of these collars of gold has been a matter of great dispute.
They have been attributed to the aboriginal Britons, and that
tgnis fatuus of the antiquaries of last century, the Druids;
while another favourite theory assigns them a Danish or Scan-
dinavian origin. This, however, has been ably disproved by
Dr Wilson in the Pre-Hvst. Ann., 321; but that learned author
appears to ascribe to them a much too early date. There is a
period which, strangely enough, is continually overlooked by
archaeologists, viz., that which in England is styled the Romano-
British, extending from the time when the legions were with-
drawn to the establishment of the heptarchy. This period was
of longer duration in some parts of the island than in others,
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and in Scotland lasted till considerably after the middle of the
seventh century. Now, it is in this epoch of our history, and in
it alone, that we hear of collars of gold being extensively worn.
Ceesar, Diodorus, and Tacitus, make no allusion to such orna-
ments in their accounts of the pre-Roman inhabitants of Britain.
When we come to treat of the gold mines of the Upper Ward
we shall have occasion to point out reasons which render it
extremely improbable that the Romans were acquainted with
the auriferous richness of the district. Yet such ignorance
would be impossible if they had found the native chiefs gene-
rally adorned with collars of that metal In the Romano-
British period, however, not only do we find numerous notices
of these ornaments, but frequent intimations of their being
universally used. Thus, for instance, Lywarch h’enn, the
relative and bard of Urien, King of Reghed (Berwickshire),
who flourished towards the close of the sixth century, boasts,
“I had twenty-four sons wearing the collar of gold and chiefs
in the army”” (Villemarqué Bardes Breton, 150); while Aneu-
rin, a native of the kingdom of Strathclyde, which included
Lanarkshire, sung about the year 650, how three hundred and
sixty-three warriors, wearing the collar of gold, went to fight
the Saxons at Kaltraez, where they were all slain but three.

The specimens in Mr Sim’s collection were found near the
borders of Coulter parish. Gold torques and collars are also
found differing in shape from both of these types, but belonging
to the same historic period. One of these was found at Car-
michael, and came into the possession of the late Lord Douglas.
They have been met with in several other Scottish localities and
in England A magnificent specimen, found in Needwood
Forest, is in the royal collection (Arch. Mus., Edin., 1856, 87).

G.V.L



THE HISTORY

OF THE

MINES AT LEADHILLS,

PARISH OF CRAWFORD.

THE first discovery of the gold and lead mines of this district is
hidden in the obscurity of past ages. We have no evidence to
show that they were known to the ancient Britons, or even to
the Romans. Indeed, the manner in which the latter nation
repeatedly abandoned the province makes it more than probable
that they were ignorant of its great mineral wealth. There
can be no doubt, however, that the Celtic tribes who occupied
the district in the sixth and seventh centuries possessed the
more precious metal in great abundance. The bards of that
age continually refer to it as one of the most liberal gifts
bestowed by their chieftains, both on themselves and others.
They describe the armour and horse furniture of their heroes
as profusely ornamented with it; and they inform wus that
the golden torque was worn by all the principal men of their
tribes, amounting to many hundred individuals in the case of
the more powerful septs. These torques are often of very great
weight and value, while their workmanship is of a high order.
Several most beautiful specimens of them are preserved in Mr
Sim’s Museum (see ante, p. 47). From this abundance of gold
it is probable that the auriferous resources of the country
were known in this epoch, but of this we have no direct proof.
Indeed, the first positive reference to the mineral wealth of the
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district occurs in the thirteenth century. In the accounts of
the Sheriff of Lanarkshire for the year 1264, there is an entry
—“Item, in carragio septem carrdt plumbi de Mora de
Crawford usque Rutherglen, 42s.” —[Chamberlain Rolls,
I.48] Previous to this, however, Sir David Lindsay of Craw-
ford had conveyed, in 1239, to the monks of Newbattle certain
lands in Crawford Muir, in the description of which mention is
made of a mine in Glengonar Water. This would appear to have
been sunk for lead, as, in 1466, James, Lord Hamilton, who
then held part of the adjoining barony of Crawfordjohn, was
prosecuted by Patrick, the Abbot of Newbattle, before the Lord
Auditors in Parliament, for the spoliation of 1000 stones of
lead-ore, which he had carried off from the Abbey Lands in
Friar or Crawford Muir, and was ordered to restore the same;
while, in 1467, David, Earl of Crawford, granted a charter of
resignation, in favour of the Abbot, of the lands conveyed by his
ancestors, which specially includes “the mines and lead-pit.”
In the “ Descriptio Regionum et Insularum Scotiae,” by Leslie,
Bishop of Ross, it is stated that the gold mines of Crawford
Muir were discovered in the reign of James IV., and there can
be no doubt that it is in the accounts of the treasurer of that
monarch that we first meet with authentic proofs of their exis-
tence. In the years 1511, 12, and 13, a number of payments
are entered as made to Sir James Pettigrew, and the men
employed by him in working the gold mine at Crawford Muir.
The disastrous defeat of Flodden, and the death of the King,
broke up this establishment, but its previous success must have
been considerable, for we find that the attention of the Queen
Regent was directed to its revival, at the earliest period when
we can suppose tranquillity to have been restored. This is
proved by the following entry in the accounts of James, Bishop
of Murray, the treasurer, about 1515:—Item, deliverit to my
Lord Postulate of the Yles, for to pas to Crawfurd Mure, and
thare to set workmen and mak ordinances for the gold myne, to
gud compt. in ane hundreth crownes of wecht xxxx. i’ From
the correspondence of Wharton, the English Lord Warden of
the Marches, preserved in the State Papers, we learn that these
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mining operations were continued profitably under the Regent
Albany. In July, 1526, when the King was under the power
of the Earl of Angus, a lease of the mines was granted to certain
Germans, and they were permitted, in consequence of a heavy
bribe, which probably went into the coffers of that ambitious
nobleman, to contravene the bullion laws of the kingdom, and
export the ore to their own country to be refined. Their pos-
session does not appear to have continued long. Multos menses,
is the expression of Bishop Leslie in his work “De Rebus Gestio
Scotorum,” and it is probable that James V. resumed the grant
when he escaped from the hands of the Douglases and attainted
the Earl of Angus; at all events, the works, after that period,
appear to have been carried on for behoof of the Crown.

At the marriage of the King with Magdalen of France, cups
filled with native gold were presented as specimens of Scotch
JSruit. There is, however, a tradition which assigns an earlier
date to this incident. It is said that James was hunting at the
castle of Crawford in company with the French ambassadors,
when they jeered at the barren appearance of the country; that
the King instantly wagered that it could produce richer fruits
than their own, and won, by introducing at the banquet covered
bowls filled with gold bonnet-pieces, as one of the most beautiful
of the Scotch coins is called. This is perhaps the most natural
version of the story, but the two are not necessarily inconsistent,
for it is very probable that, if the pleasantry was well received
on the first occasion, it would be repeated as an act of gallantry
to the royal bride; and we know that something similar was
done at a still later period by the Regent Morton. The subse-
quent marriage of the King with Mary of Lorraine, gave a fresh
impetus to his mining researches. The new Queen was scarcely
settled in Scotland before she procured, through her father, the
services of a body of workmen from her native duchy, then the
great mining district of France. In the treasurer’s accounts for
1539—40 there is a charge for interpreters to pass with the
French mynours till they learn the language. Owing to their
superior skill, very large returns were obtained. The different
books of the Royal Compotus are full of entries of payments
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made to them, and of the amount of gold received Among

these, the most interesting is that of the issue of gold of the

mine, in 1542, to form the Regalia; 35 ounces being devoted
to the Queen’s crown, and 3 pounds 10 ounces to that of the
King. In the same year 17 ounces were employed in making
an eke or addition to a great cheyne belonging to the King, and
194 ounces in forming a belt for the Queen, the workmanship
of which cost £15. It was set with a saphir, for which £5 was
charged. In the preceding year, one ounce, two unicorne, half
unicorne wecht of the gold of the mine was delivered to the royal
jeweller to garneis ane bairtuithe (coral) for my Lord Prince.
From these accounts we also learn that the value of this gold
was then £6 8s the ounce. The great prosperity of the mines
at this period is also testified by a curious MS. in the Cottonian
Collection, Otho. F. x, 12, unfortunately much injured by fire,
from which we learn that in some summers no less than 300
persons were employed in washing for gold, and that upwards
of £100,000 sterling had been collected.

During the minority of Queen Mary and the regency of the
Earl of Arran, the mines appear to have been neglected, but on
the assumption of that office by the Queen Dowager, they were
again revived, and miners brought from England, when the fol-
lowing entry occurs in the books of the treasurer:—*“For a
copper kettle sent to the English miners at Crawford Mure,
£3 1s; and also seven stones of lead to fine gold with.” This
apparently proves that the lead mines were not worked at that
time, otherwise there would have been no occasion to send
thither a quantity of that metal After the return of Queen
Mary to Scotland, we find two grants of the lead mines. The
first, dated 23d January, 1562, is in favour Johne Achisone and
Johne Aslowane, burges of Edinburgh, and permits them “to
wirk and wyn in the lead mynes of Glengoner and Wenlock,”
and to transport the ore to Flanders, that the silver may be
there extracted; paying to the Queen “fourtie-five unce of uter
fyne silver for every thousand stane wecht of lead.” The second
grants license, for the space of five years, “to John, Earl of
Atholl, to cause wyn fourtty thousand trone stane wecht of lead
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in the nether leid hoill of Glengonare and Wenlock,” and is
dated 26th August, 1565.

The intimate connection which subsisted between the Scottish
Regents and Queen Elizabeth, during the minority of James VL,
appears to have led English capitalists to direct their attention
to the mines of the former kingdom. Cornelius de Voss, a
Dutch artist, “a most cunninge pictur maker, and excellent in the
triall of minerals,” entered into a partnership with Mr Nicholas
Hilliard, a goldsmith, who was also an artist, and became
“principal drawer of small portraits, and embosser of our medals
of gold,” to King James, after his accession to the throne of
England, and other merchants in London, with the view of
searching for gold in Scotland. Having received letters from
Elizabeth, Cornelius came to Edinburgh and obtained a license
from the Regent Murray. He then went to Leadhills and found
gold, in consequence of which he enlarged the concern, and
introduced some Scotch partners, most probably with the view
of gaining favour in high places and obtaining a relaxation of
the bullion laws, which prohibited the export of the precious
metals, except for the payment of imports and the needful ex-
penses of travel, without which he could make no remittances to
his London associates. The bribe, however, was a heavy one,
for, under the new arrangement, the Earl of Morton had 10
parts; Mr Robert Ballantine (then secretary), 10 parts; Abra-
ham Paterson, a Dutchman of Edinburgh, 10 parts; James
Reade, a burgess of Edinburgh, 5 parts; and Cornelius and his
English friends, 10 parts. The Abraham Paterson here men-
tioned appears to have been identical with a Dutchman, Abra-
ham Greybeard, who was connected with the Earl of Morton
in procuring gold from Crawford Muir, out of which “a faire
deepe bason, conteynand, by estimation, within the brymes
thereof an English gallon of liquor, was made by a Scotchman,
in Cannegate Street, att Edenborough,” which, being filled with
the gold coin called unicorns, was presented by the Earl to the
French King, with the statement that it was the produce of
Scotland, “where that metal does increase and engender within
the earth, out of the two elements fire and water.”



HISTORY OF THE MINES AT LEADHILLS. 53

Soon after Morton became Regent, in 1572, Cornelius re-
turned to London, and assigned his privileges to Arnold Bronk-
hurst (another Dutch painter, who, in 1580, executed two
portraits of the King and one of Mr George Buchanan) under the
condition that the proceeds should be transmitted to him and
his friends in London; but Morton now saw no reason for re-
laxing the bullion laws, and refused all the applications of
Bronkhurst for confirmation of the assignment until the latter
became a sworn servant of the King of Scotland, whereby the
English partners were deprived of all profit from the concern.
He does not, however, appear to have met with much success,
for in 1583, the King, considering that the mines have decayed
by the “non putting of men of knowledge and judgement to the
inventing and seiken of the samen,” grants the “haill golden,
silver, copper, tin, and leidin mynes, within this realme of
Scotland, to Eustachius Roche, Medicinar” (a Fleming), and
his partners, for the space of twenty-one years. This was
confirmed by Parliament in the following year, under a num-
ber of minute and curious conditions. The adventure, however,
proved a failuree We learn from the records of the Privy
Council that, in December, 1585, Roche was already in diffi-
culties, from the backwardness of his partners in fulfilling their
engagements, and the dishonesty of his foreman. His privilege
was finally put an end to by Act of Parliament in the year 1592.
‘This statute proceeds on the following quaint and amusing nar-
rative:—* That the said inconveniences has ensued by reason our
said Sovereign Lord and his most noble progenitors was in use
commonly to let the said hail mines within their dominions to one
or two strangers, for an small duty, who neither had substance
to cause labour or work the hundreth part of any one of the said
mines, nor yet instructed other leiges in this realme in the
knowledge thereof; which is more than notour be the doings of
the present tacksman of the mines, who neither works presently,
nor has wrocht these many years bypast, nor ever has searched,
sought, nor discoverit any new metald since his entry, nor has
instructed any of the leiges of the county in that knowledge;
and which 18 most inconvenient of all, has made no sufficient
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payment of the duty to our Sovereign Lord’s thesaurer.” The
Act then proceeds to create the office of a master of the metals,
whose duty it should be to further the King’s commodity therein,
and enacts regulations for the prosecution of the works, and the
granting of mining privileges.

Although the grant to Roche conveys the whole mines in the
kingdom, it appears that from this there were in reality various
exceptions. Two of these related to the Leadhills district.
George Douglas of Parkhead, in Douglas Water, was, along with
his sons James and George, forfeited in 1581, and his lands
annexed to the Crown in 1584. They took refuge in the north
of England, where there were extensive lead mines; from seeing
which, George Douglas, the younger, acquired considerable
knowledge in the art of working them. On the reversal of his
attainder in 1585, he hastened to profit by the skill he had ob-
tained, by applying it to the metallic treasures of his native dis-
trict. He appears to have been successful in finding a quantity
of gold in the valley of the Shortcleuch, but was unfortunately
killed by an accident. This occurrence is thus related by a
contemporary writer:—“George Parkhead was slaine with the
fall of the bray after a great weete; and was found three days
after that, and had good store of gold about him; and he was
before accounted alwayes a poore man, but he was burried
better than any of his kindred had bin of long time before.”
Thomas Foulis, goldsmith in Edinburgh, also appears to have at
this time possessed mines at Leadhills, and to have been the
most successful adventurer in the district, or indeed in Scotland.
These mines have been worked by his successors to the present
day, and have always yielded large profits. His privileges and
rights are mentioned in the Act of 1592, and specially exempted
from the operation of that enactment. He appears, however, to
have been engaged in the Leadhills mines at a much earlier
date. Among the Lansdowne MSS. there is preserved a letter
from Gavin Smith, a mining engineer, to Lord Burghley, dated
1578, in which it is mentioned that, two years previous, Foulis
had paid a visit to the north of England for the purpose of se-
curing the services of some person skilled in mining operations;
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that he had first applied to Smith, but had finally entered into
an agreement with Mr Bevis Bulmer, who was, at the date of
the letter, engaged with Foulis in working a most profitable lead
mine in Scotland This Bulmer was a person of some note in
his day. His pupil, Atkinson, and the records of the city of
London, both designate him an “ingenious gentleman.” His
career is most curious, and acquaints us with the existence of
mining speculations so enormous that we can scarcely credit the
fact of their having been undertaken at so early a period He
appears to have descended from the great Yorkshire family of
the same name, though he is not mentioned in the pedigrees of
it in the British Museum. In early life he was connected with
the mines in the north of England, from which he was induced
by Foulis to proceed to those at Leadhills The latter appears
to have been fully impressed with the truth of the Spanish pro-
verb, that he who works a gold mine becomes poor, while he who
possesses a copper one acquires & fortune, and confined himself
entirely to the search for lead The dazzling pursuit of the
richer metals had, however, an irresistible attraction for the more
speculative disposition of Bulmer. Accordingly, we find that,
having obtained letters of recommendation from Elizabeth, he
procured a patent from the Scotch Government, “to adventure
aud search for gold and silver mines” at Leadhills. He would
seem at first to have been very successful, but with this he was
not content, his restless character leading him to embark in
other adventures. He returned to England, and presented to
the Queen a porringer of Scoteh gold, with the poesy—
¢ dare not give nor yet present,

But render part of that’s thy owne;

My mind and hart shall still invent

To seeke out treasure yet unknowne.”
Elizabeth was much gratified with this, made him one of her
sworn servants, and gave him in farm the duty on sea-borne
coals. His management of this led to great complaints from the
merchants of Newcastle, and having trusted too much to his
deputies, he was deprived of his office for non-payment of the

rent reserved by the Crown. In 1587 we find him engaged in
H
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working the lead mines at Mendip, in Somersetshire. About
this time the silver lead mine at Combe-Martyn, in Devonshire,
was discovered. Bulmer instantly rode over to inspect it, and
immediately embarked in that speculation, which, for some years,
proved most successful, each partner clearing £1000 per annum.
When it was wrought out he came up to London, and erected
an engine at Broken Wharf, to supply the west part of the city
of London with water, which was conveyed to the houses in lead
pipes. On the 26th of October in the same year, 1594, he pre-
sented to Sir Richard Martine, the Master of the Mint, then
Lord Mayor, a cup made out of the last cake of silver got at
Combe-Martyn. The gift is thus recorded in the Repertory of
the Court of Aldermen:—“This day Bevis Bulmer freely gave
unto the Lord Mayor, communality, and citizens of this city,
one standing cup with a cover, made all of English silver,
weighing 131 ounces, 11 ounces 17 pennyweights fyne in good-
ness by the assay, which silver grew at Combe-Martyn, in
Devonshire, and was taken out of the earth sithwise the 1st of
Avugust last.”” Atkinson has also left us a description of this
cup. “It was made by one Mr Medley, a goldsmith, in Foster
Lane, with Mr Bulmer’s picture engraved thereon, with these
verses annexed :—

¢ When water works at Broken Wharf

At first erected were,

And Bevis Bulmer by his arte
The water 'gan to rear,

Dispersed I in earth did lye,
From all beginning ould, )

In place called Combe, where Martyn long
Had hid me in his moulde.

I did no service on the earth,
Nor no man sett me free,

Till Bulmer by his arte and skill
Did frame me thus to be.'”

It is lucky that this description has been preserved, as one of
the worshipful Lord Mayors has had this fine old cup melted and
manufactured into one double and two single quart pots. After
this Bulmer engaged in some Irish mines, the produce of which
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was refined at his works in Devonshiree. When King James
came to London after his accession, he sent for Mr Bulmer, and
after discoursing long and learnedly on the mines of the king-
dom, opened to.him “a plott” for their working, which was cer-
tainly most characteristic of the British Solomon, viz., that
twenty-four gentlemen should be moved to advance each £300
for this purpose, “in consideration of which disbursement each
man was to have the honour of knighthood, and be for ever
ealled 8 Knyht of the Golden Mynes or a Golden Knyht.” This
notable scheme was, however, defeated by the opposition of the
Earl of Salisbury; but Bulmer was knighted, and, returning to
Leadhills, resumed his operations. He was there when the silver
vein at Hilderston in Linlithgowshire was discovered. With his
usual versatility, he removed thither, and for some time managed
the mine on behalf of the King. He died in 1613 at Alston
Muir, in Cumberland, where there existed some years ago a
building, on which was recorded, in rude rhyme, that it was
erected by Sir Bevis Bulmer,

*“ Who won much wealth and mickle honour
In Shortcleuch Water and Glengonar.”

His pupil and suocessor, Atkinson, has left a full record of his
proceedings at Leadhills. On his first arrival he located himself
in Glengonar. Here he built himself a house, and purchased
the lands about it, where he kept a large stock of cattle and
sheep, and obtained a large quantity of gold. This house was
only taken down in the course of last century, and one of the
heights above it still bears the name of Bulmer. He then re-
moved his operations to the place known as the Gold Scours, on
the Shortcleuch Water, where he got as much gold “as would main-
tain three times as many men as he did keep royally.” Finally,
he erected a stamping-mill at the head of the Langcleuch Burn,
a tributary of the last-named stream, having found there “a
little string or vein powdered with small gold” In spite of his
manifold adventures he died poor, as we are quaintly told:—
“He had always many irons in the fire besides these which he
presently himself looked on, and often times intricate matters in
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hand to decyde, and too many prodigall wasters hanging on
every shoulder of him. And he wasted much himselfe, and gave
liberally to many for to be honoured, praised, and magnified,
else he might have been a rich subject, for the least of these
frugalities (?) were able to robb an abbott. By such synister
means he was empoverished, and following other idle, veniall
vices to his dying day, that were not allowable of God nor man;
and so once downe, aye downe; and at last he died in my debt
340£L starling, to my great hindrance.—God forgive us all our
sinnes.” How true a picture of the career of many a speculator
besides Sir Bevis! Atkinson, who had been employed by him
as a refiner in Devonshire and Ireland, and finally at Hilder-
stone, obtained from the Privy Council of Scotland, in 1616, a
license “to search for gold, and the Saxeer, the Calumeer, and
the Salyneer stones in Crawford Muir” In this, however, he
had little success, having been disappointed in obtaining some
acknowledgment from the King which he had been promised.
Under these circumstances he, in 1619, composed a treatise on the
gold mynes, in the hopes of exciting the interest of the royal
James; and “a dainty dish it was to set before the King,” ad-
mirably seasoned to his taste by allusions to David and Solomon,
by comparisons of the district, with its four streamlets, to Eden
and its rivers, “whereby it may be called a second garden,
though not so pleasant nor fruitful,” and by the relation of a
prophecy by two shipwrecked philosophers, in the reign of
Josina, King of Scotland, B.C. 160, that there would be a great
light and discovery of gold mines, when a King was borne
“having a privy signe, marke, or token upon his body, the like
unto none shall have” (King James was said to have the print
of a lion on his side), “who shall raigne, rule, and governe in
peace, and be supreme head of the Kirke, and a prince of mae
kingdoms then is Scotland.” This book, however, had not the
desired effect, and Atkinson, in despair, abandoned the gold
mines, which were let, in 1621, for twenty-one years, to John
Hendlie, a physician, who also failed in making anything of
them. From this date the search for gold, as an article of com-
merce, appears to have been abandoned, although small quan-
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tities continued to be obtained, even up to the present time, by
desultory and unauthorised washings, and sold as objects of
curiosity.

In striking contrast with the continuous failure of these
ambitious attempts to obtain the precious metals, is the steady
progress made by Thomas Foulis in his working for lead. His
success was 80 great that it enabled him to purchase the lands
in which his mines at Leadhills were situated. In 1594 he ob-
tained from Parliament a confirmation of his rights, in which it
is expressly declared that they include the mines lately possessed
by Douglas of Parkhead In June, 1597, he complained to the
Privy Council of the servants carrying his lead being beset by
“broken men of the bordures,” who robbed them of “horses’
armour, clothing, and their hail carriage.” A stringent pro-
clamation was issued to suppress these disorders. In October of
the same year he accused certain burgesses of Lanark and Glas-
gow of having possessed themselves by force of a quantity of
his lead on its road to Leith. They having alleged that they
were the lawful purchasers of the same, it was simply ordered
that they should restore what they had taken, or pay its value.
He appears to have carried on the works with the same success
till his death, which seems to have occurred about 1611. He was
succeeded in the lands of Glendorch, in the parish of Crawford-
john, by his brother David (Inquis. Spec., 3d November, 1612),
and in those of Leadhills, with the mines therein, by Robert
Foulis, advocate in Edinburgh, with whom his relationship is
not so clearly ascertained, although probably he was also a
brother. The Ilatter was succeeded, in 1633, by his two
daughters, Anne and Elizabeth. Elizabeth, however, having
died in 1637, Anne became sole heiress, and in the following
year married James Hope of Hopetoun. With this union a
little romance is connected. David Foulis, above mentioned, a
near relative of the young lady, had usurped her property during
her minority, which forced her to apply to the Court of Session
for redress. Mr Hope was her advocate, and the result was
that this talented lawyer gained not only the cause but the
affections of his client. Having thus acquired an interest in the
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mines, he applied himself to the attainment of skill in minera-
logy, and his endeavours were attended with such success that
he brought the art of mining to a perfection unknown before
that time in Scotland. In 1661 Parliament ratified a grant of
these mines, under the great seal, in favour of Sir James Hope
of Hopetoun, and Dame Anna Foulis, his spouse, which con-
tains some very curious clauses. 1st. The King takes the
miners employed under his special protection, and exempts them
from all taxes, both in peace and war; but this is not to extend
“to such proportion of excise for ale and beir brewed in the
house of the grantees as shall be payed by other heritors for the
ale and beir brewed in their houses.” 2d. Heavy penalties are
imposed on any person who attempts to seduce the workmen
from their employment, or fraudulently removes any materials,
lead or lead ore. No person is to be permitted to intromit with
the latter without a certificate from Sir James, and the officers
of customs are required to take “special notice of the shipping of
any such mettals or ore, and to record the quantities thereof,
. with the names of the pretended owners thairof, and vessells in
which the same are shipped. And in default of such wryting or
testificat, to make seasure thairof in name and for the use of the
the grantees.” Lastly, it is declared lawful for the grantees “to
cause mend and repare any whatsumever His Majestie’s wayes
leading from the saids mynes to any heid burgh or seaport
within this kingdome, or from any one heid burgh or seaport
unto another, by breaking doun of the heigh, filling up of the
hollow parts of the said wayes, calseying of the myres and lairs
therein, and makeing the same passible for carts, straight, plane,
and of competent breadth of twelff foots at least, according as
His Majestie’s hiewayes should be by the lawes and custome of
this realme, or of further breadth as the said hiewayes have been
pathed and used by His Majestie’s leidges in any tyme past.”—
(det Parl, VII, 361). From this period the mines have re-
mained in the possession of the Hopetoun family, and have been
worked with continued success; to such extent, indeed, that it
has been stated by a competent authority that the value of the
lead raised under one of the hills at Leadhills would be suffi-
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cient to pave its surface with guineas set on edge. The family
has also largely increased the property of Thomas Foulis by
subsequent purchases. For more than a century, however, it
has not worked the mines on its own account, but has leased
them to various companies, the partners of which were generally
connected with England. The history of these undertakings is
devoid of general interest. They are now reduced to two—the
Scotch Mines Company, which has been lucky in securing the
services of a saccession of most eminent men as their managers,
commencing with Mr Stirling, the famous mathematician, and is
now represented by William Geddes Borron, Esq.; and the Lead-
hills Company, originally consisting of a number of gentlemen
from the neighbourhood of Darlington, who have been sncceeded
by a Scotch company, presided over by William Mure, Esq. of
Leith. As the present state of these mines belongs to another
portion of this work, we may conclude this account with an
incident of rather an interesting character. About the close of
the last century, when Lord Hopetoun had become proprietor of
Qlendorch, one of the veins was followed through into these
lands. It was there found, in technical phrase, to carry the
astonishing and unprecedented width of 18 feet of pure galena.
Ome of the workmen employed in removing this most valuable
deposit, accidentally struck his pick against the wall of the
adit, when it broke through into an old working. This was
ascertained to form a portion of the works carried on by David
Foulis above mentioned, which were so unsuccessful that he
was ruined thereby. It now appeared that he had only missed
this vast treasure by the deviation of a few inches, while it was
discovered by the descendants of the orphan girl he had at-
tempted to defraud. A most striking instance of poetic justice.

G V.L
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thut of Moffat; then Tweedsmuir, in Peeblesshire; then a section
of Coulter parish overlaps that of Crawford. At Heatherstane-
hill the Wandell division of Lamington comes in. From this
point the houndary runs westward to the Clyde, reaching which
It ancondn tho right bank, till it reaches Glengonnar foot, where
It eronsen tho river, and still keeping west, it skirts the kindred
parish of Crawfordjohn, until the Wanlockhead section of San-
(uhar Intorvenos; it then bends sharply to the left, and passing
the anclont parish of Kirkbryde, now merged in Durrisdeer,
which takes up the lino south, when the parishes of Closeburn
and Morton bring back to Queensberry; showing the march line
of the most southern parish of Lanarkshire to be very great.
Novthward from Queensberry are Serjeant-Law, Louseywood-
Wi, Ganna or Wedderhill, Whiteside, Shieldod, Torrs, Earl-
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side, Scald-Law, Bellencleugh, Rodger-Law, Watchman’s Brae,
Durrisdeerhill, Wellhill, Comb-Law, Hitrail, Mossup, Campland,
Cairnhill, Winter-Cleugh-Fell, Brownkneeshill, Penstane, Earn-
stane, Laught, Kame, Five-Cairns-Louther, Moss-stake-Hill,
the Green Louther (3,150 feet), Shawhill, Earnshaw, Dun-
Law, Kneesend, Dodinhill, Tomont, Errickstane, Annan-head,
Greathill, Windgate, Glenease, Minehill, Dodhill, Broad-Law,
Wool-Law, Mount-Bulmer, Wells-headhill, Bodesberry, Tewsgill,
Romehill, Reevehill, Windgate-Bank, Coulter-Stane, and Comb-
Dod, are hills enough to entitle the parish of Crawford to be
designated the ‘Southern Highlands of Scotland;” yet the district
is neither ‘stern’ nor ‘wild,’ the hills being less ‘brown’ than
green; and as for the ‘shaggy woods,” where are they?

Crawford Moor is nearly treeless, if the fine timber and young
woods at Newton House, the few old trees at the castle, the single
row of bare firs around the old kirkyard, with the Colebrooke
plantations near Abington, and the trees adorning the mansion
of the manager’s house at Leadhills, and the older and better
class of homesteads be excepted; but as ‘shaw’ indicates where
wood has been, the Caledonian Forest may of old have clothed the
district, since Ellershaw, Earnshaw, Hawkshaw, Sweetshaw, and
Southwood, now designate well-known localities in the parish.

Greywacke and trap are the geological components of the hills;
and high as may be the pastures of Crawford, being, in many
Pplaces, upon rock, they are pretty dry, covered with herbs, sweet
grasses, and often with verdant turf As to the mineral trea-
sures, they are more fully noticed in the paper on Leadhills,
as given in this work. Lime has been found at Campshead, but
pays not the labour of working. Slate also has been produced
at Bodesberry, Glenochar, and at Troloss, and although at one
time in demand, cannot now compete with the imported Welsh.
At Campshead exists a spring which turns to stone the moss it
permeates; and at Troloss, wells out a stream the properties of
which resemble the famed Spa at Moffat. The basin of the
Clyde, as seen from Queensberry, the Louthers, Tinto, Coulterfell,
or Hartfell, appears to draw its drainage from numerous streams,

the course of which is generally from east or west, but due
I
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notice will, in geographical order, be taken, as these feeders of
the Clyde are found flowing down through the glens which
beautify the Upper Ward.

The mining industry of Leadhills excepted, the tending of
sheep, or the work of the farm, forms the chief employment of
the inhabitants—there being but one manufactory in the parish,
a Waulk Mill, near Glengonar Foot, and its entire requirements
are amply fulfilled by one man—the master.

The ancient details, civil and ecclesiastical, of the parish are
contributed to this work by another pen; but it may be here
stated that the land is now held by the Colebrooke, Hopetoun,
Vere Irving, Ewart, Buccleugh, Home, Bertram, and Wilson
families—their comparative interests, as to farms, being in the
order in which their names appear; the lordship, which the
Hopetoun family claim from the mines, being excluded.

There is no mansion in Crawford but that of George Vere
Irving, Esq. of Newton, the friend whose contributions under the
signature G. V. I so enhance the value of this work.

The Bellfield estate, a small one, is farmed by its owner, as are
some minor properties held by the Goodfellows and Murrays,
representatives of the Lairds of Crawford, whose Birley Courts
were so famous for the much a-do about nothing they made
when their ancient village was a Burgh o’ Barony.

In the statistical account of the parish, rendered in 1791 to
Sir John Sinclair, Crawford is reported to have been then
farmed by fifteen storemasters. The tenants are mow double
that number; and may, from the Valuation Roll of 1858-59,
be given, sinking fractions, as holding for 782l, 6021, 550,
4501, 420, 260L, 300, 2606, 205, 1541, 130, 130L,
100L, 75L, '70l. or fifteen resident; and for 710L and 300L,
5671, 4251, 4211, 3650, 340L, 2801, 260L, 240., 2251, 2201,
130l, 98!l or thirteen non-resident tenants, the latter paying
about 40 per cent. of the farm rental of the parish.

As evidence of the increasing value of land in the district, it
may be stated that the farms given as 602l, held by resident,
and 5670, by non-resident tenants, were let by public advertise-
ment in 1859 for 850l and 1050l; while the mines, the
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lordship of which yielded in 1858-59 1427 and 228l, were
in 185960 rated at 1965l and 414
The shootings let in 1858-59 appear for 196/. The various
holdings above 41. and under 10l are valued at 517 15s; and
those at 4l. and under at79/. 18s. The farms of Harthope, Rae-
cleugh and Whitecamp are, in the valuation rolls, rated for civil
objects in Crawford, but for church purposes in Moffat parish.

Having gained the friendship of a farmer, known in and

beyond the district for enterprise, intelligence, and hospitality,
he was kind enough to gather in, for this work, the agricultural
statistics of Crawford, giving 19,500 cheviot, 12,000 black-faced,
and 500 sheep as feeding; the shepherds are 56; servant men
18; lads 6; women 46 ; girls 8; horses—young 3, farm 46, saddle
and harness 11; milch cows 802; queys 116; calves 58; cattle
feeding 116, and swine 55. These figures are exclusive of the
cows, crofts, and kailyards of the villagers at Leadhills, whose
interesting locality will have due notice in its proper place.

The oats are reported as 224; potatoes 32; vetches 3;

tarnip 103 acres imperial; of bone manure 200 bushels; nitrate of
soda 1 ton, and guano, nearly 10 tons were used. Of rye-grass,
meadow, and croft-land, the acreage was 85, 346, and 365
respectively. There were 13 thrashing mills, 11 of which are
moved by water. There are 9 turnip machines, and 1 grubber,
and, in 1860, a reaping machine was provided for his tenants
by Sir T. E. Colebrooke. Few of the farms are leased under
19 years Peat is little used since the Caledonian Railway
traversed the district; and the sum paid by that line, for poor’s
rate, is nearly five times the amount in which the heritors fifteen
years ago assessed themselves for that object. The stipend of the
parish minister is good; but that given to the ordained minister
of the chapel at Leadhills is moderate indeed, although the
heavier labour does certainly lie there.

The population of Crawford is less than it was a century ago;
but, on matters statistical, illustrative of the present state, as
compared with the past condition of the Upper Ward of Lanark-
shire, tabular details will be given elsewhere in this work.

A M
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NAME.

Crauford, Craufurd, Crauforth, Crathoford, Crawford, Craw-
ford-Lindesay, Crawford-Douglas. Several antiquarians have
interpreted this as signifying the ford or passage of blood, and
have conjectured that, in early times, a great battle was fought
in the vicinity of the present castle. This derivation, however,
appears to be inadmissible, as it attempts to combine a Celtic
and Saxon word, which directly contravenes one of the meost
important rules of etymology. In the peculiar Celtic dialect
spoken by the inhabitants of Strathclyd, which is still preserved
in the poems of Aneurin and the other intramural bards of the
sixth and seventh centuries, krew indeed signifies dlood, and
might have been corrupted into craw; but the passage of a
river is invariably designated by the terms gwev or gouir, while
the word ford is pure and undoubted Saxon. A more probable
derivation is eraw-ford, the ford of the crows; a colony of these
birds having, from time immemorial, occupied the trees around
the castle. It is, however, worthy of remark that we learn from
a charter granted by the Abbot of Kelso, between 1180 and
1203 [L+ber de Calchou, p. 82, No. 112], that there wis at that
time a place of this name on Douglas Water, all trace of which
has subsequently disappeared. The additions of Lindesay and
Douglas are derived from the great families of those names who
successively possessed the barony.

HISTORY.

Ecclesiastical A ffairs—The church of this parish appears to
have been founded at a very early period, and to have been dedi-
cated to St Constantine. The learned editor of the “Origines
Parochiales” conjectures that this was Saint Constantine, king
and martyr, of whom it is related in the “Scottish Breviary,”
that he succeeded his father as King of Cornwall, that he abdi-
cated his throne and adopted a religious life in Ireland, that he
was a disciple of St Columba and St Kentigern, and was sent
by the latter into Galloway, and that he was martyred in Kyn-
tyre A.D. 576. It seems, however, natural to suppose that the
church was dedicated to a saint connected with the district where
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it is sitnated. The Constantine above referred to had no such
connection, and therefore his claims to the honour of being
patron of this church appear inferior to those of another person,
who we know was a distinguished chieftain of Lanarkshire,
viz., Constantine, son of Roderic the Bountiful, who, in the year
606, succeeded his father as ruler of Strathclyd. It may be
objected that he is not mentioned in any Breviary, and that
there is no evidence of his canonisation; but we have, on the
other hand, the positive evidence of Joceline of Furness, in his
life of St Kentigern, that he was popularly believed to be a saint,
“Sanctusque Constantinus usque n praesens solet a pluribus
appelari.”’

In 1164 Pope Alexander IIL confirmed to the cahons regular
of Holyrood the church of St Constantine of Crawford, with
certain land, and all the rights belonging to it (L. St Cructs,
169). A similar confirmation was granted to them by William
the Lyon between 1175 and 1178, which was accompanied
by a charter from Bishop Joceline of Glasgow, and this last
deed was again ratified by Bishop Walter in 1208 (Ib:d, 24,
42, 55; 68). In 1223 Alexander L confirmed an amicable
agreement between the abbot and monks of Newbottle and
the canons of Edinburgh, as to the teinds of the lands held
by the former in the parish of Crawford [Act. Parl. I, 75].
The church and its possessions continued attached to the Abbey
of Holyrood until the Reformation, and after that period be-
longed to its successive lay commendators. In 1606 the whole
possessions of the abbey were erected into a temporal lordship
in favour of John Bothwell, Lord Holyroodhouse. This grant
includes the church and teinds of Crawford, but always under
the condition that the grantee “pay to the minister serving the
cure there 400 merks, with the glebe” [Act Parl. IV, 331].
Lord Holyroodhouse subsequently resigned his interest in this
church to Charles L, who bestowed it on the bishopric of Edin-
burgh. When Episcopacy was abolished the patronage reverted
to the Crown, with whom it still remains.

The rectory of Crawford was valued, in 1228, at 20 merks
snnually, and the vicar received 100s (Reg. Qlas., 122); and at
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£40 a year in the Libellus Tazationum Ecclesiae Scoticanae.
In 1561 the parsonage and vicarage were let by the canons of
Holyrood for £86 13s 4d, the vicar-pensioner retaining his
portion of the benefice at £32 10s (Book of Assumptions).
- The lands in this parish possessed by the Cistercians of New-
battle were made teind free as early as 1223 (Reg. Newbattle,
Jol. xxviii.)

William Clark was vicar of Crawford in 1426 (L+b. St Cructs,
136, 119). He was succeeded, before 1435, by John Mason
(Zbid, 128, 114), who, in 1459, exchanged this benefice with
Duncan Zhaluloh for the rectory of Ranpatrick (Ibid, 140, 149).
Master Patrick Donaldson 'was vicar-pensioner in 1498, with a
stipend of 15 merks, and an allowance of 12 merks for a curate;
or, if he chose to serve the church in person, a salary of 27
merks, free from all burdens. He had also a house, croft, and
pasture for two cows (Ibid, 253, 255).

In November, 1570, Richard Weir held the office of reader
at Crawford (Book of Ministers, 33). In 1576 Mr William
Levingston was minister there, with a stipend of £52 10s, while
the reader had the kirk land and a salary of 20 merks (/bd,
App., 82). During the great religious crisis in the year 1639
the presbytery of Lanark held a peculiarly formal meeting, at
which the parish of Crawford was represented by Mr John
Wilson, minister, and George Brown, elder (Presb. Rec.); some
years later the conduct of the former seems to have given great
offence to his brethren. In the records of a meeting of the
presbytery on 1st July, 1647, it is minuted that “the presby-
terie understanding of the great abuses in the paroche of Craw-
ford-Lindsaye, throw great multituds at brydalls, and pypers
thereat, Mr Jon. Wilsone, minister ther, was censured for mar-
ieing quhen ther was such great multituds gathered, and ap-
pointed no to marie any quhen there is so great multituds and
pypers at brydals” Mr Wilson was succeeded by Mr Gilbert
Hamilton, who was, in 1663, deprived of his benefice on the
ground of nonconformity (Wodrow, 1., 326). Mr John Brown
was admitted minister in 1681, and Mr James Hepburn in 1698.
The latter appears to have been a person of some substance, as
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we find him, in 1'707, purchasing lands in the parish of Quoth-
quen (Shieldhill Chart).

In the year 1624 there was a general collection in all the
parishes of the Upper Ward on behalf of the town of Dunferm-
line, when that of Crawford contributed £17. In regard to
another collection in 1698, it is noticed in the presbytery records,
that the offerings at Crawford included “two bad shillings, a
thrie, and a babre.”

There can be no doubt that the church originally stood on the
farm of Kirktoun, where it is laid down on the well-known map
by Blaeu. Indeed, this farm appears to have anciently belonged
to the benefice. Not only does the name indicate this, but the
charter of Bishop Walter, above referred to, conveys, along with
the church, two ploughgates of land, which can refer to no other
property. These church lands were afterwards absorbed into
the lay barony of Crawford-Douglas, and the church, manse,
and glebe removed to their present site in the village of Craw-
ford, but the precise date at which this occurred cannot be
ascertained. The churchyard, however, still retains its original
position. In 1656 we find, in the presbytery records, that ““the
minister regrattis the incomodious sitnation of the kirk, being
in the outmost corner of the parish, and desires the presbyterie
to lay it to hart how it may be helped, and that it might be
thought on how a bridge might be builded over the river, sieing
the most part of all the people are separated from the kirk by
the Clyd, being many times impassable.” The same records
farnish us with a report of tradesmen as to the condition of the
manse, church, and school, made on the occasion of the induc-
tion, of Mr Hepburn in the year 1698, which is interesting as
showing the state of these edifices, and the expense of building,
at the period.

“ I'mprimas, we find the fabrick of the manse, as to the timber
and stone work, sufficientlie done, and we judge that the expense
of workmanship will amount to the value of £286 13s 4d Scots,
including the service of the said work.

“2. We find the manse very indifferently thatched with
divats (turf), slightlie, and not water-tight. The workman-
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ship whereof will cost £10 Scots, in cosnent (wages without
food).

“3. As to the office-houses, we find that the manse has no
stable, and that it will cost £80 Scots in building, including
materials and workmanship.

“4, We find the barn and byre insufficient, in regard they
are only built with stone and fail (turf).

“Finally, we find that the manse wants both a kitchen and
brewhouse.

“Anent the church, it wants a bell, and is not altogether
water-tight, and lykwise <t wants glass windows and seats.

“Anent the school, ¢t s reported that there is a school, and
£100 Scots of salarie, but there wants a school-house.”

This miserable and neglected state of the sacred edifices ap-
pears to have been accompanied by a corresponding disregard
for their moral duties on the part of the inhabitants of the
parish, for, about the same time, we are informed that “the
moderator preached at Crawford, and represented to the presby-
tery that many gross scandalls is fallen out in that parish. The
presbytery appoints application to be made to the sheriff that
some publick stigma should be put upon them that are guilty,
for the terror of others, the particular aggravating circumstances
being first represented.”

The same records also furnish us with the details of an inter-
esting case of witchcraft connected with the parish, not the less
instructive that it exemplifies the reaction of common sense
against this most lamentable prejudice and superstition. Nov. 8,
1649.—The which day there were sent from the Marquis of
Douglas eleven poor women delated by Janet Cowts, a confessing
witch, now in prison, in Peebles. The presbytery immediately
appointed certain of their number to preach at Crawford, and
enquire for evidence, but their report was that they could
find nothing further in Crawford delated against the accused.
On the 6th December, 1649, it is stated that “George Cathie,
the pricker, being sent for, did, before the magistrates of Lan-
ark, in the Tolbooth there, by consent of the women suspected,
prick pinnes in every one of them, and in divers of them

AN

AN
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without pain the pinne was puf in, as the witnesses can
testify.”” On the 10th January, 1650, the following confession
is minuted, “Marion Hunter, one of the suspected persons,
compeared before the presbyterie, and declared that the devil
appeared like a little whelp, between Haircleuch and Clyde,
and like a brown whelp at Haircleuch. A good while after, he
appeared between Haircleuch and Glespen, and nipped her in
the shoulder, and required her to be his servant; and she was
in Gallowberrie Hill (Arbory?), ard rode upon a Bunwede.
Five of the other prisoners were with her, especially Mary
Laidlaw, who drew her when she was hindmost and could not
winne up.”

After the result of the popular mode of torture, and the con-
fession extorted by it, one is prepared to find that the whole
of these poor women were condemned to fire and faggot; but,
fortunately, this was not the case. On the 7th February, 1650,
the Government issued a commission for their trial. The com-
Tnissioners were probably men in advance of the prejudices of
the day and acquainted with the rules of evidence, for, on the
28th of February, Mr Robert Birnie reports to the presbytery
“that the commissioners found that nothing was delated in
Crawford against any of the women but two, and in consequence
had liberated them on caution.” The charges against the two
remaining prisoners are a good specimen of the nature of these
accusations—combining the more serious matter of angry and
vindictive railing, followed by misfortunes with which there was
no reason to connect them except the fallacious maxim, Post
hoc propter hoc, and circumstances of the most ludicrous nature.
They are as follows:—

Against Janet MBirnie—

“]1. That she at one time followed William Brown, sclater, to
the house in Water-meetings, to crave somewhat, and fell in
evil words. After which, within twenty-four hours, he fell off
an house and brak his neck.

«2, After some outcast between Bessy Acheson’s house and
Janet M‘Birnie’s, she prayed that there might be bloodie beds
and a light house. And after that, the said Bessie Acheson,

K
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her daughter, took sickness, and the lass cryed, There is fyre in
my bed, and died. Item, the said Bessie Acheson, her good-
man, dwyned.

“8. That she was the cause of discord between Newton and
his wife, and that she and others were the death of William
Geddesse.”

Against Marion Laidlaw—

“1. That she and Jean Blackwood differed in words about
the said Marion’s hay, and after that the said Jean’s kye died.
2. That she had her husband by unlawful means, and had a
berd (beard?).”

Further investigation, however, showed that there was mo
evidence to support even these accusations, for, on the 24th
March, 1660, “the commissioners met to examine the above, and,
notwithstanding that they most strictlie examined the witnesses
that compeared upon their oaths, they could find nothing proven
against them, so they were liberated on caution.”

In justice to the presbytery, who appear in the earlier stages
of the case to have urged the civil authorities to prosecate the
accusation, we may add that, on learning that Janet Coutts, the
original delator of these poor women, had confessed that her
accusations were false and malicious, they took every means in
their power to remedy the wrong which had been done, and
directed “Mr Veitch to go to Crawford and preach, and read a
paper by Janet Coutts, given before her death, clearing many of
the suspected.”

Independent of the church, there appear to have been in
ancient times several chapels within the parish.

The charter of confirmation by Bishop Joceline of Glasgow,
already referred to, conveys to the canons of Holyrood not only
the parochial church, but also “the chapel of the castle.”” That
of Bishop Walter ratifies this grant, and states that the endow-
ment of the chapel was “two acres of land near the castle.”

By a charter, dated from the chapel of St Thomas the Martyr,
beside the castle of Crawford, in the year 1327, David Lindsay
gives to the Cistercians of Newbottle the lands of Smethwood,
between Daer and Powtrail, on condition that they should cause
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the chapel of St Thomas the Martyr to be served by a monk or
secular priest, and should uphold the buildings and appointments
of the chapel. To the chaplain were assigned, for his dwelling-
place and garden, the ancient manor of the Mains, or demesne
lands of the castle, together with pasture in Ragardgil (Ragen-
gill) for one horse, five cows, and as many calves not a year old;
two and a half acres of meadow; as much feal as would suffice,
from the place called Leuedymos; and the fishing in the Clyde
for a net drawn by one man.

There can be no doubt that this chapel is identical with that
in the Episcopal charters. It was apparently in the gift of the
lord of the manor, who was thus enabled to transfer it from the
canons of Holyrood to the monks of Newbattle. It has long
ceased to exist, and no vestiges of its site can now be traced.

The names of Kirkhope and Nunnerie seem to indicate that
there were at one time ecclesiastical establishments on the Daer
Water, in the upper part of the parish, but no direct mention
of them is to be found in the records. It is not, however, im-
probable that the word chapels, in the plural number, was
introduced into the charter by which Queen Mary, on coming of
age, confirmed to the Earl of Angus the barony of Crawford,
with the “advowson and gifi of the benefices and chapels lie
outsettts,” in reference to them (Act Parl, I1.; 565-571). The
monks of Newbattle had also a chapel on the lands which they
possessed in the parish. Its ruins can still be traced in the farm
of Glencaple, near the mouth of the Kirkgill, a small tributary
of Glengonar Water.

‘When the mining village of Leadhills rose into importance,
about the middle of the seventeenth century, the members of
the presbytery of Lanark most laudably and actively exerted
themselves to procure for the workmen there the services of a
resident clergyman. Their records contain frequent notices of
their communing with the Hopetoun family on this subject,
which was also on several occasions discussed in Parliament.
No definite arrangement was, however, made till the year 1736,
when Lord Hopetoun obtained the sanction of the General
Assembly to his employing an ordained chaplain or preacher
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for the benefit of the miners, without providing a permanent
endowment, as required by the laws of the church, and retaining
the power of employing one or not as his lordship should deem
expedient. A wing of the Hopetoun mansion-house in the
village was at the same time converted into a chapel

Towards the close of last century the office of chaplain at
Leadhills was held by the Rev. Sanson, who was usually
called Dominie Sanson by the inhabitants. He was very tall and
awkward, and with a bashful retiring disposition. He was fond
of playing at bowls with the overseers, and, when a good cast
was made, was in the habit of exclaiming Prodigious! His
eccentricities afforded much amusement to the late Mr John
Irving, W.S.,, when a boy, and were no doubt related by him to
his early companion, Sir Walter Scott; thus, in all probability,
furnishing the germ of that great novelist’s Dominie Sampson,
although the details of the character were derived from other
sources. Sir Walter also appears to have been indebted to Mr
John Irving for a couplet connected with this parish, which he
employed as a motto for one of his chapters—

Little kens the auld wife, that sits by the fire,
How the wind blaws in Hurl-burl swyre.

Hurl-burl being a wild and elevated pass over which the road
from Abington to Elvanfoot was formerly carried.

Civil 4 ffairs.—In the reign of William the Lyon, 1165-1214,
th_e greater part of the parish of Crawford was held by William
Lindesay, in lordship of Sweyn, the son of Thor. (Reg. New-
battle, fol. xxx.) By the middle of the thirteenth century,
l_mwever, he came to hold in chief of the Crown. Robert II,
wntra, 1370~90, granted to Sir James Lindesay the castle of
C.ra,wford and barony of the same. (Reg. Mag. Sig. 172-13).
Sir James’ cousin and heir, David, created Earl of Crawford,
1398, had, .from Robert IIL, a charter of the barony of
mv_"g;!;d, v;xth juri'sdict,ion of regality. (Robertson’s Indexz,
David ti] t remained with his descendants till the time of

1d, the fourth Earl, who espoused the cause of James IIL
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against the insurgent barons, and was by him created Duke of
Montrose. On the fall of that king, the Duke of Montrose,
although not formally forfeited, had the barony of Crawford,
which was then called Crawford Lindesay, forcibly taken from
him, and in 1488 it was bestowed on Archibald, Earl of Angus,
better known by his soubriquet of “Bell the Cat,” whose son
had, in 1510-11, a charter of the same, by which the name
of the barony was changed from Crawford-Lindesay to Craw-
ford-Douglas.  (Reg. Mag. Sig. xiii, 235; xvi, 98). In
1528, the Earl of Angus was forfeited, and the barony annexed
to the Crown (Act Parl, II, 326); and this forfeiture was
again confirmed in 1540 (Act Parl, I1, 361). On the accession
of Mary, in 1542, it was rescinded, and the Earl of Angus con-
firmed in the possession of the barony (Act Parl, I, 415).
And this was further ratified in 1567, when the Queen came of
age (Act Parl, II, 565). During the interval in which the
barony remained annexed to the Crown, James V. appears to
have frequently visited the castle for the purpose of hunting,
and on one occasion to have entertained the French ambassadors
there. During one of his visits he requited the hospitality of
the Castillan by seducing his daughter. This barony was valued
in the old extent at 200Z., and in 1359 paid 20s to the Ward of
the King’s castle at Lanark (Chamberlain Rolls, I., 335).

The barony of Crawford passed from the Angus to the
Hamilton branch of the Douglas family, with whom it remained
til the time of the Duchess Anne, who, with consent of her
husband, bestowed it on one of their younger sons, created Earl
of Selkirk and Lord Daer. It remained with the Selkirk family
until the latter part of the last century, when they sold it to Sir
George Colebrooke, Bart., whose descendant, Sir Thomas Edward
Colebrooke, M.P. for the county, is the present possessor.

The parish, however, contains another barony, which, although
an offshoot from that of Crawford-Lindesay or Crawford-Douglas,
appears at a very early date to have equalled it in extent. In
1170, William Lindsay granted to the monks of Newbattle
certain lands bounded by Petrenich Daer and Elwyn. (Rey.
Newbattle, fol. xxx.) Between 1224 and 1232, David Lind-
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say granted to them his lands “from the head of Glengonar to
the land of the church of Crawford, and by the top of the hill
between the said church lands (Kirktown) and Glencaple to the
head of Hurl-burl, and so . . . to Glengonarhead.” (Ibid, fol.
xxxi) By another charter of the same, the remaining lands
possessed by the Lindesays between Glengonar and Elwyn are
conveyed to the same abbey. In 1327 David Lindsay exempted
all these lands from his barony of Crawford, and they were
immediately erected into a separate barony by King Robert
the Bruce in favour of the abbey, by the title of the Barony
of “Friars-mure.” (Ibid, fol. xxxiii, xxxiv, xxxv.) It
remained in the possession of the monks of this foundation
until the Reformation, when it was valued at 111l 3s a-year.
(Book of Assumptions)) In 1587 an Act of Parliament was
passed ratifying a charter of James VI, by which there was
granted to “our well-belovit counsellare Mark, last commendator
of Newbattle and now baron of Newbattle, the barony of Craw-
fordmure or Friar's-mure (4Act Parl., III, 310). It is added
that the lands contained therein ly in that part of the kingdom
“which is most exposed to robbery, theft, and forays”’—que sunt
rapinis furtis et disreptionibus maxime obnoxir. A descrip-
tion which is fully borne out by the remains which still exist,
as every farm-house appears to have been built in the form of a
fortified tower or peel, the lower story forming a vault, in
which the few cattle they possessed were enclosed, and the upper
ones occupied by the family, who, in many cases, must have
ascended by a ladder. From several points in the parish the
remains of nearly a dozen of this class of keeps can still be
counted. In 1609, Robert, Earl of Lothian, was served heir to
his father in this barony (Inguzs. Spec., 89). In the meantime,
however, we find Parlisment confirming to Thomas Foulis,
goldsmith in Edinburgh, a grant of all the minerals in this
barony, which is described as belonging of old to the Abbey of
Newbattle (Act Parl, IV, 94). As his feuars are mentioned
in the charter, he must also have been in actual possession of
some of the lands belonging to it. He was succeeded by a
Robert Foulis, whose daughters, Anne and Elizabeth, were, in
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1633, served heir to him in the lands of Waterhead or Over-
Glengonar (Inguis. Spec., 177). Elizabeth having died, Anne,
in 1637, became sole heiress (Inquis. Spec., 195), and shortly
afterwards married Sir James Hope of Hopetoun. In 1661
Parliament confirmed a charter of Charles I in favour of her
and her husband in liferent, and their son, Thomas Hope, in fee,
by which there was conveyed to them the lands and barony of
Waterhead and Leadhills, alias Glengonar. By 1683, however,
the whole barony, belonging of old to the abbey of Newbatile,
had become vested in the Hopetoun family, for in that year
Charles Hope of Hopetoun, the first peer, is served heir to his
father in the lands and barony of Crawford Mure, Friar Mure or
Douglas Mure, all united in the barony of Hopetonn (Inquis.
Spec., 356). The enumeration of the lands composing the
barony in this inquisition is precisely the same as in that in the
charter to Lord Newbattle, and in the service of his son, the
Earl of Lothian, above referred to, but with the addition of cer-
tain lands in Crawfordjohn.

Minor Holdings.— Although the lands belonging to the
baronies are thus enumerated in the charters, it would be a
great mistake to suppose that they were all in the actual pos-
session of the lords of the manor; on the contrary, they only
possessed, in regard to many of them, the right of superiority,
while the dominum utile was held by proprietors of consider-
able importance. Of these, the earliest in date were the Tintos
of Crimpcramp, one of whom was, according to Blind Harry, the
friend and companion of Wallace. This family also held lands
in Thankerton parish, and terminated in a female, about the
middle of the seventeenth century. The Carmichaels of Meadow-
flat, in Covington parish, held for a long period the hereditary
office of Captain of the Castle of Crawford, and also possessed
considerable lands in the parish, including the Castlemains
Midlock, Crookedstone, Over-Newton, Southwood, Normangill,
etc. They retained a portion of these, till they likewise, in
1638, terminated in an heiress (Inquis. Spec. 6, 7, 196). Ulti-
mately, the whole of their property was re-incorporated with the
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barony. In 1370 David IL confirmed the grant by which Sir
James Lindesay conveyed to William Tailfer the lands of Hare-
cleuch (Reg. Mag. Sig. 67, 226), with whose descendants they
continued for upwards of three centuries, as we find that Tailfer
of Harecleuch had a fine of 2400l imposed upon him in 1662.
(Act Parl, VII, 423). The Veres, or Weirs, of Newton origi-
nated in a cadet of the Veres of Blackwood, in Lesmahagow,
who acquired lands in Crawford, in which parish we find them
established early in the sixteenth century. William Vere of
Newton served upon an assize in 1512 (Pitcasrn Crim.
Trials, I, 87). In 1528 his widow, and John Weir, his
son, entered a protest in the High Court of Parliament,
that they should not be prejudiced by the forfeiture of the
Earl of Angus. (Act Parl, II, 328). The representative of
this family, in the latter part of the seventeenth century,
appears to have taken an active part on the patriotic side dur-
ing the troubles which marked the reigns of the later Stuarts.
In 1662, an Act of Parliament was passed, declaring that His
Majesty, Charles II, has thought fit to burden his pardon to
some (whose guiltiness hath rendered them obnoxious to the law,
their lives and fortunes at His Majesty’s disposal,) with some small
sums. Among this list of these appears John Weir of Newtone,
for 360l (most probably Scots money). In 1682, the Duke of
York having left Scotland, and entrusted its affairs to the Earl
of Aberdeen, Chancellor, and the Earl of Queensberry, Treasurer,
“A very arbitrary spirit appeared in their administration. A
gentleman of the name of Weir was tried because he had kept
company with one who had been in the rebellion, though that
person had never been marked out by process or proclamation.
The inferences upon which Weir was condemned (for a prosecu-
tion by the government and a condemnation were in Scotland
the same thing) hung upon each other after the following man-
ner. No man, it was supposed, could have been in a rebellion
without being exposed to suspicion in the neighbourhood. If
the neighbourhood suspected, it was to be presumed that each
individual had likewise heard of the grounds of suspicion. Every
man was bound to declare to the government his suspicion
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against every man, and to avoid the company of traitors. To
fail in this duty was to participate in the treason. The con-
clusion on the whole was, you have conversed with & rebel,
therefore you are yourself a rebel. A reprieve was with some
difficulty obtained for Weir” (Hume's Hist. of England, Vol.
VIL, p. 343, edit. 1'759). The person referred to by the
historian is the same John Weir of Newton, and the family
tradition as to the manner in which the reprieve was obtained is,
that he had a sister who was married to a cadet of the Irvings
of Saphock, and that the latter was usher to the Privy Council
By his connivance his wife obtained access to the Council Cham-
ber, and implored the lords to grant a pardon to her brother—
at first in vain. Being, however, near her confinement, her
agitation brought on the pains of labour. She nevertheless
refused to be removed, and continued her frantic entreaties for
mercy, until the Chancellor exclaimed, “Take away the woman,
and make out the pardon.” Upon which Weir swore, that be
the bairn lad or lass it should inherit his lands, as its coming
had saved his life The tradition appears confirmed by a
deed executed by him about this date, by which he conveys
his property to his sister and her husband, on condition that
they should take the name and arms of Vere. No sooner,
however, was John Weir out of one scrape than he was into
another, for we find him, in 1685, forfeited by Parliament
for the crime of treason, the accusation being that he, along
with others, “went to London, pretending to negociat the
settlement of ane Scots collonie in Carolina, but trewlie and
realie to treat anent and carie on a rebellion and conspiracy
with the Earls of Shaftesbury and Essex, and Lord Russell and
others, in England” (dct Parl, VIII, 490, and Appendis
32-40). He remained under this ban until the Revolution, when
it was removed by the General Act repealing previous for-
feitures, passed in 1690. The farms of Harthope and Raecleuch
were held by branches of the Johnstone family, while the lands
of Ellershaw, Troloss, and part of those of South Shortcleuch,
were possessed by other sub-vassals.

The Castle of Crawford is noticed in our ancient records as

L
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early as 1175-78. The office of castillan appears to have become
at a remote period hereditary in the family of Carmichael of
Meadowflat, and to have continued in their possession till the
year 1593, in which year John Carmichael of Meadowflat was
served heir to his father in the same (Inquts. Spec., 6,7, 8). It
was, however, sold soon after this to the first Marquis of Douglas,
“who added much building to it.” He certainly resided there
occasionally, as one of the ecclesiastical monitions, in the long
struggle between the Marchioness and the Presbytery of Lanark,
is noted in their records as having been given at “Crawford
Kirk.” In Hamilton of Wishaw’s History of the County it is
described as “a gquare court, with much lodging in it.” It was
used as a farm-house till nearly the end of last century, but is
now entirely ruinous.

The village is said to have been erected into a burgh of
barony in the time of William the Lyon, and it certainly pos-
sessed burgh privileges in the reign of his successor, 1214-1249.
Gerard Lindsay, in a charter granted about that period to the
monks of Newbattle, reserves the right of his burgesses of Craw-
ford, according to their common charter, to the easement of
the woods of Glengonar, but for building purposes only at the
sight of the abbot’s forester (Reg. Newbattle, fol. xxxii,
xxxiii) The constituency of this burgh, if we may use
the term, appears to have consisted of those holding so many
acres of infield land, with a right to a share in the common
pasture. They were called lairds, and their wives leddies,
but in this there was nothing peculiar, although some writers
have thought it a singularity confined to this burgh (Old
Stat. Account). The common custom in Scotland was to style
all proprietors, under the rank of knight, laird, and their
wives leddies. In the case of the larger proprietors this
was generally combined with the name of the property; but
in small holdings and commonties it was affixed to the name
of the person, as Laird Smith, etc. The affairs of the burgh
were settled in a Birlaw Court, where each laird, or, in his
absence, his tenant had a vote. The principal business was to
settle the amount of stock each was to put on the common land.



THE PARISH OF CRAWFORD. 83

In the old Statistical Account it is stated that this Court was
held once a week. It is, however, improbable that it formally
met anything like so often, although its members might congre-
gate weekly on what might be considered the market-day, and
talk over matters of common interest. Independent of the lairds
there was another class of inhabitants, who merely occupied
houses and gardens, and had no seat in the Court. This burgh
and commonty was judicially divided towards the close of last
century. The office of bailie of the town and barony of Craw-
ford appears to have been at one time of considerable import-
ance. About the middle of the fifteenth century it belonged
to James, Lord Hamilton, who, at the same time had a lease of
the Dower lands of the Dowager Countess of Crawford. It
would, however, appear that John Lindesay of Covington had
usurped both the office and the possession of the lands, as, in
1479, he was decerned to account to Lord Hamilton for the
rents of the latter, and also for the following profits and escheats
of the baillery, taken up him during the time he used ‘that office:
“fourteen seisin oxen, four cows, twelve wedders of a bloodwyt,
five cushions out of the castle, eleven pieces of pewter vessels,
three score stone of wool, a cow of a deforcement, a salt mart, a
mask fat, three mete gudis, three oxen hides, two crooks also
out of the castle, and £6 for fines of green wood muirburn,
deforcements, and others (Act Dom. Con., 33; Act Dom. And.,
89). In 1478 John Hunter, bailie of Crawford, was ordered by
the Lords of the Council to restore to Master John Maxwell eight
oxen and a cow, which he had taken from Maxwell’s servants in
the town of Crawford. He attempted to evade this decree by
restoring the cattle, and immediately afterwards seizing them a
second time; for which he was, in the following year, adjudged
guilty of contempt of court, and committed prisoner to Black-
ness Castle (Act Dom. Con., 11, 32).

As to historical events occurring within the parish, but un-
connected with its inhabitants, there is only one worthy of
notice, for this reason, that’although the district was often
traversed by important armies, such as that which Queen Mary
led into Dumfriesshire in 1565, and that of Prince Charles Ed-
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ward on his retreat from Derby, nothing influencing the result
of the campaign occurred in this district. The exception is the
battle of Biddts Burn in 1593, which was occasioned by a foray
made by the Johnstones of Annandale upon the Crichtons of
Sanquhar, who were allies of the Maxwells of Nithsdale. It led
to the renewal of the feud between these two powerful clans,
which resulted in the battle of Dryffe Sands, where Lord Max-
well was killed The battle, or skirmish, of the Biddis Burn
forms the subject of an old ballad, which is preserved in the
Minstrelsy of the Scottish Borders, Vol. I, p. 211, under the
title of “The Lads of Whamphray.”

Back to Nithsdale they® have gaen,

And awa the Crichtons nowt hae taen,
But when they cam to the Wellpatht heid,
The Crichtons bad them light and lead.

And when they cam to the Biddis Burn,t
The Crichtons bad them stand and turn;
And when they cam to the Biddis strand,
The Crichtons they were hard at hand.

But when they cam to the Biddis law,
The Johnstones bad them stand and draw.
We've done nae ill, we'll thole nae wrang,
But back to Wamphray we will gang.

And out and spoke Willie o’ the Kirkhill,
O’ fechting lads ye’se hae your fill;

And from his horse William he lap,

And a burnished brand in his hand he gat.

Out through the Crichtons Willie he ran,

And dang them down baith horse and man.

Oh, but the Johnstones were wondrous rude,

When the Biddis Burn ran three days blude. G VL

* The Johnstones of Annandale.

+ The Wellpath leads from Durrisdeer, in Dumfriesshire, into Lanarkshire.
The head or summit of the pass is the boundary between the counties. Through
the Wellpath runs the vicinal Roman road which joins the great north and south
Iter at the village of Crawford.

1 The Biddis or Bidhouse Burn is a feeder of the Evan, and falls into it not
far from the summit of the Caledonian Railway, at & point several miles above
that where it leaves the county of Lanark.
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THE PARISH OF CRAWFORD,

As before stated, runs southward to the cairn on the summit
of Queensberry (19), whose height is given as 2285 feet, by
Ordnance Survey Report, being 25 feet higher than previous
authorities stated it to be. Queensberry shows well to the
traveller from the south, approaching by the Caledonian Rail-
way; and being within a moderate distance from Moffat, and
easy of ascent, is the resort of pic-nic parties of the valetudi-
narians residing at the popular spas in the upper vale of the
Annan. In Fullarton’s Gazetteer, Queensberry is stated as
being in Closeburn, Dumfriesshire; but the maps by Ross
in 1773, Forrest in 1815, and those recently issued by the
Ordnance, place it within Lanarkshire, as it should be, seeing
that the greater portion of the waterfall runs northward into
the upper feeders of the Daer—the water of the district, although
soon misnomered the Clyde; Clydesburn being but a rivulet
where it flows into the united volume of the Daer and the Pow-
traiL The writer employed by Fullarton, in a style characteristic
enough, describes Queensberry as in form, “fine, majestic, sombre
—amid a congeries of noble heights, queening it over them like
a sovereign among courtiers, and prosaically as well as practi-
cally the ‘queen hill’ of a large and superb district.” The hills
on the north-west, which divide the middle vale of the Nith
from the parent basin of the Clyde, are but a few feet lower
than Queensberry; that of the Louther overtops it; and Hart-
fell, on the verge of Dumfriesshire, Lanarkshire, and Peebles-
shire, is nearly 400 feet higher. Queensberry has the Louthers
about 8 miles on the north-west, Hartfell is abcut 11 miles
north-east, Tinto 23 miles nearly due north, and between Tinto
and Queensberry there is no intervening height.to compete with
them. From Queensberry the noble family of Buccleuch take

Note.—The reader is requested to turn to p. 33, Appendiz,
Vol. 1I1., where a corrected version will be found of the matler
given at p. 80, line 23, to page 82 of preceding article.

M



86 THE UPPER WARD OF LANARKSHIRE.

title of duke, and the Douglases of Kinmont also claim from it
as marquis. )

Looking eastward from Queensberry, the farms of Harthope
and Raecleugh, to west and east of Evan-water, appear, and
are quoad civilia in Lanarkshire, quoad sacra in Dumfriesshire
—having, as the natives naively put it, “ Lanark law and Moffat
gospel.” Harthope and Raecleugh are on sheet 51 of the
Ordnance Survey maps, and the entry of pasture, rough pas-
ture, and rough heathy pasture—the latter large—is frequent
in the index-book supplied to the map. Harthope homestead,
garden, etc., are given 696 thousandths of an acre, No. 695; and
at No. 680 appears the entry of 411 as Harthope cottages,
garden, ete.—the latter shepherds apparently. For Raecleugh,
No. 712, ‘882 is given for homestead, garden, etc. Neither
farms appear in the valuation roll for Crawford; and in the
census tables for 1841, 1851, and 1861, the population is re-
ported as 25, 26, and 26, the sexes being nearly equal in num-
bers. Evan-water-head, one of the chief feeders of the Annan,
rising from “ae hillside” with the Clyde, wells out between
Clydeslaw and Pinstane hills, 1789 and 1695 feet in height,
and the former on the verge of Peeblesshire, but nearly three
miles north-west of Tweed’s-well-—the source of the Tweed, so
that the thyme—

¢ The Tweed, the Annan, and the Clyde,
Rise from ae hillside”—

is more poetically than topographically true; but certainly they
flow from one group of hills, neither far apart nor unlike in
appearance. About two miles west of its source, the Evan runs
north of Clydesnap—the Nap hill given as 1433 feet—and east-
ward of but near to, the summit level of the Caledonian
Railway, before which it absorbs a streamlet, affirmed by the
natives to have been the veritable Clyde, but diverted south-
west by drainage operations. On the Ordnance map Clyde-
burn is laid down as flowing west and south, as does the Evan,
the latter not being named; while the Little Clyde, to be after-
wards noticed, holds its brief course west and north. Westward
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from Clydesnap, across the narrow strath, is Ringhill, 1332 feet,
but sending its water-flow northward; south of Clydesnap, the
Evan flows past the farm-steading of Upper Howcleugh (825),
a considerable farm on the Kersewell estate, placed in sheet
50 B on the Ordnance plans, and the extent for house, etc., given
as ‘393, and No. 621. On this farm-steading there is a school
for the instruction of the younger members of the families in
the near district, and properly placed, as, across the Caledonian
Railway, on the place marked on Ordnance Index as No. 621,
‘393, is given as being occupied by cottages, gardens, etc.,
named March, and held by the servants needful at the summit
level of the trunk line which connects England with Scotland.
South of Upper Howcleugh, the Evan receives the water brought
eastward from Tomont, 1652 feet high, by the Bidhouse-burn,
the streamlet near which the Crichtons were slaughtered by the
Johnstones—the “thieves of Annandale,” according to the “Fair
Maid of Perth”—and which has been noticed in prose and verse
at page 84 of this volume. Nearly opposite to influx of the
Bidhouse, the Evan absorbs the waters brought eastward by the
Fopperbeck—burn the natives add, but beck and burn are
synonymous. This beck or burn springs from Hazelbush-hill,
1675 feet, on the Peeblesshire border; has Middlerigg, 1408
feet, on the north; on the south, Errickstane, 1527 feet; crosses
the Roman road, the Moffat turnpike, the highway from Car-
lisle, and the modern railway, when it brings to the Evan a
flood little less than that of the water into which it flows.

Near to the junction of the Fopperbeck and the Evan-water, a
sad accident occurred in 1810, when the mail-coach, running on
the old road from Carlisle by Moffat, broke down the bridge there,
resulting in the death of three of the passemgers and serious
injury to more, and the spot is indicated on Forrest’s map as
the Broken Bridge. Glenthirstane-burn brings into the Evan
the water-fall of Wintercleugh-fell, 1804 feet, about three miles
to the west; and farther on, Harthope-burn brings from the west
the drainage of a hill, not named, height noted as 1838 feet on
the north; and south, that of Mossupbank, 1670 feet, on the

verge of Dumfriesshire. ~Nether Howcleugh and Bedholme
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farm (778), of considerable size and value, on the Colebrook
estate, are east of the Evan, near where the March-burn and
Rowantree-grain join that river, and north of the Raecleugh-rig,
1363 feet, and not far from where the Evan leaves the parish of
Crawford to cross that of Kirkpatrick-Juxta, on its course to
the Annan. The bed of the Evan is well scooped out, in many
places over a rocky channel; the stream runs rapid, and in flood
dangerously so, having, in autumn of 1863, carried away the
larger part of a cottage, understood to have been placed beyond
the reach of its waters. The vale of the Evan was traversed by
the Roman road, formed the track of the old route from Moffat
northwards, through it runs the magnificent highway carried out
by Telford in 1824, and along it now speed the trains on the
Caledonian line; the hills to east and west are green and high,
the vale is narrow, the population sparse; and soldiers, road-
makers, or engineers could ill deviate from the course traced
out by the Evan.

Having glanced at the section of the parish of Crawford on
Evan-water, the plan of this Work leads back to the south-west
of the district, whence spring the burns and waters which form
the Clyde—the river of Clydesdale. Burns are synonymous
with rivulets, waters with rivers, in the Scottish and the English
dialects; waters designating rivers of second-class size—river,
the Clyde—here. From Queensberry, west and north, rise a
range of heights, but a little lower, and forming the water-shed
between Mid Nithsdale and Upper Clydesdale. Serjeant-law,
2257, Gana, 2125, Wedder-law, 2187, Rodger-law, 2257, Bel-
lencleugh-law, 2267, Well-hill, 1987, and the Five-cairn Louther,
2377 feet, crowd within the short distance between Queensberry
and the Green Louthers; are not scant of soil on surface, nor
over-dry at base, and send down, east and north, the burns which
rapidly form the waters of the Daer—the “oak” river, oaks may
be found buried in the moss, but do not rise here “to brave the
breeze,” in the “ hopes” and green hill-sides which render this
district so visit-worthy. The Crook-burn (81) holds its devious
course from Queensberry and Serjeant-law, north-east by Lamb-
hill, 1777, Overlaw, 1574, on the west, and Tupknowes,
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1457, on the east, when it flows into the Daer at Kirkhope.
The Daer-water appears to spring from Gana-hill Thickcleugh-
moss, 1812, Shiel-dod, 2190, and Ewe-gair, 1833, drawing an
access of water from Carshope-burn, the drainage of Scald-law
and Bellencleugh; Rodger-law, on the west, sends a feeder, and
a large one, on the north by Kirkhopecleugh; the White-burn,
after uniting with the Black-burn, bring their contribution from
Whiteside-hill, 1817, Torrs, 1598, and Mosshope-fell, 1567, hills
almost within the Dumfriesshire border; Sweetshaw-burn drains
Hod’s-hill, 1858, from the east; Wintercleugh-burn, on east,
brings down from Mid-height, 1362; Hitrail-hill, 1608, sends
its burn; Meikle-burn flows north-east from Comb-law, 2107;
Smithwood-burn from Coomrig, 1329, south-west, and Pinstane,
1253, west; Nunnerie-burn has Tomont, 1652, on east, where
the well-fed Daer unites with the Powtrail at Water-meetings,
and their streams form the river Clyde.

Powtrail, surely misnomered Pottrail on the Ordnance map,
as Ross, Forrest, Black, Blackwood, and Johnston give the
former; the natives so pronounce it,and affirm that its meaning—
is the stream from the border. Pow, Jamieson gives as a slow-
moving river; trail, is Scotch for drag, and although, in such a
hilly district, no stream can “drag its slow length along,” still,
compared with the nobler and more rapid sister stream, the
Daer, the aborigines may have named it slow. The Powtrail
bas its water-head mnorth of Scaldlaw, Wellhill on west, the
Cleagh-burn, from Troloss, west; the drainage south of the
Louther-hill, 2577, by the Pitrenick-burn; streamlets from
Upper and Nether Fingland to north and south; gets in the
Padin-burn from Feugh-hill, 1906, and, as before noticed, flows
into the Daer at the farm, well-named Water-meetings. Before
the streams of the Daer and Powtrail get merged in the Little
Clydes-burn, they receive Glenochar-burn, flowing east from
Dun-law, 2216, and White-law, 1941; and, on east, Blackhouse-
burn comes in from Crookedstanerig, 1319, and Crookedstane-
burn flows from an unnamed height of 1621 feet.

The Clydes-burn has its well-spring on the slope of a hill, of
o great elevation when near it, some two miles west of the
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march or boundary of the county of Lanark, from a spot
unusually green and marsh-like, but considerably north of Clydes-
law, whence springs the Evan-water, as before noticed. Harle-
burnhead, 1776, rises to the north, and a height of 1550 feet,
given by Forrest as Tippet-hill, rises to the south, their drainage
being the beginning of the river which, at Glasgow, not sixty
miles north, floats vessels of 2000 tons burthen. Clydes-burn,
ere yet a mile in length, has got within steep banks, and
tumbles over linns in miniature, as it does in reality when
dammed-up above Lanark. When the Caledonian Railway was
opened for traffic throughout, in the spring of 1848, many were
the parties who started from Glasgow to “explore the source of
their river—the Clyde;” who, leaving the Rail at Elvanfoot
station, had a stiff walk up hill, north-east; few went without a
fair supply of bottles,to be emptied, and filled with the pure
water of the Little Clyde—it may be, to be tested at home as
to its virtues in the mixing of toddy, so well made on the Mo-
lendinar. Flowing past the farm-steading on its northern bank,
named Little Clyde, the burn enters a flat meadow of considerable
extent, near a cothouse called the Ring, and so close is it there
to the Evan, and so slight is the elevation between the infant
streams, that, when in flood, no little portion of the waters of
Clydes-burn descend into the Evan-water; indeed, some years
since, an effort was made wholly to divert the Clydes-burn
southward, but the natives of Crawfordmoor got up in arms to
resist this attempt to filch their Clyde from their parish, al-
though the Douglases of Selkirk might have had no objection,
as the Daer gives title of baron to their family—the “noble
Daer” being one of the earliest aristocratic friends of the poet
Burns; and the “ Daer”—Dare—*“wha daur meddle wi’ me”—
might have rung as well at home and abroad as doth the Clyde.
The Little Clyde, when flowing under the Moffat road, the Car-
lisle highway, and the Caledonian line, is but a tiny stream,
although, before its influx into its proper bed, it receives a
streamlet from the Langclengh to the north, another from
Bodesberryend farther north, and on the south a burn through
Smiddycleugh from Greathill 1621, and from the Guilend,
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1366, above Crookedstane. For the last mile, the course of the
Little Clyde is pretty straight from the south-east, and, looked
at from the turnpike road near Glen-Geith, glances in the
sunlight, neither broad, deep, nor characteristic in any way,
other than, it may be, like a deep and well-banked drain.

The Daer, the Powtrail, and the Clydes-burn, form a river of
considerable width, and the Clyde soon approaches the policies of
Newton House, which is the only mansion in Crawfordmoor, and
represented in this Work, from the copper and from the stone, as
a house and as a picturesque feature in the otherwise bare land-
scape of Upper Clydesdale. The pool at Newton is long, deep,
broad, well stocked with trout, and so staked, that the poacher
may have trouble in drawing his nets there. The Caledonian
Railway is carried across the Clyde by a wooden viaduct, near
where the Elvan flows into the Clyde, and a station, named
Elvanfoot, is placed there for the traffic, westward from Lead-
hills five miles, or north from the village of Crawford three miles.
The Elvan, so named when it flows into the Clyde, is known as
the Shortcleugh-water at Leadburn, not two miles west.

The Shortcleugh has its well-spring in the south-west from the
Five-cairn Louther (11), and the Green Louther (13) in the
south, the highest of the heights in what Heron well named
the “Southern Highlands of Scotland,” and a district where
Ross notes on his map that “these verdant hills are stored with
gold and lead;” gold was sought, lead found, and is the well-
known staple industry of the Friar's-moor section of the parish
of Crawford. From this burn the noble family of Selkirk claim
title of baron, as they do of Daer. Between the Green Louther
and Dungrain-law, 2186, Forrest lays down four hills; the whole
are high, and each sends burns to the Shortcleugh. At Wind-
gatefoot, on the Shortcleugh, there is a pass on the hills by
which a bridle-road may be found from the Lower Daer to
Leadhills. The view south-west from the road between Elvan-
foot and Leadhills is attractive at this spot, as the strath or vale of
the Shortcleugh is well defined ; and on the near side to the road
is the snug cottage of the gamekeeper on the Hopetoun estate,
with quarters for sportsmen, when the “ Hall” at L.eadhills may
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be over full The fields are green, the exposure warm, the
shelter to north and west good, and some young wood is rising
around. Eastward of the Hass Cottage, and beyond the Short-
cleugh-water, rises the hill of Glenease, as Johnston has it;
Glenea’s, as Forrest and the Ordnance render it; but neither
reading is topographic, ., instructive. From this hill & burn
joins the Shortcleugh—Shortly-water, as the natives term it.

To the north-east of this section of the valley, there lies
a considerable stretch of comparatively level ground, locally
known as the “Gold Scours,” and marked by numerous heaps
of marl-like soil, where those “prospecting” for gold may have
of old worked their “cradles,” in Australian phrase, when sifting
for the grains of the glittering ore. In Ross’ map, he notes on-
this locality, that “great quantities of gold were found there in
1533;” since then the work of searching for gold has not been
over-lucrative. The height of the Gold Scours is given as 1043
feet on the north-east, 1106 on south-west, and the height north
1441; which is on Ordnance map, quaintly named Howkwood.
North-east of the Scours, there runs a considerable breadth of
holm or flat near the water at one spot, laid down by Forrest,
and still known as the Wheelholm, and explained that there the
Shortcleugh wheels so abruptly, and when in flood, so strongly,
that it is perceptibly carrying off the bank on the southern side,
where it is high and scaur-like, .., bare of surface. Within the
present century there was one of the strong farm-holdings, with
vaults below and shelter above, to ensure safety when forays
were ripe in the district; and this thick-walled house has been
undermined and swept Clydeward by the Shortcleugh-water;
which is soon after joined by the Leadburn, which drains, to the
north-east, Whitelaw, 1941, the Lousiewood-law, 2028, and
Leadburn-rig, 1527 feet. As the Daer with the Clyde, the
Shortcleugh is for the rest of its course named the Elvan,
understood to mean the clear stream; it is of moderate size,
and before losing itself in the Clyde is crossed by the bridge
along which runs the road from Edinburgh to Dumfries.

Northward of Newton House and plantation, the river Clyde
rolls on between banks bold and high, more friable on the
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west, more rocky on the east, and where comparatively most
narrow, the fine bridgge was thrown across by Telford, to carry
northwards the highway from Carlisle to Glasgow, in 1824—a
triumph in roadmaking. Some petty burns join the Clyde from
the west, between Elvanfoot and Crawford; but from the east
the larger accession of water comes down.

Nearly opposite to the school-house of Crawford the
Midlock-water comes into the Clyde; its well-springs are
known as East and West-waters, and rise from the northern
slope of the hill whence issues the Little Clyde; West-water,
draining Hurleburnhead, 1776, on the south, and Mid-hill, 1540,
on north-east; East-water being fed from the Harecleughead,
1691, on the verge of the county; at Whelphill, a burn of that
name flows into the Midlock from Yearngillhead, 1804:; opposite
‘Whelphill a burn comes in, having, to east and west, hills named
the Dod, 1561 and 1599 feet high.

Opposite to the kirk of Crawford, the Camps brings to the Clyde

a flood larger than any of its tributaries since it became a river.
The length of Camps-water proper given at six and a half miles,
but its feeders to north and south extend much nearer to the
water-shed of the counfy—the hills which form the boundary
between the shires of Lanark and Peebles. Furthest south, the
Blackshaw-burn comes down from the Broadhill, 1776; east is
the Risingclaw-burn from the Greathill, 1757; these, uniting at
‘White Camp or Camps-head, soon receive the Fair-burn from
Culterclenghshank, 1801, Slate Brae, 1661, Fairburnrig, 1612,
Middlerig, 1613. At Grains, the Camps receives Grains-burn
from the north-east from Hillshawhead, 2141, on the border;
Dunlaw, 1669; Pinnacle, 1819; and, at Crimp-Cramp, the
Cramps-burn receives Whitelaw-burn from the Comb-dod, 2082,
on the border. South of Grains is a height, Midge-hill, 1613,

and west rises Greathill, 1476—the figures transposed surely. At

Cowhill, 1457, a burn comes in from the north; at Normangill,

1172, the gill to the north brings in the water-flow of Romehill,

1862; and west comes in the streamlet from Tewsgill-hill, 1887,

and, passing Castlemains, the Camps laves the rocky base of
the ancient castle of Crawford, and gets lost in the Clyde. In

N



94 THE UPPER WARD OF LANARKSHIRE.

the Index-book given with the Ordnance maps, the acreage
is reported which the respective burns or waters may cover,
but without local knowledge these figures are not over-instruc-
tivee The Camps, a stream ordinarily not one foot deep or
twenty feet broad, showing a range of channel acres in breadth,
and that throughout a large portion of its course. The stream
runs fast, the soil is loose, and the loss the sheep-farmer must
even, as best he may, submit to.

The Clyde, after flowing round the base of Wellshot-hill,
above Newton House, bends slightly eastward, until joined by
the Midlock-water, where a sandy-holm-like level space inter-
venes between the Medlock and the Camps, the Clyde making a
horse-shoe-like turn there towards Crawford; and at the apex
of this delta of land, covered by the Clyde, the Medlock, and the
Camps when in flood, a chain foot-bridge was thrown across
the Clyde in 1833, at a cost of £76, raised by subscription; it
was carried away by the river in 1835, replaced by an outlay
of £47, and is upheld by joint contributions from the proprie-
tors and tenants who use it. The bridge is 90 feet in span,
narrow, and swings eleven feet above the ordinary level of
the river; the bank on the west is steep and high, on the east
the long level before referred to extends; and heavy must have
been the weight of the flood when it rose within six inches of
the floor of the re-erected bridge, as marked upon it.

The Gonnar—said to mean “gold-bearing”—has its source
from the northward slopes of the Louther hills, about three
miles south of Leadhills, through which mining village it
flows, a mere burn, crossed by stepping-stones or rudely-built
bridges, but large enough to separate the “hie toun frae the
laigh toun”—the high town from the low one. The young
Glengonnar gets considerable access to its stream from feeders
which had been diverted under ground to keep in motion
the mining machinery in operation there. On the Newton
estate valuation roll, there appears an entry of £20 for water-
power, payable by the mining company, whose lodes run
farthest south, nearest the Minehill, and when past their under-
ground workings, the rival company took leave to intercept the
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stream, making it also turn their machinery; and upon this
questionable use of the feeder of the Glengonnar, arose a lawsnit,
carried on for many years at a cost fabulously great, to the
grievous injury of the miners, and but recently settled by the
affair being brought to a “buy-me-out,” or “I-buy-you-out,”
settlement, resulting in the older company being bought up by
the younger, the defendants in the long-pending suit. The dis-
trict immediately surrounding Leadhills is so burrowed under
by workings, made in the course of centuries, that, although the
hills are neither few nor low, the burns are scarce and small;
even water, until last season brought into the village, as to be
afterwards noticed, was hard to get and far to bring for domestic
use. Broad-law, 1683 feet, immediately to the north of the
village, divides the Glengonnar from the Shortcleugh; Wool-law
lies north, and near its base are the smelting works of the
mining company. East of the Waterhead toll-bar is Wellgrain-
law, 1813 feet, and a short way south lies the Bulmer-moss,
given in Forrest as Bulmer-hill, whence flows a burn to the
Glengonnar, and where the smelting mills of the rival company,
now the possessing one, used to be. Blackhill, 1343, is south
of the QGlengonnar, and at its base is the division of the
perishes of Crawford and Crawfordjohn. A small level-field
extends from the north base of Bulmer-hill, and the few trees—
the only ones in the glen—mark where the abode of Bulmer
stood. North and east of Lettershaws, a Crawfordjohn farm,
opposite but farther down the water than Bulmer-field, there
are a cluster of hills, each sending their burn to the Gonnar.
The Laggan-gill, Kirk-gill, and Glenchapel-burn run into the
Glengonnar, which, after keeping in motion the wooden mill
near the highway, gets lost in the Clyde.

Sitnate in the centre of southern Scotland, and so large in
extent, the parish of Crawford has been in all times traversed by
important lines of communication; by the Romans, as very fully
noticed in the pre-parochial history of the district, and afterwards
by roads leading from Moffat northwards; the latter laid out, it
may be, before wheel-carriages were much in use, the traffie of
the county being carried by the pack-horse—the road rough, the
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burden light, crossing & hill was a small matter, and it may have
been more easy than floundering through a morass; hence the
route of travel, as shown in Ross’ map for 1773, kept the high
level of the Clydesnap, situated to left of the Evan, and, crossing
the Clyde near foot of the Elvan, by a bridge, of angles sharp
enough and piers of unequal height, it held over the hill-route
known as the Hurleburn-road, above the ancient village of
Crawford, and descends to the vale of the Glengonnar, near
Abington, and where the parish of Crawfordjohn is entered.
Forty years ago, when locomotion became more a habit of
the people, a better highway was desired, and one from Car-
lisle, northward, was laid down by Telford, which traversed
Crawford nearly on the same level afterwards selected by the
Caledonian Railway for their route, and is crossed and recrossed
by the line between the summit near Clydesnap and Newton; the
road crossing the Clyde above that mansion shortening the dis-
tance and saving the awkward descent and angle at the old bridge
of Elvanfoot. The new inn at Crawford was a first-class one in
its day, enjoying not & little of the honeymoon patronage of the
young couples, who now journey by rail to Beattock. At Craw-
ford, the railway is carried across the Clyde, and, by cutting and
embankment, keeps the eastern baunk of the river until it reaches
Southwood, in Crawford parish—but, in the time-bills, given as
Abington, a village in the parish of Crawfordjohn. Besides the
roads referred to, another good turnpike diverged from the Car-
lisle route at Elvanfoot, and held westward for Dumfries by the
beautiful pass of Dalveen, and was opened in 1815-16, a coach
running that way. The turnpikes should even now be well kept,
seeing that four bars are placed within an area of one mile from
Newton. The road from Abington for Leadhills enters the
parish of Crawford above Lettershaw, has a toll-bar at Water-
.head, near where the hill-route turns off for Crawfordjohn, and
was, before the Dalveen route opened, the line of travel from
Clydesdale eastward, to Nithsdale and the south-west.

The hill features, the river courses, and the means of travel
in the district, having been fairly noticed, it remains now to
describe farms, homes, and habits of the people located in the
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district. Two farms in the parish are on the estate of the Duke
of Buccleuch (252), that of Kirkhope on the south-east and of
Campshead on the north-east. Kirkhope (777) is a led farm,
that is, rented by a non-resident farmer; it is of considerable
extent, requires 3} shepherds, keeps first-class black-faced sheep,
the best ling moss being on the hill-tops, and there is but little
grassy land on the farm.  The Survey index gives, LIIL D, No.
754, Kirkhope “homestead, garden, etc., 1'258;” and on the
locality, No. 750, reports “7873'122 as rough heathy pasture,
moss, rough pasture, road, slope, rocks, footpath, slate-quarry,
gravel-pit, shingle, old sand-pit, sheep-rees, sheep-fold, old mine
(lead), trees, house (Daerhead), garden, pool, Thick, Kirk-
hope, Evergreen and Ballencleughs—Kirstanegreen, Gana, Cars-
hope and Yardstill burns, and parts of Daer and Powtrail
waters.” The farm-steading of Kirkhope is at the junction of
the Crooked-burn and the Daer; and, Hope meaning a glen
through which there is no thoroughfare, and Kirk, church or ce]],.
the inference is that such may have been there; and ruins exist,
understood to have been those of a church, but no burial-place
is mear. In pre-protestant times, cells or chapels were placed
where population existed—the structure small and the priest
not hard to keep; and tradition of such locations exists in many
places in the Upper Ward of Lanarkshire. Near the base of
Queensberry, the Daer is got access to through a pass, green,
high, and well defined, and known in the district as the “Capel-
yetts”—i.e, chapel-gates. The sea-gull, in holding his way from
the frith of the Clyde to that of the Solway, wheels westward by
the Daer-head for Nithsdale. In Inquis. Speciales, “ Kirkhoip
et Quhytcamp” (Campshead) are, No. 102, Sept. 6, 1615, given
as belonging to Dominus Robertus Hamiltoun de Grinleys, milles,
A E, £13 6s 8d; N.E, £26 13s 84 Again, at No. 200,
Maii 20, 1640, “6 mercatis terrarum de Kirkoip et 14 mercatis
terrarum de Quhytcamp,” are rated as belonging to Jacobus,
Comes de Queensberie, A. E, 20 m.; N. E, 60 m.; and, in No.
309, Sept. 8, 1668, Jacobus, Marchis de Douglas, Comes An-
gusize, etc., has Whytecamp et Kirkhoipe enumerated as of his
estste. A E., t.e, auld extent, old valuation; N. E., new extent.
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£18 6s 84 Scots money, when abolished in 1707, was but one-
twelfth the value of sterling—£1 Scots being equivalent to
1s 8d sterling; and the mark was 13s 4d Scots. Kirkhoip
must have been less in extent than Kirkhope now is, as 6
mercatis terrarum are given it, and 14 to Whitecamp, the re-
lative rental value in 1859 being £280 and £425.

Campshead (813-252) has the Grains section of Normangill
on the north, and the Harecleugh division of Whelphill on the
south and west, with the water-shed of Peeblesshire to the east.
It is, like Kirkhope, a led farm, the present tenant residing on
one of greater value at the head of Glenfalloch, Perthshire; his
father before him was tenant, and the present respected chief
magistrate of Greenock was raised at Campshead The farm
seems one good to come from, as, four generations back, the
Macqueens, whose head sat on the Scotch bench as Lord Brax-
field, owned the tenant of Campshead as his grandfather. White-
camp, locally known as Campshead, and the more descriptive
of the two, is placed on the Ordnance Map as No. 258, Sheet
XLVIIL A, and ‘950 is given as extent of homestead, garden,
etc.; and at No. 409, Sheet XLVIL D., there reads an entry of
“15523-001 acres,” slumping “Fair, Hillshie, Blackshaw, White-
camp, Straightstep, Black and Fopperbeck-burns, part of Clydes,
March and Redshaw-burns, Upper Mosscleugh, and parts of
Camps and East-waters, as rough heathy pasture, rough pasture,
moss, slope, rocks, road, footpath, sheep-rees, sheep-folds, cairns,
quarries, shingle, ruins, trees, old gravel-pit, camp (remains of),
and cairn (remains of);”—verily, it must “grieve” the worthy
tenant to find his ancient holding so indistinctly described.
Campshead maintains black-faced sheep of fair quality, and
requires two shepherds. There is lime-stone on the farm, and
slate, it is to be presumed, at Slate-brae, but neither will re-
munerate the risk of working.

Troloss—Trailhous—the house on the trail, is a farm on the
south-west of the parish of Crawford; on the Ordnance map the
homestead, garden, etc., is No. 734, Sheet LIIL A, extent ‘320;
and at No. 730, there are 2416'257 acres described as “rough
heathy pasture, moss, road, sheep-folds, footpath, sheep-rees,
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rocks, slope, ruins, and Meikle-burn.” Again, at 725, for Troloss
cottage and pasture there appear 7-298 acres; the cottage is that
of a shepherd, the homestead was of old the mansion of the
Menzies family of Troloss, who were of sufficient importance in
the district to have for themselves a private burial-ground,
which has a few small trees upon it, and an obelisk—the top
broken down. The house of Troloss is of the last century, or
more early, and on the bleak hillside beyond the Powtrail, the
Dumfries road by the Dalveen pass, ranning on the north, and to
the south-west lies the Wellpath, a bridle-road now, but the track
of the Roman road from Nithsdale to Clydesdale. The Brothers
Wilson, from Douglasdale, are occupying proprietors of Troloss
(310), who farm, largely and prosperously, from Nether Dalveen,
i Durrisdeer, to Nunnerie, in Crawford parish; the house being
occupied in the season as shooting quarters. Troloss is a very
high farm, but the moss pastures upon it are of superior quality,
and maintain cheviot stock—shepherds, two.

There is a mineral spring, of virtue like those so thronged
to at Moffat, but it would need something more to attract
the ailing to seek renovation of strength in a district so wild as
Troloss appears to be; but, close at hand, just beyond the march
of the shire, lies the pass of Dalveen, which is of singular beauty
and easy access, and few drives, for a summer day, could be more
pleasant than that from Thornhill, in Nithsdale, to Elvanfoot, in
Clydesdale. Of the wild district whence spring the Daer and the
Powtrail, the natives relate that the storms used to be long and
severe; in one instance, that thirteen drifty snow-storm days
fell out, when neither sun, moon, nor stars were seen. At that
time much of the grass in Upper Annandale was taken by the
flock-masters in Crawford Moor.

The farm of Nunnerie (274-757), on south bank of the lower
Daer, appears in valuation roll for 1859 as owned by R. Ewart
of Ellershaw, the title taken from a section of this farm, which
is so extensive, that, prior to 185960, it was the largest in
rent in the parish. Nunnerie, so named, does not appear in
the Inquis. Speciales, but Southwoode et Cayman, sections of
the farm, are given at No. 7, Jan. 30, 1595, as being “infra

364459A

i
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dominum de Craufurd Douglas,” and belonging to “Joannes Car
michael de Medowflat.” Again, at No. 309, before referred to,
Ellershaw is noted as on the estate of “ Douglas, Comes Angusi-
an®.” The name Nunnerie is suggestive of a convent having
been there, but if so, no vestige rémains, neither is it easy
to suppose what nuns could be placed there for. A$
Eller or Aldershaw, there were remains of an old and strong
house, and something of the like sort near the present home-
stead of Nunnerie, but no tradition of occupation or incident
connects with either place. The trees on the Nunnerie home-
stead are of hard wood, old and fine, though few, and the in-
ference is, that it may have been long the place of residence of
some proprietor of influence in the district. In the index to
places supplied to the Ordnance map of the parish of Crawford,
Nunnerie, Sweetshaw (Nether and Upper), have the like desig-
nation, that of a “farm-steading;” no distinction appearing to be
made between what are mere shepherds’ cottages and the home-
stead of the leading farmer in the parish, and few houses are
there where the virtue of hospitality is more generously exercised.
Sweetshaw has been so named from the nutritious character
of the pasture found there, it being the best sheepland in the
parish, and the cheviot stock from Nunnerie stands high as
prize-takers in the district cattle-shows. There is said to be
stock enough on the farm to need the care of seven shepherds,
and thirty score are ordinarily assigned to each man, whose
cottage, if one is allowed him, is usually near the centre of
the pasturage. The section of Crawford parish, noticed at
page 79 of this volume as lying north of the Pitrenick,
Daer, Elwan, and Glengonnar, was early known as the Friars’
Moor, and has been long held by the Hopetoun family, who
have the lordship of the mines in the district.

Of the farms on this estate (253) of the Hopetouns, that of
Watermeetings and Smithwood, between the Daer and the Pow-
trail, is the most extensive, and is (769) held by one of the pro-
prietors of the conterminous estate of Troloss. The occupying
tenant spends but the good-weather season on this farm, having
been prosperously engaged in trade on the lower Tyne, and can
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show a piece of plate, large as the shield of Achilles, presented
to him by his “fellow-tradesmen,” as the modest Southrons term
it; in Crawford-moor he who may trudge through the district,
with his stock packed on his shoulders, calls himself a mer-
chant. The farm is described as pasture-land, with a very little
cropping; the meadow near the junction of the Daer and the
Powtrail is of considerable extent, and the stock is like that of
the adjoining farms of Nunnerie and Glenochar. Watermeetings
homestead, Sheet L. ¢, No. 644, appears to be 1915 acres in
extent, and the house is a warm one within.

The extensive farms of Glenochar (754) and Glengeith (796),
as also that of Crookedstane (752), are now held by non-resident
tenants, and, since 1859, the latter has been let to a stranger to
the district. The homestead of Glenochar is excellent, that of
Glengeith but a shepherd’s abode; the former stands between the
Clyde and the Dumfries road, the latter on the hillside above
Elvanfoot. At No. 568, “rough heathy pasture, road, slope, rocks,
quarry, ruin, sheep-folds, sheep-rees, and part of Glengeith-burn,”
are put down as 1107-870; the ruins may be those of huts. Glen-
geith is locally reported as the best quality for sheep-grazing in
the parish, each acre maintaining a cheviot of first quality; the
holm land on the Clyde, keeping sixty Highland cattle, and the
sheep tended by one man to the thousand On Glenochar the
cheviot stock is superior, the shepherds three, and the grazing-
land is excellent, the sheep fed there growing to a large bone. A
short way up the Glenochar there was one of the vaulted holdings,
nearly entire within the last generation; on the verge of the turn-
pike road, south, there appear to have been extensive slate-quarries,
abandoned about 1837, the stone being over-heavy for use.

The sheep-pasture farm, described on the valuation roll as one-
fourth of South Shortcleugh and North Shortcleugh (1137), is
held as a led farm by the tenant who also rents that of Lead-
burn, adjacent to it. South Shortcleugh, as its name appears
to indicate, is on the southern side of the Shortcleugh-water,
and of no great extent. Opposite to South Shortcleugh is
the farm of North Shortcleugh (1049), known locally by the

name of Hole, but why so, seems hard to divine, as the home-
0
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stead is placed well up the hill, above the road, and nothing
like a hole to be seen near it. When Forrest surveyed this
section of the county of Lanark, the belle of Crawford-moor
was the daughter of the tenant of the farm; she was generous
to the draughtsman, so much so, that frequent visits were
paid to the Shortcleugh-water, and the result was that scarce
a hillock thereabouts but is faithfully laid down in his map—
justly reputed a good ome. The tenant of the Hole died
lately, under circamstances so sad that it is chronicled in the
Upper Ward Almanae, published at Lanark, as an event of
the year. Thomas was near fourscore, intelligent, observant,
and well read; had spent nearly all his life in the district as
shepherd, then clerk to the farmer who at that time paid nearly
half the rental of the parish, afterwards he became, and has long
been, the occupying tenant of South Shortcleugh; was a well-
conducted and a steady man, but, trusting to his local know-
ledge of the hill track, he went homeward, from near Abington,
by the direct path, on the night of Saturday, was missed from
his pew on the Sabbath, asked after, the “country raised,” and
his body found, stark and cold, in a quarry near his own home,
into which the ‘worthy old farmer had stambled in the dark and
stormy night. He was full of information, willing to communi-
cate, and much that appears in these pages was drawn from poor
Gibson. Hole has 15 acres of meadow on the bank of the Short-
cleugh-water, but the hill pasture is not over-excellent.
Glencaple (805), the other farm in this parish on the Hope-
toun estate, lies on the north-east section of the Friars’ Moor,
having Glengonnar on the west, Hole on the south, and Kirkton
on the east. As seen from the turnpike road between Abington
and Leadhills, the homestead, nearly east of Lettershaws and
under Craig-dod, seems pleasantly situated on a level-like strip
of land, very considerably above the bed of the Glengonnar.
It is locally described as “a large extent of hard, black land—
rent considerable—black-faced sheep.” High as the farm appears
to lie, yet, in 1860, the tenant had upwards of eight acres under
crop with oats, near half that in turnips, and twice the extent
in meadow and grass respectively, and that was large compared
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with like farms in the parish. It was a privilege of the fenars

in Crawford village, conceded to them by the monks of New-
battle, their superiors, that they had “easement”—liberty to
hew in the woods of Glengonnar; there does not appear now
to be half-a-dozen trees there—a few excepted, around the farm
of Lettershaws, but on the north side of the Glengonnar-water,
and in the parish of Crawfordjohn.

Next in value to the Hopetoun, on the roll of 1858-9, appears
the estate of the MP. for Lanarkshire, the proprietor of the
Colebrooke estate (255); and who, although residing in the season
at Abington, in Crawfordjohn, is addressed as of Crawford
Nether Howcleugh and Bedholm (778), in the Evan district of
Crawford, is, as before noticed, on the east of the parish, and
near the “ultra sacra” farms of Harthope and Raecleugh.
Nether Howkly, as it is locally named, is of considerable extent,
maintains four shepherds, has cheviot stock of good quality, and
fair grazings, and the homestead shows well on the eastern side
of the vale of the Evan.

Crookedstane (752) comes next on estate 255; it is held as a
“led” farm, and remarkable for the advance of rent obtained for
it, as, on valuation 1858-9, it appears for £557 3s, and in 1860
it was let for £1050, and to a tenant who has prospered on the
farm he resides upon. The extent of meadow and grazing
land on the apper Clyde, which are enriched by the debris de-

posited by the Daer and. the Powtrail, gives the great value the
farm deserves. The sheep stock is cheviot, and on the holms
by the Clydes-burn and the Clyde a great number of Highland
cattle are fattened. Crookedstane farm lies west of the Clydes-
burn and the Evan, east of Nunnerie, and south of Glenochar.

The farms of Elvanfoot (894) and Stoneyburn (1050), now
held by the enterprising tenant of the farm of Castlemains,
come next in order on estate 255; they lie north of the
lower Elvan, and westward on the Clyde below Newton House,
are traversed by the railway, the Carlisle road, and the Dumfries
turnpike. The valley of the Elvan was of old farmed by seven-
teen tenants, now there are only four. Stoneyburn, in Forrest’s
map of 1815, has — Hamilton, Esq,, as its proprietor. At the
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division, in middle of last century, of the extensive common of
Crawford, some of these minor farms and lairdships were created.
The chief value of Stoneyburn appears to lie in the arable land
on the western banks of the Clyde. The hamlet of Elvanfoot,
being the meeting-place of the roads from Moffat, Dumfries,
and Leadhills, was, in coaching times, of some local importance
—horses being changed there, and entertainment found, in Scotch
phrase, for man and beast; the railway has now changed all
that, and the place has now little of the village character,
except that there is a side school, and recently the old inn has
been transformed into the comfortable home of the energetic
young clergyman, appointed, and not too soon, to assist and
succeed, the aged minister of the parish. '

Midlock farm (255-785), on the water of that name, is of
considerable extent, and in possession of a non-occupying tenant.
Since 1859, the farm has been relet to him at an advance of rent
similar to that of the other farms on the well-managed estate of
Sir T. E Colebrooke. Little grain being now grown in the dis-
trict, the mill once there has long ceased to work, although it
may have been useful in its time to the small farmers, as the
road by Glespin from Newton, the track of the old Roman way,
is still well defined, and, from its crossings at the water-courses,
must have been much used. Loch being apparently more topo-
graphic than lock, the natives allege that, in ancient times, this
was the central of three lochs; the upper being near the Elvan,
the lower below Duneaton, and at both places the bed of the
Clyde is contracted, rocky—broken water, as it is termed. When
the deep cutting between Stoneyburn and Elvanfoot was made
for the Caledonian Railway, the moss showed such deposits as
led to the inference that it had been at one time covered with
water. The ford as now used enters the Clyde above the
ruins of Crawford Castle, and the village street—vennel it is
called—is affirmed to have been the Roman way to the river.
Midlock is wholly a sheep farm, the stock cheviot, quality fair,
shepherds two, and meadow about 12 acres.

Northward of Midlock extends the farm of Castlemains (255—
764), with the Clyde on the west, the small farms of Murdoch-
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holm and Southwood on the north, and eastward lies Normangill
Situate so near to Castle Lindsay or Castle Crawford, in all local
history this holding has been of relative importance; and the
occupying tenant is one of the most experienced and energetic
of his class, breeding dairy cattle profitably for the continental
market, and being a frequent prize-taker both at the district
shows and the national exhibitions of stock—such is his repute
as an agriculturist; as a friend, he is fast, sure, and untiring in
his efforts to promote the interests or objects of those who look
to him for aid.  “Castle,” he is called at kirk and market—for
it is the custom of the country to call each other by the holdings
they tenant, names sometimes of awkward construction—Shallow-
head, for example, in an adjoining parish—but such soubriquet
could not apply to “Castle,” whose old home was near the
back of the ancient ruins, low in ceiling, two-storied, and
not over large, but recently replaced by a house, in the
parish, second only to that of Newton, having plate-glass win-
dows, etc. The dairy arrangements are superior, as are all the
byre and stable accommodation, proper on an improving farm.
About one-sixteenth part of the farm is arable, level on the
Camps, the Clyde, and the south-western slope of the hill,
quaintly named “ Ritchie’s Ferry,” but why so seems unknown,
as there are many ferries on the Clyde in the Upper Ward,
at places named Coblehaugh, ete. Milch cows are kept in
considerable number, the milk sent by railway to Edinburgh or
Glasgow, or converted into cheese—the lady recently come home
there being, if not a notable maker of cheese, of the name and
the family of those that are so.

The Castle of Crawford, of which a plate appears in this
volame, is noticed at page 81, and the ruins of the “square
court with much lodging in it,” are indexed in the Survey map
as, No. 111, extent ‘142; the plantation, road, moat, and slope
being, No. 112, given as 3-302; and they form together a pretty
feature in the outlook from the windows of Castlemains, lying a
stone-cast to the south and being prettily enclosed and well cared
for by the present proprietor. At the close of last century, part
of the “old lodging” was habitable, the old banquet-hall having
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been used for the dancing-school ball—the parochial assembly
of the natives; and it is said that, when then the Crawford-
Douglas estates were sold by the Earl of Selkirk to Sir George
Colebrooke, he sent down marbles to the castle, with the inten-
tion of rendering it again tenantable. Tradition makes this
castle the scene of one of the many gallant acts of the patriot
Wallace, but there exists no warrant in history for the tale.
As the site is commanded by higher ground on north and south,
it must have been selected before the power of gunpowder was
known; and, placed on a somewhat isolated and rising spot by
the brink of a river, often hard to cross, centuries ago it might
have been a good place, where the way might be barred should
the chieftain at the castle so will it.

Eastward of Castlemains lies the extensive farm of Norman-
gill (255-756), having the Wandell section of Lamington parish
on the north, the farm of Crimp-cramp and the Pecblesshire
border on the east, on the south is Campshead, Harecleugh,
Whelphill, and Midlock. The Camps-water, with its feeders,
run nearly their whole course in this farm, which is pastorsl
The land is described as hard and dry; the stock, two-thirds
cheviot, one-third black-faced, good and well looked to; the
arable land being small, but the intook or enclosed land is con-
siderable. Within the marches of Normangill are included
the ancient holdings of Blackhouse, Cowhill, and Grains, all of
which appear on the estate roll of the Lords of Crawford-
Douglas. Sholto has long been a family name in the house
of Douglas; if Norman stood in like favour with their prede-
cessors, the Lindsays of Crawford-moor, then some one so called
may have planted his spear in the pretty gill, or little vale, down
which the burn from Tewsgill flows. The tenants of Norman-
gill and Castlemains hold on their second tack of fourteen years;
they came there as very young men, rode together, bought
together, sold together, and proved excellent neighbours to each
other, although the one has faith in cattle shows and the other
ignores their value—showing that difference of opinion and
taste may even cement friendship. Normangill steading is not
a new one, but the walls of the homestead were strong, and the
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roof was raised high enough to allow of handsome rooms being
built under it; and well remembered are the visits which friends
are privileged to pay there. There are few shepherds’ houses in
the Upper Ward more sweetly placed than is the cottage of the
lucky “wight” at Cowhill; the shelter is good, the level between
the hillside and the Camps considerable, the house new, the
enclosed garden of fair extent, and under the overhanging eaves
—Swiss-cottage-like—all is so snug, so full, and so tidy within.
At Grains, head proper of the strath of the Camps, there is
another shepherd most comfortably located, and report says that
be could buy out some of the neighbouring farmers, as he holds
considerably in railway shares, investing in them no inconsider-
able amount, left by a brother who tended sheep in Australia.
Within the walls of Grains cottage there is included a school-
room well farnished with desks, maps, and globes, and attended
by the families at Cowhill, Crimp-cramp, and Campshead; the
young teacher having a fair salary, and boarding three months
alternately with each of the shepherds he is placed among.
Kirkton farm (255-965), is on the west bank of the Clyde,
north of Crawford village, south of Abington, and east of Glen-
caple. The homestead, which is placed within shadow of the row
of old fir-trees which rise outside the ancient burial-place of the
pearish, which is of considerable extent, somewhat square in form,
and has within its bounds the broad but soil-covered walls of
the ancient chapel placed in consecrated ground, and northward
may be traced a causeway, which is understood to have led to
the house occupied, in pre-protestant ages, by the priest of Craw-
ford. On Kirkton farm there may be sixteen acres under crop,
twice that extent of meadow, and grass and hill-pasture land
enough to need one shepherd; the stock is cheviot, and good.
On the valuation roll for 1858-9 there appear the farms of
Little Clyde, Whelphill, and Harecleugh, the latter two united,
and belonging to the trustees of the late Lord Archibald Doug-
las (248). Little Clyde (1126) the locality of which has been
before alluded to, lies south of Upper Howcleugh, east of the
Ring section of Crookedstane farm, south of Newton and-Hare-
cleugh, and west of the Peeblesshire boundary. Little Clyde
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appears in the Roll of Farms in the Inquis. Spec., 309, before
referred to, and the present homestead, by Ordnance measure-
ment of very considerable extent, is placed within what was a
Roman camp, and the site may have been good for defence, as
within memory of the neighbours, the trees which shade the
house windows to the west used to shelter an ancient peel or
tower, and from thence the view down the vale of the Evan,
up that of the Daer, or westward by the Bidhouse for Queens-
berry and Serjeant-law, would be good The farm of Little
Clyde is of moderate extent, and the family there are said to be
the only one in the parish who have been there for three genera-
tions; the larger store-masters, with low rents and war prices,
lived well, rode well, drank well, and spent so fast, that when
their leases run out they had to go elsewhere for farms. In
small farms a wife proves usunally a helpmate indeed, but of
the large store-masters, many are bachelors, who care more for the
sheep without, than to have a “ewe lamb of their own in their
fold;” and if the housekeepers of old were as careful and re-
spectable as are the “ Marys” and “ Katies” of the present day,
small wonder is it that, cared for so well, their masters should
love their gun and their rod, and feel independent of all else.
Harecleugh and Whelphill (243-770) have been let as one for
the present lease or tack, although held separately before, by
members of the same family. Whelphill is the homestead, and
a comfortable one, of the occupying tenant, and lies on the upper
half of Midloch Water, having the farm of Midloch on the west,
that of Newton on the south, of Normangill on the north, and
Campshead on the east; the Harecleugh steading lying west-
ward and up the Midloch, or the Harecleugh Burn, as it is called
there—the east and west waters being feeders of these streams.
Across the hill there is a bridle path from the Harecleugh to
Little Clyde, and on the summit of the bleak waste there is a
well-piled cairn erected, which is useful to mark the track when
snow lies heavy; and on a height near the cairn is a castle-like
erection, of no great height or extent, but built and strongly
wedged together with slate-like stones, no lime being used. As
to when the singular structure was formed, or for what purpose,
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no traditions exist, but the stones are held sacred—.e., no con-
siderations would tempt the tenant to disturb them. Harecleugh
and Whelphill appear on the Douglas Roll, Inquts. Spec., 309;
the former written Harmeclengh—a literal error it may have
been. Whelphill and Harecleugh maintain three shepherds; the
land is high and not over grassy; the stock is cheviot, and few
farmers are more able than the present tenant to look well to
them. Whelphill has some fine old trees about the house, and
a garden with flowers in it, as there are ladies to look to them.

Reference has been made before to Newton House, and it
will please the passenger by the Caledonian Railway to see
such a dwelling in a district so scarce of clear proofs of the
locality being a warm one—z.e., those used to it well liking it.
Newton may have been so named in contradistinction to the
old castle “with much lodging in it,”.there having been a
house of size and pretension at the former place for many gene-
rations; the late proprietor, a Lord of Session, built the present
mansion, which is of considerable extent, and the public rooms
on the south have a fine outlook.on the young Clyde. What is
rare in Crawfordmoor, the plantations around Newton are of con-
siderable extent, and within the grounds are some fine old trees,
and a large garden, well walled and well kept. The old house of
Newton stood above the steep bank of the Clyde, a little way to
the west of the present mansion, and when the latter was built,
the old coach road, from Elvanfoot, was diverted.

Newton farm (256—1037) lies east of the Clyde, is held by a
non-resident tenant, maintains cheviot sheep, raises lambs—half
Leicester, has nice smooth grass, and has one shepherd. Short-
cleugh, or Leadburn (256—848), has been before alluded to as a
“led farm” of considerable extent—maintains black-faced sheep
and three shepherds. Fingland (256-873) lies south-east of
Leadburn, below the Louthers, near the Powtrail; is a “led
farm,” and is reported to be fairish black land, the stock black-
faced sheep, and requiring two shepherds. The Inches (256), on
the Valuation Roll £22, refers to some fertile meadow land on
the Clyde; and Boghead (256-1213) is a small farm near to the
village of Crawford, occupied by a resident tenant; cows and

P .
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the plough maintain him. Bellfield (437), occupied by the pro-
prietor, lies east of the Carlisle road, and west of the Clyde, oats
and the dairy being its value; the extent is small, but placed in
the centre of large game preserves; the shooting is excellent at the
close of the season, when the “grouse come down to the stooks.”
Bellfield, in Forrest’s map, has Macqueen as the proprietor.
Crimp-cramp (259-863) lies in the north-east corner of Craw-
ford parish, and is held by the proprietor of Birthwood, on the
adjoining farm, at the head of Culter-water;.the stock is black-
faced sheep, of average quality, and requiring one shepherd.

Few of the old lairdships of Crawford now exist, but the
largest is still held by “a good fellow,” of whom there used to
be more in the district. To be called a village, Crawford is
irregularly scattered, the one-storied houses straggling along the
Carlisle road from the inn to Bellfield. The school-house, re-
cently erected by the railway, whose line ran through the old
one, is excellent in size and arrangement, and the present teacher
is an exemplar of intelligence and of hospitality; whether the
latter virtue be in odour at the.manse is doubtful, as the occu-
pants of such superior dwellings seem to have small affection for
“ chiels amang them takin’notes.” The kirk of Crawford has no
beauty without,-and not much elegance within; the stipend is
good, and improved by the interest of £600, paid by the Cale-
donian Railway for traversing the glebe.

The village of Leadhills, in the south-west of the parish of
Crawford, will, along with a valuable paper on the present and
future prospects of the mines, be found fully noticed at page 35,
Vol IIL of this Work. AM
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THE PARISH OF CRAWFORDJOHN

Ha:s, by Ordnance Survey, 26:251 land, 106 roads, 103 water,
—in all, 26400 acres statute are reported as its extent. From
the Hownick at the southern base of Cairntable on the north-
west, to the junction of Glengonnar with the Clyde on the south-
east, may be about 13 miles; and from the Sowen-Dod, 1784,
above Leadhills on the south, to the Middlemuir-Cairn, 980, on
the verge of Douglas parish, on the north, will be nearly eight
miles. Crawfordjohn has Wandel and Crawford on the east and
south, Sanquhar and Kirkconnell on the west, and Douglas and
Roberton on the north; and the parish, from west to east, is
traversed by the Duneaton, the chief tributary of the Upper
Clyde. Cairntable (4), 1942, is just beyond the march of the
yparish, and Panbreck-hill, 1771, lies one and a-half miles south,
the Hownick, or hollow gap between them, being the march
before referred to; two miles south is Mountstuart. To the north-
east rises Cairn-Kinney, 1616, and is conspicuous from the
Wiston border; Roughflow-moss, 1216, is west of Whitecleugh;
Common-hill (7), 1370, rises above Glespin, 875 ; Cairnhill, 1261,
above Birkcleugh; the Windy-Dod, 1391, east of Nether White-
clengh; Snarhead, 1643, in the south; Snar-law, 1346; Glen-
dorch-hill, 1336; Rake-law, 1620; Glendouran-hill, 1543; Drake-
law, 1584; Black-hill, 1343; the Beam, 1260; and Mountherrick-
hill, 1400, show a range of hills of considerable elevation, but
much below those that rise to west, south, and east of Crawford.
The Duneaton and the Douglas waters appear to rise from the
slopes of Cairntable; the feeder-burns which flow into the Dun-
eaton are numerous, as are the hills which rise there, chiefly to
the south-west, the Laird’s-burn, coming down from the Three
Shire Stone-hill—i.e., on the march of Dumfriesshire, Ayrshire,
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and Lanarkshire. From near Cairntable to the Sheriffcleugh, the
Duneaton forms the boundary on the north between the parishes
of Douglas and Crawfordjohn. The Snar-water (42-25) flows
southward from the Sowen-Dod to the Duneaton, at Easter-
town; and north is the Black-burn (43-1), which falls in
above Gilkerscleugh; besides these, the streamlets are many,
every gill, small strath, sending down its burn. The Cale-
donian Railway has its station at Abington, just across the
Clyde, but in the parish of Crawford, so that the parish of
Crawfordjohn gets nothing for its poor rates from that source,
and the good folks grudge it, seeing that Crawford draws nearly
five times the amount of aid their heritors were used to pay for
their paupers. The highway from Carlisle to Glasgow enters
the parish of Crawfordjohn at Glengonnar-foot, and leaves it
near Wildshaw, in Douglas parish; and, just north of Abington,
the great road for Stirling forks off, and the road from Lead-
hills by Biggar for Edinburgh.

In noticing the roads in Crawford parish, reference has been
made to that leading up Glengonnar for Sanquhar—a toll or
turnpike road, as it is called. The parish roads are upwards of
40 miles in extent; and, the main line from Abington to a little
west of the village of Crawfordjohn excepted, they are but indif-
ferently maintained, hilly enough, and narrow. The valuation
roll 1858-9 gives £9753 for Crawford, exclusive of the mines,
and £7326 4s 2d for Crawfordjohn, so that the land rental,
allowing for the difference in extent, is comparatively greater.
In 1859, it was calculated that there were in the parish 6000
cheviot, and 5500 black-faced sheep; shepherds, 25; cows, 538;
queys, 212; calves, 162; servants, 135; and horses, 102. The
proprietors in 1858-9 appear for 3441l, 1832L, 342L, 160L,
2851, 3951, 2401, 131l, 1251, 80L, 24l 10s, and under, the
“led farms” being few. In the valuation roll, 1858-9, the
rentals were, sinking fractions,—412L, 3951, 300L, 292, 2751,
2751, 2641, 2321, 231., 2301, 215l, 210L, 199l, 181L, 184L,
1801, 1761, 1661, 160L, 160L., 150, 145L, 140L, 1311, 130L,
100L, 100L, 801, 75L., 701, 60L, etc.

A M
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NAME.

This is very singular. There is no other parish, or even
village, in Scotland which is designated by a family and Christian
pame, joined together in the unusual and apparently awkward
construction which places the former before the latter. This
peculiarity, however, appears to be accounted for by the circum-

stances attending the foundation of the church and the creation
of the barony.

HISTORY.

Ecclesiastical A ffairs.—There is preserved in the chartulary
of Kelso (270, 336), a deed by which Wice or Wicius, the
lord of the manor of Wiston, conveyed to that abbey the church
of his town of Wyston, with its two dependent chapels, namely,
that of the town of Robert, the brother of Lambin, and that of
the town of John, the stepson of Baldwin. The latter was, with-
out doubt, the church of the village of Crawfordjohn. Chalmers,
and the learned editor of the Origines Parochiales, assume that
the Baldwin here mentioned was identical with Baldwin of
Biggar, Sheriff of Lanarkshire, who is a witness to this and
many other charters of the same period, and that his stepson
John was the same as John de Crawford, who, undoubtedly,
possessed lands in Crawfordjohn parish, and attests the charter
of Abbot Arnold of Kelso, by whic